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All references to us, we, our, the Compangt Kratos refer to Kratos Defense & Security Sohg, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, and its
subsidiaries.

PART I

ltem 1. Business

This Annual Report (including the sectiegarding Management's Discussion and Analysisrdrigial Condition and Results of
Operations) contains forward-looking statementsuraigng our business, financial condition, resuftsferations and prospects. Words such as
"expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "lesles," "seeks," "estimates" and similar expressionariations of such words are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, but are no¢mhed to represent an all-inclusive means of idgntifforwardiooking statements as denac

in this Annual Report. Additionally, statements ceming future matters are forward-looking statetsen

Although forward-looking statements in dumual Report reflect our good faith judgment, satdtements can only be based on facts anc
factors currently known by us. Consequently, fovixoking statements are inherently subject tosriskd uncertainties and actual results and
outcomes may differ materially from the results antcomes discussed in or anticipated by the fa@oking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences in resultsoutcomes include, without limitation, thosecifieally addressed in Item 1A—"Risk
Factors" below, as well as those discussed els@whéhis Annual Report. Readers are urged notaoepundue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the datair Annual Report. We undertake no obligatiomavise or update any forward-looking
statements in order to reflect any event or cirdamse that may arise after the date of this AnRegdort. Readers are urged to carefully review
and consider the various disclosures made throughetentirety of this Annual Report, which attertgpadvise interested parties of the risks
and factors that may affect our business, finaraalition, results of operations and prospects.

We were incorporated in the state of Newkyan December 19, 1994 and began operations iciMBE95. We reincorporated in the state
of Delaware in 1998. On September 12, 2007, wegddour name from Wireless Facilities, Inc. to ksabDefense & Security Solutions, Inc.

Overview

We are an innovative provider of missioitical engineering, IT services and warfighter sioins. We work primarily for the U.S.
government and government agencies, but we al§orpework for state and local agencies and comraéotistomers. Our principle services
are related to, but are not limited to, Commandt@, Communications, Computing, Combat Systenalligence, Surveillance and
Reconnaissance (C5ISR), weapons systems lifecypleost and extension, military weapon range openatand technical services, missile
rocket and weapons system test and evaluationjaniksunch services, public safety, security andeillance systems, advanced network
engineering and information technology servicesaaded IT services, security and surveillance systend critical infrastructure design and
integration services. We offer our customers sohgiand expertise to support their mission-critiegdtds by leveraging our skills across our
core service areas.

We derive a substantial portion of our revefrom contracts performed for federal governnagmncies, with the majority of our revenue
currently generated from the delivery of missioitical warfighter solutions, advanced engineeriagvies, system integration and system
sustainment services to defense and other non-Depgrtment of Defense) and civilian government agen We believe our diversified and
stable client base, strong client relationshipsabrarray of contracts, considerable employee passessing government security clearances,
extensive list of past performance qualificaticarsg significant management and operational capielilposition us for continued growth.
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Prior to 2007 we were an independent praval outsourced engineering and network deployreentices, security systems engineering
and integration services and other technical sesvior the wireless communications industry, th8.lgovernment and enterprise customers. In
2006 and 2007, we undertook a transformation gfyatéhereby we divested our commercial wirelessteeldusinesses and chose to pursue
business with the federal government, primarilyth8. Department of Defense, through strategic ia@tgpns. On September 12, 2007, we
changed our name from Wireless Facilities, Inc. )JN& Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. &os). Our new name reflects our revi
focus as a defense contractor and security systeegrator for the federal government, for statd kxcal agencies, and certain commercial
customers. In connection with our name change,haaged our NASDAQ Global Market trading symbol K3'OS".

Current Reporting Segments

Prior to the divestiture of our wirelessated business, we had three operating segment$Viveless Network Services (WNS) segment,
our Enterprise Network Services (ENS) segment,amdsovernment Network Services (GNS) segmentokatig the divestiture of the WNS
segment and corporate name change, we reorgamizethio operating segments, Kratos Government Bolsif KGS) (formerly GNS) and
Public Safety and Security (PSS) (formerly ENS)e Tihancial statements in this Annual Report aesented in a manner consistent with our
new operating structure. For additional informatiegarding our operating segments, see Note 1bhtdédNo Consolidated Financial
Statements. From a customer and solutions perspeute view our business as an integrated wholerdging skills and assets where ever
possible.

Kratos Government Solutions (KGS) Segment

The Kratos Government Solutions segmentiges engineering, information technology and técdirservices to federal, state, and local
government agencies, but primarily the U.S. Depantnof Defense (DoD). Our work includes weaponeayst lifecycle support and extension;
command, control, communications, computing, corspatems, intelligence, surveillance and reconaaiss (C5ISR); military range
operations and technical services; missile, rockad, weapons systems test and evaluation; missiorth services; public safety and security
services; and advanced network engineering andnireftion technology services; public safety, seguaitd surveillance systems integration.
Our KGS segment also focuses on the homeland seowairket with products and services aimed at stppfirst responders.

Public Safety and Security (PSS) Segment

The Kratos Public Safety and Security segrpeovides system design, deployment, integratioonitoring and support services for pu
safety, security and surveillance networks forestaid local governments and commercial custometdidsafety and security networks have
been traditionally segregated into systems suctoige, data, access control, video surveillangaptrature control and fire and life safety. We
provide services that combine such systems and iotiegrated solutions on an Ethernet-based platfo¥e also offer solutions that combine
voice, data, electronic security and building awtion systems with fixed or wireless connectivityusions. Our target markets are retail,
healthcare, education, sports and entertainmentjaipal government, correctional facilities andeatipublic facilities. Our commitments to
these markets and our ability to provide featuchsrcosteffective solutions have allowed us to become drthenlarger independent integrat
for these types of systems. We maintain regiorfadefocations, comprised of Kratos Mid Atlanticratos Southeast, and Kratos Southwest,
where we are focused on security, surveillanceadher building automation and integration services.
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Sale and Discontinuance of Significant Subsidiari

In December 2005, our Board made the d&tis exit our Mexican operations and certain afather deployment businesses in South
America. On February 17, 2006, we entered into guitlf Purchase Agreement for the sale of all of¢toek of our wholly owned subsidiaries
(i) WFI de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V., (ii) WFI déexico, Servicios de Adminstracion, S. de R.L. d¥.C(iii) WFI de Mexico, Servicios de
Ingenieria, S. de R.L. de C.V., (iv) WFI ServicesMexico S.A. de C.V., (v) WFI Asesoria en Admission, S.C; and (vi) WFI Asesoria en
Telecomunicaciones, S.C. (the "Mexico Operatiots'$akoki LLC. The transaction closed on March2@m6 for total consideration of
approximately $18.9 million, with $1.5 million irash and the balance by a secured promissory netef Becember 31, 2006, we had rece
all installment payments due under the promissotg.nThe impact of the divestiture is reflectedun consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2006. There was no gain or loss ezhtin the sale because the business was soldhat itarrying value.

On March 9, 2007, we completed the saleunfEurope, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) operatidn LCC Wireless Engineering
Services Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of L@@ernational, Inc. ("LCC") in a cash for stockrtsaction valued at $4 million. The sale of
EMEA generated a gain of $3.3 million which wasorgled in the first quarter of 2007. In the fourtlager of 2007, we recorded a reserve of
$0.7 million related to the remaining holdback amicdue to our assessment of LCC's available ligyidi

On April 20, 2007, we completed the salalbdbf the issued and outstanding equity interesur wholly owned subsidiary WFI de
Brazil Techlogia en Telecomunicaciones LTDA, toaBtgic Project Services, LLC ("SPS"). The consitienancluded the assumption of
substantially all outstanding liabilities of WFI&ail, nominal cash consideration, and additionah-@at consideration based on 25% of net
receivables collected subsequent to the closing dfdée recorded an impairment charge in the foundrtgr of 2006 of approximately
$5.2 million to reduce the current carrying valdéh® South American operations to their estiméaédvalue.

On June 4, 2007, we completed the saleX@ International, Inc. ("LCC") of the assets usethie operation of our wireless engineering
services portion of the Wireless Network Servicegnsent that provided engineering services to tmegavernment wireless communications
industry in the United States. The aggregate cenafibn paid by LCC in connection with the acqinsitwas $46 million. Pursuant to the tel
of the Acquisition Agreement, LCC delivered a swoated promissory note for the principal amoun$2f.6 million, paid $17 million at the
closing and paid final working capital adjustmeoit$2.4 million through an addition to the subostied promissory note, and we retained an
estimated $5 million in net working capital.

On July 5, 2007, we sold the $21.6 millsubordinated promissory note taken in the salesgéta to LCC in exchange for approximately
$19.6 million in net cash proceeds, reflectingscdunt from par value of less than five percentaggregate transaction fees of approximately
$1 million. The note was acquired by a fund affééwith Silver Point Capital, L.P. On January 3008, we received net proceeds of
approximately $2.3 million on the working capitajastment from Silverpoint. We did not provide agwaranty for LCC's payment obligations
for the note.

On July 24, 2007, we completed the sakntaffiliate of Platinum Equity of our wireless di@gment services portion of the Wireless
Network Services segment and the Wireless Fagilitiede and corporate names. The total considarfitiche acquisition was $24 millic
including $18 million in cash at closing, subjeztypical post-closing working capital adjustmeriisgd an aggregate $6 million in a three-year
earn-out arrangement. We provided certain tramsg&rvices to Platinum Equity for a period of nmenths pursuant to a Transition Services
Agreement. Under an employee leasing arrangemehtRiatinum Equity, we serviced the payroll for theployment business employees until
October 1, 2007. On September 25, 2007, in accosdaiith the acquisition agreement, we providedveonking capital calculation to Platint
Equity. However, we have not




been able to come to an agreement with Platinunitfzqn the amount of the working capital adjustméhirsuant to the terms of the
agreement, both parties are in the process of agpasfirm to resolve this issue. As of DecemberZ107, the balance of our calculation has
been reflected in other current liabilities.

As a result of the above divestitures,Wieeless Network Services segment has been cledsif a discontinued operation.
Acquisitions

On October 2, 2006 we acquired Huntsvlllebama based Madison Research Corporation ("MR&"$69 million in cash. MRC offers
broad range of technical, engineering and IT soh#j and has developed core competencies in weapstesn lifecycle support, integrated
logistics, test and evaluation, commercial-off-ghelf software and hardware selection and impleatiemt, software development and systems
lifecycle maintenance.

On December 31, 2007 we acquired Haverg€imhsulting, Inc. ("Haverstick") for approximate$0.2 million in aggregate total merger
consideration including Kratos transaction cost$@®b million, of which $66.7 million was paid iagh at closing and approximately
$19.4 million was paid with unregistered shareKiatos stock. Of the consideration, $2.4 millionsieash paid shortly thereafter,
approximately $1.2 million in cash and $7.4 milliohthe Kratos stock is being retained as an indgnimoldback. In addition to the indemnity
holdback, the Agreement also calls for a post nlpsiorking capital adjustment. Haverstick providesket and missile test and evaluation,
weapons systems support, and professional sendidee U.S. Army, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy, NAS#nd other federal, state and local
agencies. Through the Haverstick acquisition, weaeded our customer footprint within the DoD, antianced our presence with the U.S.
Force, a key growth area for Haverstick.

On February 29, 2008 we provided the wagldapital calculation to Haverstick, which indichge working capital adjustment was due to
us primarily because the working capital, as cal@d per the Agreement, was below the target amélaverstick has reviewed our working
capital calculation and is in disagreement. Thesponse proposes that there is actually excessngazhpital of approximately $1.5 million.
accordance with the Agreement, we have fifteen @fays the date of Haverstick's objection to resdhe disagreement. If resolution has not
been achieved within the fifteen day period, we Hasterstick have five days to agree on a nationaktypgnized independent accounting firm
to resolve the disagreement.

In February 2008 we entered into a defiritinerger agreement with San Diego-based C5ISRandentric warfare solutions provider
SYS Technologies in a stock-for-stock transactidmder the terms of the agreement, SYS will mergé and into a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Kratos and all of SYS's outstanding common shaniél be converted into Kratos common shares. Ugloging, we will issue approximately
25 million shares of our common stock. The trarieads subject to customary closing conditionsjuding approval of the transaction by
SYS's shareholders and the approval of Kratos btidkrs for Kratos' issuance of shares. The trdiosais expected to close in the second
quarter of 2008.

Industry Background
U.S. Department of Defense Drives Strategic Prim# for the Company

The delivery and execution of our missioiti@al engineering and support services are drivgthe priorities of the U.S. Federal
government. The strategic priorities of the DoD laaged in large part on the Quadrennial DefenséeRethe first conducted in an era of
global terrorism, which continues the shift in erapis by identifying key strategic priorities. Thegs®rities are currently
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focused on mission critical capabilities of the UaBined forces and providing the support infrastmecnecessary to sustain these forces in a
time of heightened warfare readiness and deployment

The 2008 Fiscal Year DoD Budget reque$t1.4 billion, an increase of $42.1 billion ovésdal Year 2007. The total budgetary
increase of approximately 9.6% represents a sarifiopportunity to key federal government contrescin support of the DoD's war fighter,
information technology, and other operational pties. The fiscal DoD budget request for 2008 idelsi a request for supplemental funding of
$141.7 billion to fight the Global War on Terror.e/elieve there will be significant market oppoities for providers of system sustainment,
IT and engineering services and solutions to fddgraernment agencies over the next several yparicularly those in the defense and
homeland security communities.

Focus on Federal Government Transformation

The federal government, and the DoD inipaldr, is in the midst of a significant transforioa that is driven by the federal government's
need to address the changing nature of globaltdrassignificant aspect of this transformationhie use of Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Combat Systems, In&fiag, Surveillance and Reconnaissance (C5ISR)némhation technology to increase
the federal government's effectiveness and effigiemhe result is increased federal governmentdipgron information technology to upgre
networks and transform the federal government fseparate, isolated organizations into larger, prige level, network-centric organizations
capable of sharing information broadly and quickihile the transformation initiative is driven byetneed to prepare for new world threats,
adopting these IT transformation initiatives wik@improve efficiency and reduce infrastructurstsacross all federal government agencies.

An additional aspect of the military tramshation includes significantly enhancing militagadiness in areas such as missile defense,
weapons system sustainment and extension, and/énallostrengthening of intelligence and seculfityr example, the objective of the DoD as
it relates to missile defense is to continue toetimy, test, and field missile defense systemsdtept America, its allies and deployed forces.

Competitive Strengths

We believe we are well positioned to meetrapidly evolving needs of federal governmennages for high-end engineering services,IT
solutions and other technical operations becausgossess the following key business strengths arfdimnance qualifications:

Significant and Highly Specialized Experience

Through the existing customer engagemardsaath the government focused acquisitions we t@repleted over the past several years,
we have amassed significant and highly speciakzgerience in areas directly related to weaporesaydife cycle extension and sustainment;
missile, rocket and weapons test and evaluatiotsR5military range operations and technical sexsiand other highly differentiated services
and solutions. This collective experience, or 'p@sformance qualifications," is a requirementtmmajority of contract vehicles and customer
engagements we are involved in. We believe, tresqts a significant barrier to entry and positiesigor long-term success.

In-Depth Understanding of Client Missions

We have a history of providing mission-icat services and solutions to our clients, enaplia to develop an in-depth understanding of
their missions and technical needs. In additicsigaificant number of our employees are locatediant sites, giving us valuable strategic
insights into clients' ongoing and future prograguirements. Our in-depth understanding of ountheissions, in
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conjunction with the strategic location of our enymes, enables us to offer technical solutionsrzil to our clients' specific requirements and
consistent with their evolving mission objectives.

Diverse Base of Key Contract Vehicles

As a result of our business developmenigam securing key contracts, we are a preferrattactor on numerous multi-year government-
wide acquisition contracts and multiple award cactts that provide us with the opportunity to bidramdreds of millions of dollars of busine
against a discrete number of other pre-qualifiadganies each year. These contracts include Seep@i$A, Passive RFID EPC-1, PES, IT,
LOG World, Mobis Millennia Lite, AMCOM Express, Csalidated Acquisition of Professional Services (G)FSupport Services for
Aviation, Air Defense and Missile Systems, Systéingineering and Technical Assistance Contract,Spetialized Engineering,

Development and Test Articles/Models. While thesfied government is not obligated to make any awandier these vehicles, we believe that
holding preferred positions on these contract yekiprovides us an advantage as we seek to exparneviel of services we provide to our
clients.

Strategic Geographic Locations and BRAC

The federal government's Base RealignmeditGlosure (BRAC) Act of 2005 is the congressionalithorized process the Department of
Defense has implemented to reorganize its basetsteuto more efficiently and effectively supportSJarmed forces, increase operational
readiness and facilitate new ways of doing busingss result of the DoD's BRAC transformation, lmee’e concentrated our business strategy
on building a significant presence in key BRAC ieitey locations where the federal government iscating its personnel as well as related
technical and professional services. As we continwentrench in these key locations, we expecttthixe a significant competitive advantage.

Highly Skilled Employees and an Experienced Managemh Team

We deliver our services through a highlijis#t workforce of approximately 1,500 full-timeag-time and on-call employees in our on-
going business. Our senior managers have over d2% wf collective experience with federal governtagencies, the U.S. military, and
federal government contractors. Members of our mameent team have experience growing businessesioafig, as well as through
acquisitions.

The cumulative experience and differentlagpertise of our personnel in our core focussaoéa5ISR, weapons systems lifecycle
extension and maintenance, missile and rockeatesevaluation, along with our sizable employeeshvaith government security clearances,
allow us to qualify for and bid on larger projeighe prime contracting role.

Services and Solutions

We provide a range of integrated enginggnivar fighter, security and information technolagyrvices and solutions by leveraging our
core service offerings: weapons systems lifecyafgpsrt and extension; C5ISR; military range operetiand technical services; missile and
rocket test and evaluation; security systems iatémn; and advanced network engineering; and IVises.

Weapon Systems Lifecycle Support and Extension

We provide weapons systems life cycle supguad extension services for the DoD and foreigmegnments. These services focus on
maintaining, testing and repairing certain weamystems for the war fighter.

C5ISR (Command, Control, Communications, Compu@ugnbat Systems, Intelligence, Surveillance andReissance)

In the area of C5ISR, Kratos is involvediiwide range of services, including installatiopgrade and maintenance of command, control,
combat and surveillance systems for customers asidoint Inter Agency Task Force-south and the Namdersea Warfare Center (NUWC).
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Missile Range Operations and Technical Serv

A key area of differentiation for us is kit the range and technical service areas we dfferhave resources stationed at many major
range locations throughout the United States, dioyNAWC Pt. Mugu, Hawaii Pacific Missile RangeyrEBliss, Texas, and White Sands
Missile Range, New Mexico. Our services includeaddargets operations and maintenance, surfaget&operations and maintenance, mit
systems operations and maintenance, range opeyai@nning and support, hazardous materials managesupply and logistics support, and
manufacturing.

Missile and Rocket Test and Evaluat

Through the acquisition of Haverstick Cdtieg, Inc., we acquired expertise in the area ofsite and rocket test and evaluation services.
This includes exclusive rights to the design andufiacture of the motor on the Oriole Rocket Sysée ancillary hardware for sounding
rockets, suborbital research and target servicdditiénally, this area of our business develops @mdiuces low-cost ballistic missile defense
targets.

Security Systems Integration

We have broad experience integrating sgcservices and solutions across a number of nétaod communications platforms. In
particular, our non-federal business has long-stanexperience and has developed significant custaetationships by providing best-atass
systems integration services on a variety of ptatfincluding digital (IP) surveillance and secyrtiuilding automation systems and controls,
fire and life safety systems, access control amiigger protection, and service and maintenan¢heofforementioned systems.

We have comprehensive experience providirgineering services at any phase of a projeayiifie including program management,
engineering design, system engineering, C5| SyH#0, operations and maintenance, integrated tetemanications, and warfare systems
training.

We also offer a range of IT services andtsms from conceptual network planning to systemvice and maintenance. We have extel
experience building complex and secure networksheifederal government, and we possess in-deidriexce with network operations
centers. Our services include network operationsees, help desks, system maintenance, systemdggyreonfiguration management, data
warehousing, COTS selection and integration, agh performance computing.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to aggressively grow owibess as a leading provider of highly-differemtibservices in our core areas of focus as noted
above by delivering comprehensive, high-end engingeservices, technical solutions and informatechnology solutions to federal
government agencies while improving our profitahiliTo achieve our objective, we intend to:

Accelerate Internal Growth

We are focused on accelerating our integnalvth rate by capitalizing on our current contda@&se, expanding services provided to our
existing clients, expanding our client base anéraffy new, complementary services.

Capitalize on Current Contract Base. We are aggressively pursuing task orders uexisting contract vehicles to maximize our revenue
and strengthen our client relationships, thougheti®no assurance that the federal governmentweike awards up to the ceiling amounts or
that we will be awarded any task orders under thebéles. We have developed several internal thaisfacilitate our ability to track,
prioritize and win task orders under these vehigiEsnbining these tools with our
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technical expertise, our strong past performancerdeand our knowledge of our clients' needs, shpakition us to win additional task orders.

Expand Services Provided to Existing Cient We are focused on expanding the services wéd®do our current clients by leveraging
our strong relationships, technical capabilitied past performance record, and by offering a widage of solutions as we continue to acquire
companies with new areas of specialization. Weekielour understanding of client missions, proceasdseeds, in conjunction with our full
lifecycle IT offerings, positions us to capture nesrk from existing clients as the federal governtmeontinues to increase the volume of IT
services contracted to professional services pesgicMoreover, we believe our strong past perfosaaecord positions us to expand the level
of services we provide to our clients as the feldgoaernment places greater emphasis on past peafare as a criterion for awarding contre

Expand Client Base. We are also focused on expanding our clier br@te areas with significant growth opportunitissleveraging our
industry reputation, long-term client relationshgrsl diverse contract base. We anticipate thaettpainsion will enable us both to pursue
additional higher value work and to further divrsiur revenue base across the federal governr@emtlong-term relationships with federal
government agencies, together with our GovernmedeWcquisition Contract vehicles, give us oppoities to win contracts with new clier
within these agencies.

Improve Operating Margins. We believe that we have significant opport@sitio increase our operating margins and improve
profitability by capitalizing on our corporate iaftructure investments and internally developetst@md concentrating on high value-added
prime contracts.

Capitalize on Corporate Infrastructure Istments. In recent periods, we have made significanéstments in our senior management
and corporate infrastructure in anticipation ofifetrevenue growth. These investments includeddsenior executives with significant
experience with federal IT services companiesngtiening our internal controls over financial reppg and accounting staff in support of
public company reporting requirements and expandingSensitive Compartmented Information Faciliaes other corporate facilities. We
believe our management experience and corporassstnficture are more typical of a company with @imlarger revenue base than ours. We
therefore anticipate that, to the extent our reeegnows, we will be able to leverage this infrastime base and increase our operating margins.

Concentrate on High Value-Added Prime Cacts. We expect to improve our operating margins astsive to increase the percentage
of revenue we derive from our work as a prime awttor and from engagements where contracts aredladi@n a best value, rather than on a
low cost, basis. The federal government's move tdywarformancdsased contract awards to realize greater retuits dnvestment has resulf
in a shift to greater utilization of best value agg We believe this shift will enable us to expand operating margins as we are awarded 1
contracts of this nature.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions

We intend to supplement our organic grolthdentifying, acquiring and integrating businestgat meet our primary objective of
providing us with enhanced capabilities in ordeptiosue a broader cross section of the DoD, DHSo#mel government markets, complement
and broaden our existing client base and expangrmary service offerings. Our senior managemeairt brings significant acquisition
experience.

As previously described in "Acquisitiongiawve, on December 31, 2007 we completed the atignisif Haverstick Consulting, Inc., an
Indianapolis, Indiana based privatdlgid provider of rocket and missile test and eviddna weapons systems support, and professionéces
to the U.S. Army, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy, NAS#nd other federal, state and local agencies. litiaddon February 20, 2008 we entered
into a definitive merger agreement with San Diegsdadl C5ISR and
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net-centric warfare solutions provider SYS Techg@e (AMEX:SYS) in a stock-for-stock transactione\&fre currently evaluating other
potential acquisition targets. We anticipate thatwill need to obtain additional financing throute sale of equity or debt securities to fund
any such acquisitions.

Customers

A representative list of our customersum KGS segment during 2007 included the U.S. AicépU.S. Army, U.S. Navy, Missile
Defense Agency, the Department of Homeland SecWNifSA, FMS and the U.S. Southern Command. In &® Begment, our customers in
2007 included General Electric, Atlanta's Hartsfi@ackson Airport, Lockheed Martin, the City of itan, Texas, and the Toyota Center.

The following table presents our custonies whom we receive more than 10% of our revenue:

% of Total

Key Customer Revenue Revenue
2005

U.S. Navy $ 33.€ 22%
2006

U.S. Navy $ 34.2 22%
2007

U.S. Army $ 46.7 24%

U.S. Navy $ 38.7 20%

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, including the esgpés from the Haverstick Consulting acquisitior,employed approximately 1,500 full-
time, part-time and on-call employees. We haveamtiective bargaining unit of approximately 22 eoys#es which is represented by the
International Association of Machinists & Aerospatlerkers, AFL-CIO, White Sands Local Lodge 2515ambgordo, New Mexico.

Competition

Our market is competitive, and includesftiierange of federal and non-federal engineednd IT service providers. Many of the
companies that we compete against have significgnéater financial, technical and marketing resesy and generate greater revenues than
we do. Competition in the federal business segimehides tier one, large federal government cotdracsuch as Northrop Grumman, SAIC,
ITT Industries, Inc., Computer Sciences Corporat®RINC, Raytheon Corporation, BAE, and CACI. While view government contractors
as competitors, we often team with these companigsnt proposals or in the delivery of our seesdor customers. Tier two competitors
include smaller and mid-tier government contracsush as NCI, Inc., Stanley, Inc., and Dynamicse@esh Corp. Competition in the PSS
segment includes Siemens Building Technology, Jami@ontrols, Ingersoll Rand and Convergent.

We believe that the principal competitiaetbrs in our ability to win new business includ@stpperformance, qualifications, domain and
technology expertise, the ability to replace carttkeehicles, the ability to deliver results withindget (time and cost), reputation,
accountability, staffing flexibility including thiarge number of personnel with government secuetégrances, and project management
expertise. We believe our ability to compete algpahds on a number of additional factors includivegability of our customers to perform the
services themselves, and competitive pricing fonilar services.
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Available Information

We file reports with the SEC. We make afali on our website under "Investor Relations/SHiGds," free of charge, our annual reports
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, carreports on Form 8-K and amendments to thosertepe soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such materials withfornish them to the SEC. Our website addressnsy.kratosdefense.conyYou can also read
and copy any materials we file with the SEC at$'s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NEhiligton, DC 20549. You can obtain
additional information about the operation of théole Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-80@-$B30. In addition, the SEC maintains
an Internet site \www.sec.goy that contains reports, proxy and informationestants, and other information regarding issuertsfiflea
electronically with the SEC, including us.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the followirigk factors and all other information containentdin as well as the information included in
this Annual Report, and other reports and filingedewith the SEC in evaluating our business andpats. Risks and uncertainties, in
addition to those we describe below, that are neggntly known to us or that we currently beliekeienmaterial may also impair our business
operations. If any of the following risks occur rdusiness and financial results could be harmeldtaa price of our common stock could
decline. You should also refer to the other infatioracontained in this report, including our coridated financial statements and related nc

Our business could be adversely affected by chariggbe contracting or fiscal policies of the fed@&rgovernment and governmental
entities.

We derive a significant portion of our raue from contracts with the U.S. federal governnagmt government agencies and subcontracts
under federal government prime contracts, andubeess of our business and growth of our busindssamtinue to depend on our successful
procurement of government contracts either direatlihrough prime contractors. Accordingly, chanigegovernment contracting policies or
government budgetary constraints could directlg@fbur financial performance. Among the factoet ttould adversely affect our business
are:

. changes in fiscal policies or decreases in avalgblvernment funding, including budgetary constsadtifecting federe
government spending generally, or specific departmer agencies in particular;

. the adoption of new laws or regulations or changesisting laws or regulations;

. changes in political or social attitudes with retfe security and defense issu

. changes in federal government programs or requingsnancluding the increased use of small busipesegiders;
. changes in or delays related to government reisinigton the export of defense articles and seryices

. potential delays or changes in the government gpjations process; and

. delays in the payment of our invoices by governnpayiment offices

These and other factors could cause goventsrand government agencies, or prime contratiiataise us as a subcontractor, to reduce
their purchases under existing contracts, to egerttieir rights to terminate contracts at-will@abstain from exercising options to renew
contracts, any of which could have an adverse effieour business, financial condition and resoiitgperations. Many of our government
customers are subject to stringent budgetary caingr The award of additional
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contracts from government agencies could be adyeaffected by spending reductions or budget clkbad these agencies.

We derive a substantial amount of our revenues frtime sale of our solutions either directly or indictly to U.S. government entities
pursuant to government contracts, which differ mai@ly from standard commercial contracts, invoh@ampetitive bidding and may
subject to cancellation or delay without penaltynyaof which may produce volatility in our revenuesd earnings.

Government contracts frequently includevfgions that are not standard in private commetciaisactions, and are subject to laws and
regulations that give the federal government rigimg remedies not typically found in commercialtcacts, including provisions permitting t
federal government to:

. terminate our existing contracts;

. reduce potential future income from our existingtcacts;

. modify some of the terms and conditions in our taxgscontracts

. suspend or permanently prohibit us from doing bessrwith the federal government or with any specgjfivernment agency;

. impose fines and penalties;

. subject us to criminal prosecutic

. suspend work under existing multiple year contracis related task orders if the necessary fundeatrappropriated by
Congress;

. decline to exercise an option to extend an exigtindfiple year contract; ar

. claim rights in technologies and systems inventedeloped or produced by t

In addition, government contracts are feagly awarded only after formal competitive biddimpcesses, which have been and may
continue to be protracted and typically impose f@ions that permit cancellation in the event thetessary funds are unavailable to the public
agency. Competitive procurements impose substards&b and managerial time and effort in orderépare bids and proposals for contracts
that may not be awarded to us. In many cases, vessitll bidders for government agency contractpareded the opportunity to formally
protest certain contract awards through variousi@geadministrative and judicial channels. The @sbprocess may substantially delay a
successful bidder's contract performance, reswaitellation of the contract award entirely aratrdict management. We may not be awarded
contracts for which we bid, and substantial delaysancellation of purchases may follow our sudteg$sds as a result of such protests.

Certain of our government contracts alsat@o "organizational conflict of interest" claughat could limit our ability to compete for
certain related follow-on contracts. For examplaewwe work on the design of a particular solutise,may be precluded from competing for
the contract to install that solution. While weiagly monitor our contracts to avoid these condljave cannot guarantee that we will be able to
avoid all organizational conflict of interest issue

We face intense competition from many competitdratthave greater resources than we do, which corddult in price reductions,
reduced profitability or loss of market share.

We operate in highly competitive marketd generally encounter intense competition to wintiacts from many other firms, including
mid-tier federal contractors with specialized célitids and large defense and IT services providémmpetition in our markets may increase
as a result of a number of factors, such as tharee of new or larger competitors, including thftsened through alliances or consolidation.
These competitors may have greater financial, ieehrmarketing and
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public relations resources, larger client basesgaadter brand or name recognition than we do. d bempetitors could, among other things:

. divert sales from us by winning very large-scalgggament contracts, a risk that is enhanced bydbent trend in government
procurement practices to bundle services into tazgatracts;

. force us to charge lower prices;

. adversely affect our relationships with currengists, including our ability to continue to win coetitively awardec
engagements in which we are the incumbent.

If we lose business to our competitorsrerfarced to lower our prices, our revenue andaparating profits could decline. In addition, we
may face competition from our subcontractors whamftime-to-time, seek to obtain prime contractatiss on contracts for which they
currently serve as a subcontractor to us. If onmare of our current subcontractors are awardedepdontractor status on such contracts in the
future, it could divert sales from us or could fnrgs to charge lower prices, which could causemangins to suffer.

Recent acquisitions and potential future acquisiti® could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt ourusiness, dilute stockholder value
and strain our resource.

We have completed several acquisitionafementary businesses in recent years, incluslingdctober 2006 acquisition of Madison
Research Technology Corporation and December 26fTsition of Haverstick Consulting, Inc. In additi on February 20, 2008, we entered
into an agreement to acquire SYS in a stock farkstansaction. We currently expect the transadiocliose by the end of the second quart
2008, upon receipt of the required stockholder aygls. However, the transaction may not close aeeed, and the anticipated synergies
the acquisition may not be fully realized or maketéonger to realize than expected. The succesgdacquisition will depend in part on the
success in integrating the operations, technolagiespersonnel of SYS. The failure to successfotlggrate the operations of the two
companies or otherwise to realize any of the gdieid benefits of the acquisition could seriouslynhour results of operations.

We continually evaluate opportunities tq@ice new businesses as part of our ongoing siyrated we may in the future acquire additic
companies that we believe could complement or exjeam business or increase our customer base. gitiqas involve numerous risks,
including:

. difficulties in integrating operations, technologji@ccounting and personn

. difficulties in supporting and transitioning custers of acquired companies;

. difficulties or delays in transitioning federal gpmment contracts pursuant to federal acquisiggulations;

. diversion of financial anmanagement resources from existing operati

. potential loss of key employees;

. federal acquisition regulations may require usrieeinto government novation agreements, a patintime-consuming

process; and

. inability to generate sufficient revenue to offaeguisition costs

Acquired companies may have liabilitiesadverse operating issues that we fail to discdwengh due diligence prior to the acquisition.
In particular, to the extent that prior owners ny @acquired businesses or properties failed to ¢pmijth or otherwise violated applicable laws
or regulations, or failed to fulfill their contractl obligations to the federal government or othients, we, as the successor owner, may be
financially responsible for these violations anilii@s and may suffer reputational harm or otheeviie adversely affected. Acquisitions also
frequently result in the recording of goodwill aoither intangible assets which are subject to pateimipairments in the future that could harm
our financial results. In addition, if we financeqaisitions by issuing convertible debt or equiégwrities, our existing stockholders may be
diluted, which could affect the market price of stwck. As a result, if we fail to properly evalaicquisitions or investments, we may not
achieve the anticipated benefits of any such adgapns, and we may incur costs in excess of whaanteipate.
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We agreed to indemnify acquirers of our divesteceogtions against specified losses in connectionhvitie sale of these operation
and any demands for indemnification may result ingenses we do not anticipate and distract the aitamof our management from our
continuing businesses.

We agreed to indemnify acquirers of ouredied operations against specified losses in ctionewith their sale and generally retain
responsibility for various legal liabilities thataued prior to closing. We also made represemtaténd warranties to these acquirers about the
condition of the divested businesses. If any aeguitakes an indemnification claim because it hffersd a loss or a third party has
commenced an action against the divested busiwessyay incur substantial expenses resolving swaimslor defending against the third p:
action, which would harm our operating resultsadidition, our ability to defend ourselves may bedmned because our former employees are
now employees of the acquirer or other companias,car management may have to devote a substami@lint of time to resolving the clail
In addition, these indemnity claims may divert nggraent attention from responsibilities relatedi® daily ongoing concerns of the business.
In addition, we may be required to expend substhregsources trying to determine which party hapoasibility for the claim, even if we are
ultimately found to be not responsible.

Our financial results may vary significantly fromuwgarter to quarter.

We expect our revenue and operating resuliary from quarter to quarter. Reductions ineraye in a particular quarter could lead to
lower profitability in that quarter because a riefglly large amount of our expenses are fixed insthert-term. We may incur significant
operating expenses during the start-up and eaxgjestof large contracts and may not be able t@réze corresponding revenue in that same
quarter. We may also incur additional expenses vwoatracts expire, are terminated or are not redewe

In addition, payments due to us from fetlgewernment agencies may be delayed due to bidlimdes or as a result of failures of
government budgets to gain congressional and adtration approval in a timely manner. The fedemlegnment's fiscal year ends
September 30. If a federal budget for the nextrf@descal year has not been approved by that ideg¢@ch year, our clients may have to sus
engagements that we are working on until a budasetieen approved. Any such suspensions may reducev@nue in the fourth quarter of
that year or the first quarter of the subsequeat.yehe federal government's fiscal year end csm taigger increased purchase requests from
clients for equipment and materials. Any incregsethase requests we receive as a result of tleedlegovernment's fiscal year end would
serve to increase our third or fourth quarter rereetout will generally decrease profit marginstfaat quarter, as these activities generally are
not as profitable as our typical offerings.

Additional factors that may cause our ficiahresults to fluctuate from quarter to quartesliide those addressed elsewhere in these Risk
Factors and the following, among others:

. the terms of customer contracts that affect théntinof revenue recognitiol

. variability in demand for our services and solusipn

. commencement, completion or termination of congrdctring any particular quarter;

. timing of award or performance incentive fee natijt

. timing of significant bid and proposal cos

. variable purchasing patterns under the GSA Schetlufgéontracts, government wide acquisition consr@&WACS), blanket

purchase agreements and other indefinite delivedgfinite quantity contracts;

. restrictions on and delays related to the expodedénse articles and servic
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. costs related to ongoing government inquir

. strategic decisions by us or our competitors, fgchcquisitions, divestitures, s-offs and joint ventures

. strategic investments or changes in business gyrate

. changes in the extent to which we use subcontisctor

. seasonal fluctuations in our staff utilization &¢

. changes in our effective tax rate including charigesir judgment as to the necessity of the vaduatillowance recorded agai

our deferred tax assets; and

. the length of sales cycle

Significant fluctuations in our operatiresults for a particular quarter could cause usfiofit of compliance with the financial covenants
contained in our credit facility, which if not wad by the lender, could restrict our access totabgind cause us to take extreme measures to
pay down our debt under the credit facility. In gidd, fluctuations in our financial results coudduse our stock price to decline.

If we fail to establish and maintain important reteonships with government entities and agencies atler government contractors,
our ability to bid successfully for new business ynlae adversely affected.

To develop new business opportunities, vimarily rely on establishing and maintaining redaships with various government entities
and agencies. We may be unable to successfullytaiaiour relationships with government entities agéncies, and any failure to do so could
materially adversely affect our ability to compstecessfully for new business. In addition, werofiet as a subcontractor or in "teaming"”
arrangements in which we and other contractor¢dgdther on particular contracts or programs ferféderal government or government
agencies. As a subcontractor or team member, wa tdtk control over fulfilment of a contract, apdor performance on the contract could
tarnish our reputation, even when we perform agired. We expect to continue to depend on relakipsswith other contractors for a portion
of our revenue in the foreseeable future. Moreower revenue and operating results could be m#ieadversely affected if any prime
contractor or teammate chooses to offer a cliemices of the type that we provide or if any priountractor or teammate teams with other
companies to independently provide those services.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues froa limited number of customers.

We have derived, and believe that we valitmue to derive, a significant portion of our eeues from a limited number of customers. To
the extent that any significant customer usesdéssir services or terminates its relationship wig our revenues could decline significantly.
As a result, the loss of any significant client lcoseriously harm our business. For the fiscal yrated December 31, 2007, two customers
comprised approximately 60% and 44% of our fedeusiness revenues and total revenues, respectaralypur five largest customers
accounted for approximately 84% and 62% of ourl feideral business revenues and total revenugsectgely. None of our customers are
obligated to purchase additional services fromAssa result, the volume of work that we performdapecific customer is likely to vary from
period to period, and a significant client in oripd may not use our services in a subsequerdgeri

Our margins and operating results may suffer if veaperience unfavorable changes in the proportionaafst-plus-fee or fixed-price
contracts in our total contract mix.

Although fixedprice contracts entail a greater risk of a redymedit or financial loss on a contract compareatioer types of contracts
enter into, fixed-price contracts typically provide
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higher profit opportunities because we may be @blgenefit from cost savings. In contrast, cossgée contracts are subject to statutory lir
on profit margins, and generally are the leastitable of our contract types. Our federal governtoeistomers typically determine what typi
contract we enter into. Cost-plus-fee and fixedegcontracts in our federal business accountedgproximately 51.1% and 23.3%,
respectively, of our federal business revenuethi®fiscal year ended December 31, 2007. To thenéxthat we enter into more cost-ples-or
less fixed-price contracts in proportion to ouataontract mix in the future, our margins and agiag results may suffer.

Our cash flow and profitability could be reducedéipenditures are incurred prior to the final reqaiof a contract.

We provide various professional service$ ssmetimes procure equipment and materials onlfbefaur federal government customers
under various contractual arrangements. From tarigrte, in order to ensure that we satisfy our@usrs' delivery requirements and
schedules, we may elect to initiate procuremeativance of receiving final authorization from tleygrnment customer or a prime contractor.
If our government or prime contractor customerguneements should change or if the government®mptime contractor should direct the
anticipated procurement to a contractor other tigar if the equipment or materials become obsaetequire modification before we are
under contract for the procurement, our investnirettie equipment or materials might be at risk & gannot efficiently resell them. This could
reduce anticipated earnings or result in a losgatieely affecting our cash flow and profitability.

Loss of our GSA contracts or GWACs would impair calility to attract new business.

We are a prime contractor under several G&#racts and GWAC schedule contracts. We belieatour ability to provide services
under these contracts will continue to be importardgur business because of the multiple oppoisifor new engagements each contract
provides. If we were to lose our position as prizoatractor on one or more of these contracts, wéddose substantial revenues and our
operating results could suffer. GSA contracts aheérnGWACSs typically have a one or twear initial term with multiple options exercisalait
the government client's discretion to extend thareet for one or more years. We cannot be asshegddur government clients will continue
to exercise the options remaining on our currentregts, nor can we be assured that our futuretsligill exercise options on any contracts
may receive in the future.

Failure to properly manage projects may result idditional costs or claims.

Our engagements often involve large sdaghly complex projects. The quality of our perf@mece on such projects depends in large part
upon our ability to manage the relationship with oustomers, and to effectively manage the praadtdeploy appropriate resources,
including third-party contractors, and our own jpersel, in a timely manner. Any defects or erroréadlure to meet clients' expectations could
result in claims for substantial damages againsDus contracts generally limit our liability foachages that arise from negligent acts, error,
mistakes or omissions in rendering services tocbants. However, we cannot be sure that thesaachual provisions will protect us from
liability for damages in the event we are suedaddition, in certain instances, we guarantee custstinat we will complete a project by a
scheduled date. If the project experiences a peegoce problem, we may not be able to recover th#iadal costs we will incur, which could
exceed revenues realized from a project. Findllgei underestimate the resources or time we needrplete a project with capped or fixed
fees, our operating results could be seriously lbdrm

The loss of any member of our senior managementlddmpair our relationships with federal governmetients and disrupt the
management of our business.

We believe that the success of our busiardsour ability to operate profitably dependstom¢ontinued contributions of the members of
our senior management. We rely on our senior manageto generate business and execute programassiicdy. In addition, the
relationships and reputation
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that many members of our senior management team dstablished and maintain with federal governmergonnel contribute to our ability
maintain strong client relationships and to idgntiéw business opportunities. We do not have argl@ment agreements providing for a
specific term of employment with any member of senior management. The loss of any member of auosmanagement could impair our
ability to identify and secure new contracts, tanten good client relations and to otherwise managr business.

If we fail to attract and retain skilled employees employees with the necessary security clearanegsmight not be able to perform
under our contracts or win new business.

The growth of our business and revenue mtdpan large part upon our ability to attract aetain sufficient numbers of highly qualified
individuals who have advanced information technglagd/or engineering skills. These employees aggeat demand and are likely to remain
a limited resource in the foreseeable future. @efederal government contracts require us, andesohour employees, to maintain security
clearances. Obtaining and maintaining securityralezes for employees involves a lengthy processijtas difficult to identify, recruit and
retain employees who already hold security cleaanin addition, some of our contracts contain {gions requiring us to staff an engagement
with personnel that the client considers key tosuacessful performance under the contract. letest we are unable to provide these key
personnel or acceptable substitutions, the clieat tarminate the contract and we may lose revenue.

If we are unable to recruit and retain fiigent number of qualified employees, our abilitymaintain and grow our business could be
limited. In a tight labor market, our direct lalmmsts could increase or we may be required to enlgage numbers of subcontractor personnel,
which could cause our profit margins to suffer. @ensely, if we maintain or increase our staffingells in anticipation of one or more projects
and the projects are delayed, reduced or terminatednay underutilize the additional personnel,alihivould increase our general and
administrative expenses, reduce our earnings assilgp harm our results of operations.

If our subcontractors fail to perform their contracal obligations, our performance and reputation asprime contractor and our
ability to obtain future business could suffer.

As a prime contractor, we often rely updimeo companies to perform work we are obligategeidorm for our clients as subcontractors.
As we secure more work under our GWAC vehiclesewgect to require an increasing level of suppannfisubcontractors that provide
complementary and supplementary services to oerioffs. Depending on labor market conditions, wg n@t be able to identify, hire and
retain sufficient numbers of qualified employeepénform the task orders we expect to win. In stades, we will need to rely on subcontracts
with unrelated companies. Moreover, even in faviergdbor market conditions, we anticipate entefiig more subcontracts in the future as
we expand our work under our GWACs. We are resjptm$dr the work performed by our subcontractovgrethough in some cases we have
limited involvement in that work.

If one or more of our subcontractors faikatisfactorily perform the agreed-upon servigea timely basis or violate federal government
contracting policies, laws or regulations, our ipiio perform our obligations as a prime contractomeet our clients' expectations may be
compromised. In extreme cases, performance or defeiencies on the part of our subcontractordaeesult in a client terminating our
contract for default. A termination for default ¢d@xpose us to liability, including liability fdhe agency's costs of reprocurement, could
damage our reputation and could hurt our abilitgdmpete for future contracts.

Our failure to comply with complex procurement lavesid regulations could cause us to lose businesd anbject us to a variety of
penalties.

We must comply with laws and regulationatiag to the formation, administration and perfamoe of federal government contracts,
which affect how we do business with our clientd an
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may impose added costs on us. In addition, the&devernment, including the Defense Contract Addiency (DCAA), audits and reviews
our performance on contracts, pricing practicest structure and compliance with applicable lawgufations and standards. The DCAA
reviews a contractor's internal control systemsoiities, including the contractor's purchasingperty, estimating, compensation and
management information systems, and the contraatompliance with such policies. Any costs fountdeédmproperly allocated to a specific
contract will not be reimbursed, while such costsay reimbursed must be refunded. Adverse firglinga DCAA audit could materially
affect our competitive position and result in astahtial adjustment to our revenue and profit.

The commercial business arena in which we operages Inelatively low barriers to entry and increasednepetition could result in
margin erosion, which would make profitability evenore difficult to sustain.

Other than the technical skills requiredim commercial business, the barriers to entgréa are relatively low. We do not have any
intellectual property rights in this segment of business to protect our methods and businessugtardsts do not pose a significant barrier to
entry. The success of our commercial businessgsréent on our employees, customer relations andubcessful performance of our
services. If we face increased competition as @ltre§ new entrants in our markets, we could exgrese reduced operating margins and loss of
market share and brand recognition.

If our commercial customers do not invest in sedyrsystems and other new in-building technologiegls as wireless local area
networks and/or IP-based networks, our businesd wtffer.

We intend to devote significant resouraeddveloping our enterprise-based wireless loed aetworks (WLAN), but we cannot predict
that we will achieve widespread market acceptanuengst the enterprises we identify as potentialacners. It is possible that some
enterprises will determine that capital constraamtd other factors outweigh their need for WLANteyss. As a result, we may be affected by a
significant delay in the adoption of WLAN by entdges, which would harm our business.

If we experience systems or service failure, oupugation could be harmed and our clients could agsgaims against us for damages
or refunds.

We create, implement and maintain IT sohsithat are often critical to our clients' openasi. We have experienced, and may in the fi
experience, some systems and service failuresgateher delivery delays and other problems in cetina with our work. If we experience
these problems, we may:

. lose revenue due to adverse client reac

. be required to provide additional services to artliat no charge;

. receive negative publicity, which could damage reputation and adversely affect our ability toaadtror retain clients; and
. suffer claims for substantial damag

In addition to any costs resulting fromgwot or service warranties, contract performancequired corrective action, these failures may
result in increased costs or loss of revenue éintti postpone subsequently scheduled work or caorcilil to renew, contracts.

While many of our contracts limit our lifityi for consequential damages that may arise fregligence in rendering services to our
clients, we cannot assure you that these contdgotagisions will be legally sufficient to proteas if we are sued. In addition, our errors and
omissions and product liability insurance coveragg/ not be adequate, may not continue to be avaitabreasonable terms or in sufficient
amounts to cover one or more large claims, orriearer may disclaim coverage as to
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some types of future claims. The successful asseofi any large claim against us could seriousiyrhaur business. Even if not successful,
these claims could result in significant legal atiter costs, may be a distraction to our managearahtnay harm our reputation.

Security breaches in sensitive federal governmergtems could result in the loss of clients and néga publicity.

Many of the systems we develop, install arantain involve managing and protecting inforraatinvolved in intelligence, national
security and other sensitive or classified fedgoalernment functions. A security breach in oneheke systems could cause serious harm t
business, damage our reputation and prevent ustfeang eligible for further work on sensitive oassified systems for federal government
clients. We could incur losses from such a sectigach that could exceed the policy limits undererrors and omissions and product
liability insurance. Damage to our reputation amitations on our eligibility for additional work salting from a security breach in one of the
systems we develop, install and maintain could riadhg reduce our revenue.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherrioper activities, which could cause us to lose aaiats.

We are exposed to the risk that employaedior other misconduct could occur. Misconduceimployees could include intentional
failures to comply with federal government procuegrnregulations, engaging in unauthorized actisitiefalsifying time records. Employee
misconduct could also involve the improper usewfdients' sensitive or classified information,iefhcould result in regulatory sanctions
against us and serious harm to our reputation anlficesult in a loss of contracts and a redudtiorevenues. It is not always possible to deter
employee misconduct, and the precautions we takesteent and detect this activity may not be effecin controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses, which could cause us to lose aot#tor cause a reduction in revenues.

Our business is dependent upon our ability to kgegze with the latest technological changes.

The market for our services is characterizg rapid change and technological improvemerd#ufe to respond in a timely and cost
effective way to these technological developmerdsld/ result in serious harm to our business andatipg results. We have derived, and we
expect to continue to derive, a substantial portibaur revenues from providing innovative engimegservices and technical solutions that
based upon today's leading technologies and teategrable of adapting to future technologies. Aesalt, our success will depend, in part, on
our ability to develop and market service offeritigat respond in a timely manner to the technokdgidvances of our customers, evolving
industry standards and changing client preferences.

If we are unable to manage our growth, our businessuld be adversely affected.

Sustaining our growth has placed signifiaemands on our management, as well as on oumtrative, operational and financial
resources. For us to continue to manage our gramghmust continue to improve our operational, ftiahand management information
systems and expand, motivate and manage our woekftirwe are unable to manage our growth whilentaéming our quality of service and
profit margins, or if new systems that we implemienassist in managing our growth do not produeeettpected benefits, our business,
prospects, financial condition or operating resotisld be adversely affected.

We may be harmed by intellectual property infringent claims and our failure to protect our intellegal property could enable
competitors to market products and services withiar features.

We may become subject to claims from ouplegrees or third parties who assert that softwackather forms of intellectual property that
we use in delivering services and solutions todhients infringe upon intellectual property riglaissuch employees or third parties. Our
employees develop some of the software and otmarsfof intellectual property that we use to provide services and
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solutions to our clients, but we also license tetbay from other vendors. If our employees, vendorsther third parties assert claims that

or our clients are infringing on their intellectymbperty rights, we could incur substantial castdefend those claims. If any of these
infringement claims are ultimately successful, wald be required to cease selling or using prodoictervices that incorporate the challenged
software or technology, obtain a license or addéldicenses from our employees, vendors, or dthiegt parties, or redesign our products and
services that rely on the challenged software drrtelogy.

We attempt to protect our trade secreteriigring into confidentiality and intellectual pesty assignment agreements with third parties,
our employees and consultants. However, these mgrgs can be breached and, if they are, there widyenan adequate remedy available to
us. In addition, others may independently discavgrtrade secrets and proprietary information anslich cases we could not assert any trade
secret rights against such party. Enforcing a ckhiat a party illegally obtained and is using oade secret is difficult, expensive and time
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. lareeunable to protect our intellectual property, @mpetitors could market services or
products similar to our services and products, Wwiiculd reduce demand for our offerings. Any litiga to enforce our intellectual property
rights, protect our trade secrets or determinev#flieity and scope of the proprietary rights of@thcould result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources, with no assurance of siscces

The matters relating to our internal review of owtock option granting practices and the restatemefbur financial statements have
exposed us to civil litigation claims, regulatoryqgreedings and government proceedings which couddn a material adverse effect on us.

In the summer of 2006, our current exeathanagement team, which has been in place sirgk Ritiated an investigation of our past
stock option granting practices (the "Equity Aw&eview") in reaction to media reports regardingktoption granting practices of public
companies. The Equity Award Review was conducteal ewersight from the Board and assistance fromooiiside counsel. In February 2007,
the Board appointed a Special Committee of the @tareview the adequacy of the Equity Award Revéw the recommendations of
management regarding historical option grantingticas, and to make recommendations and finding@rdéng those practices and individual
conduct. The Special Committee was not charged mvéking, and did not make, any evaluation of thmanting determinations or tax
adjustments. The Special Committee was comprisadhain-employee director who had not served orCaumpensation Committee before
2005.

The Equity Award Review encompassed alhtgraf options to purchase shares of our commark gtod other equity awards made since
two months prior to our IPO in November 1999 thioimecember 2006. We also reviewed all option grireswere entered into our stock
option database (Equity Edge) after our IPO witrant date before November 1999, as well as otitestantial grants issued prior to our IPO,
consisting of more than 14,000 grants. We furtberewed all option grants with a grant date thacpded an employee's date of hire. As part
of the review, interviews of 18 current and forrofficers, directors, employees and attorneys werelacted, and more than 40 million pages
of electronic and hard copy documents were searfthiaélevant information. The Special Committegoatonducted its own separate review
of the option granting practices during the terafreurrent executive management team through aaditinterviews and document collection
and review with the assistance of its own sepamat@sel and FTI Consulting.

The Equity Award Review established theealose of contemporaneous evidence supporting aslatnumber of the previously-
recorded option grants, substantially all of whigdre made in the period from 1998 through late 2008ing this period of time, in some
instances, documents, data and interviews sudggispption grants were prepared or finalized dayscsome cases, weeks or months afte
option grant date recorded in our books. The afibgirants include options issued to certain newlyehemployees but dated prior to their
employment start dates and options issued to
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non-employees, including advisors to the Board errosodesignated as employees. The Special Comnaitseeconcluded that certain forn
employees and former officers participated in mgkinproper option grants, including the selectibigmant dates with the benefit of hindsight
and in the deferral of the recording of otherwippraved option grants.

In light of the Equity Award Review, the ditt Committee of our Board concluded that our pfinancial statements for periods from 1!
through our filing of interim financial statemeriits the period ended September 30, 2006, couldngdr be relied upon and must be restated.
Our management determined that, from fiscal ye@81Brough fiscal year 2005, we had unrecordedaastt equity-based compensation
charges associated with our equity incentive pl&hsse charges are material to our financial stat¢sfor the years ended December 31, .
through 2005, the periods to which such chargeddvoave related. Previously filed annual reportd=onm 10-K and quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q affected by the restatements have nat aed will not be amended and should not be relfgzh. Our Annual Report on Form ¥0-
filed on September 11, 2007 superseded and repiadbdir entirety all of our previously issueddimcial statements and related reports filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our past stock option granting practices thre restatement of our prior financial stateméatge exposed and may continue to expose us
to greater risks associated with litigation, retata proceedings and government inquiries and eefoent actions. As described in Part I,
Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," several derivative ptaimts have been filed in state and federal cagtsnst our current directors, some of our
former directors and some of our current and forexercutive officers pertaining to allegations rielgto stock option grants. The SEC has
initiated an informal inquiry into our historicalogk option granting practices and we receivedgpeana from the United States Attorney's
Office for the Southern District of California ftre production of documents relating to our hist@rstock option granting practices, which
could result in civil and/or criminal actions sewdj among other things, injunctions against usthagayment of significant fines and penal
by us. We are cooperating with the SEC and theddrtates Attorney's Office for the Southern Distof California, and expect to continue to
do so.

The period of time necessary to resolvedhirquiries is uncertain, and we cannot predieoilitcome of these inquiries or whether we
face additional government inquiries, investigasian other actions related to our historical stopkon grant practices. Subject to certain
limitations, we are obligated to indemnify our @nt and former directors, officers and employeaimection with the investigation of our
historical stock option practices, these DOJ an@ Bifuiries and any future government inquiriesestigations or actions. These inquiries
could require us to expend significant managemnierd and incur significant legal and other expenagad,could result in civil and criminal
actions seeking, among other things, injunctioresresy us and the payment of significant fines aolfties by us, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, businessults of operations and cash flow.

If a federal government investigation urex@vimproper or illegal activities, including angtential improper or illegal activities related to
the Company's stock option review or related mattex may be subject to civil and criminal penaltied administrative sanctions, including
termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits spension of payments, fines and suspension or gepdifrom doing business with federal
government agencies. In addition, we could suieiosis harm to our reputation and competitive pasiif allegations of impropriety were
made against us, whether or not true. If our rammrtar relationship with federal government agesaivere impaired, or if the federal
government otherwise ceased doing business with significantly decreased the amount of businedeeés with us, our revenue and opere
profit would decline.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or preven
fraud.

Effective internal controls are necessarnyus to provide reliable financial reports. If s@nnot provide reliable financial reports, our
operating results could be misstated, our reputatiay be harmed and the trading price of our stothd be negatively affected. Our
management has concluded that there are no matexdddnesses in our internal controls over finamgpbrting as of December 31, 2007.
However, there can be no assurance that our cerdvelr financial processes and reporting will Heative in the future or that additional
material weaknesses or significant deficienciesuninternal controls will not be discovered in fa&ure. Any failure to remediate any future
material weaknesses or implement required new prakred controls, or difficulties encountered inithmplementation, could harm our
operating results, cause us to fail to meet ounntey obligations or result in material misstatersan our financial statements or other public
disclosures. Inferior internal controls could atsaise investors to lose confidence in our repditeshcial information, which could have a
negative effect on the trading price of our stdokaddition, from time to time we acquire businesafich could have limited infrastructure i
systems of internal controls. Performing assesssrarinternal controls, implementing necessary geanand maintaining an effective internal
controls process is costly and requires considenasinagement attention, particularly in the caseewfly acquired entities.

We may need additional capital in the future to fdrthe growth of our business, and financing may rim available.

We currently anticipate that our availatédgital resources, including our credit facilitydasperating cash flows, will be sufficient to meet
our expected working capital and capital expenditequirements for at least the next 12 months.d¥ew such resources may not be
sufficient to fund the long-term growth of our busss or the expenses associated with the ongdigation, litigation settlements and
government inquiries. In particular, we may expacea negative operating cash flow due to billinggstones and project timelines in certain
of our contracts.

We may raise additional funds through prbli private debt or equity financings if such ficings become available on favorable terrr
we may expand our credit facility to fund futureyaisitions and for general corporate purposes. hewealue to the current challenges in the
lending markets, we can provide no assurance tledehder would agree to extend additional or caritig credit under that facility. We could
fall out of compliance with financial and other emants contained in our credit facility which, dtrwaived, would restrict our access to cay
and could require us to pay down our existing detoter the credit facility. Any new financing or efings would likely dilute our stockholders'
equity ownership. In addition, additional financimgy not be available on terms favorable to ugst@ill. If adequate funds are not available or
are not available on acceptable terms, we may emable to take advantage of unanticipated oppdi#shidevelop new products or otherwise
respond to competitive pressures. In any such casdyusiness, operating results or financial ciimlicould be materially adversely affected.

Our ability to make payments on our debt will bentimgent on our future operating performance, whichill depend on a number of
factors that are outside of our contrg

Our debt service obligations are estimadeoe approximately $11 million to $13 million i9@8, including approximately $2.6 million of
principal repayments. This debt service may havaduerse impact on our earnings and cash flow,wbdald in turn negatively impact our
stock price.

Our ability to make principal and interpalyments on our debt is contingent on our futuerajing performance, which will depend on a
number of factors, many of which are outside of our
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control. The degree to which we are leveraged cbaie other important negative consequences, imgutie following:

. we must dedicate a substantial portion of our ¢asts from operations to the payment of our indebtess, reducing the funds
available for future working capital requiremerdapital expenditures, acquisitions or other genesgborate requirements;

. a significant portion of our borrowings are, andl wontinue to be, at variable rates of interedtjcli may result in higher inter
expense in the event of increases in interest;rates

. we may be more vulnerable to a downturn in the stries in which we operate or a downturn in thenecoy in general;

. we may be limited in our flexibility to plan fory oeact to, changes in our businesses and thetiekig which we operat
. we may be placed at a competitive disadvantage aoedpto our competitors that have less d

. we may determine it to be necessary to disposertdio assets or one or more of our businessexitae our debt; and

. our ability to borrow additional funds in excessooir current financing may be limited.

We may not generate sufficient cash flomnfroperations and future borrowings may not belalks in amounts sufficient to enable us to
pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidiéeds. Moreover, we may need to refinance allporion of our indebtedness on or before
maturity. In such a case, we cannot make assurdnaewe will be able to refinance any of our ingglmess on commercially reasonable terms
or at all. If we are unable to make scheduled gaptnents or comply with the other provisions of debt instruments, our various lenders 1
be permitted under certain circumstances to actel¢he maturity of the indebtedness owed to thednexercise other remedies provided fc
those instruments and under applicable law.

We are subject to restrictive debt covenants purgua our indebtedness. These covenants may restriz ability to finance our
business and, if we do not comply with the coversaot otherwise default under them, we may not hélve funds necessary to pay all
amounts that could become due and the lenders cdaléclose on substantially all of our assets.

Our indebtedness contains covenants thaing other things, significantly restricts andsame cases, effectively eliminates our ability
and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

. incur additional debt

. create or incur liens

. secure performance bonds by letters of creditethelimiting the amount of work we may bid on orfpem;
. pay dividends or make other equity distributionsto stockholders;

. make investment:

. sell assets;

. issue or become liable on a guarantee;

. create or acquire new subsidiari

. effect a merger or consolidation of, or sell alsabstantially all of our assets; &

. raise capital via equity securities.
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In addition, we must comply with certaindncial covenants. In the event we failed to magtad such covenants and were unable to cure
such breach or otherwise renegotiate such covenauntéenders would have significant rights to déutyire access to liquidity and/or seize
control of substantially all of our assets. Theenal financial covenants with which we must comipiglude a maximum first lien leverage
ratio, a maximum total leverage ratio, a minimuquidity ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverageoatind a minimum consolidated EBITC

The covenants contained in our indebtedaedsany credit agreement governing future debt signyificantly restrict our future
operations. Furthermore, upon the occurrence oeaent of default, our lenders could elect to dectdl amounts outstanding under such
agreements, together with accrued interest, tonbeeidiately due and payable. If those lenders weeetelerate the payment of those amol
our assets may not be sufficient to repay thoseuaisan full.

We are also subject to interest rate rig&  our indebtedness at variable interest raesed on a base rate or LIBOR plus an applicable
margin. Shifts in interest rates could have a ntadverse effect on us.

We may be required to prepay our indebtedness ptioits stated maturity, which may limit our abiitto pursue business opportuniti¢

Pursuant to the terms of certain of ouelrtddness, in certain instances we are requirpcefay outstanding indebtedness prior to its
stated maturity date. Specifically, certain nordreing cash inflows such as proceeds from asses sgisurance recoveries, and equity
offerings may have to be used to pay down indelgesland may not be reborrowed. These prepaymerisioms may limit our ability to
utilize this cash flow to pursue business oppotiesi

Our stock price may be volatile, which may resuitlawsuits against us and our officers and direcsor

The stock market in general and the stoep of government services companies in partichive experienced volatility that has often
been unrelated to or disproportionate to the oprygterformance of those companies. The markeemiour common stock has fluctuated in
the past and is likely to fluctuate in the futufactors which could have a significant impact aantarket price of our common stock include,
but are not limited to, the following:

. guarterly variations in operating resu

. announcements of new services by us or our coropgtit

. the gain or loss of significant customers;

. changes in analysts' earnings estime

. rumors or dissemination of false informatit

. pricing pressures;

. short selling of our common stock;

. impact of litigation and ongoing government inges;

. general conditions in the market;

. political and/or military events associated withrremt worldwide conflicts; and
. events affecting other companies that investorsndemmparable to u:

Companies that have experienced volaiititthe market price of their stock have frequebtien the object of securities class action
litigation. We and certain of our current and forro#ficers and directors have been named defendawtass action and derivative lawsuits.
These matters and any other securities class ditgation and derivative lawsuits in which we miag involved could result
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in substantial costs to us and a diversion of camagement's attention and resources, which couterially harm our financial condition and
results of operations.

Our charter documents and Delaware law may detetgudial acquirers and may depress our stock price.

Certain provisions of our charter documemd Delaware law, as well as certain agreementsawe with our executives, could make it
substantially more difficult for a third party teguire control of us. These provisions include:

. authorizing the board of directors to issue preféistock:

. prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofeltors;

. prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;

. establishing advance notice requirements for notiaing for election to our board of directors or fwoposing matters that can

be acted on by stockholders at meetings of oukktiders;

. Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,lakich prohibits us from engaging in a businessltioation with an
interested stockholder unless specific conditioesneet; and

. a number of our executives have agreements withaientitle them to payments in certain circumsgarfollowing a change
control.

We have a stockholder rights plan which mi@gourage certain types of transactions invohangctual or potential change in control .
may limit our stockholders' ability to approve tsawtions that they deem to be in their best interés a result, these provisions may depress
our stock price.

We may incur goodwill impairment charges in our reging entities which could harm our profitability.

A significant portion of our net assets efrom goodwill and other intangible assets. Inoadance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, "Goodwilll ©ther Intangible Assets," we periodically revits carrying values of our goodwill
determine whether such carrying values exceeddhenfarket value. Our acquired companies are stitjeannual review for goodwill
impairment. If impairment testing indicates that trarrying value of a reporting unit exceeds itsvalue, the goodwill of the reporting unit is
deemed impaired. Accordingly, an impairment chavgeld be recognized for that reporting unit in gegiod identified, which could reduce
our profitability.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Iltem 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices for all lnsss segments are located in approximately 93608re feet of office space in San Diego,
California. The lease for such space expires inl&R10. Other corporate resource offices are ktan the following locations: Washington,
D.C.; Marietta, Georgia; Newport, Delaware; Houstbexas; Huntsville, Alabama; Alexandria, Virginend Indianapolis, Indiana. We also
lease office space to provide local support sesvioeour customers in various regions throughoeitthited States. The leases on these spaces
expire at various times through August 2016. Wdiooally evaluate our current and future space cipan relation to current and projected
future staffing levels. We believe that our exigtfacilities are suitable and adequate to meetuotrent business requirements.
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding:
Contingencies
IPO Securities Litigation

Beginning in June 2001, the Company anthieof its officers and directors were named demigants in several parallel class action
shareholder complaints filed in the United Statésgtriat Court for the Southern District of New Y grmkow consolidated under the captitmre
Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public OfferingeBurities Litigation, Case No. 01-CV-4779. In the amended complaistpthintiffs allege that
the Company, certain of its officers and directars] the underwriters of the Company's initial pubffering ("IPO") violated section 11 of t
Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of theusiies Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegatibas the Company's registration statement
and prospectus failed to disclose material fagianding the compensation to be received by, andttitk allocation practices of, the IPO
underwriters. The plaintiffs seek unspecified mangtlamages and other relief. Similar complaintseviided in the same court against
hundreds of other public companies ("Issuers") toaducted IPOs of their common stock in the |&@05 and 2000 (the "IPO Cases").

In June 2004, the Issuers (including then@any) executed a settlement agreement with thietifis that would, among other things,
result in the dismissal with prejudice of all claimgainst the Issuers and their officers and dirs@nd the assignment of certain potential
Issuer claims to the plaintiffs. On February 15020the court issued a decision certifying a ckt®n for settlement purposes and granting
preliminary approval of the settlement subject tadification of certain bar orders contemplated gy $ettlement. On August 31, 2005, the
court reaffirmed class certification and prelimiypapproval of the modified settlement in a compredinee Order. On February 24, 2006, the
court dismissed litigation filed against certairdarwriters in connection with certain claims toassigned under the settlement. On April 24,
2006, the court held a Final Fairness Hearing terdéne whether to grant final approval of thelsetent. On December 5, 2006, the Second
Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the lower cowrtslier decision certifying as class actions tixdBD Cases designated as "focus cases."
Thereafter, the District Court ordered a stay bpedceedings in all of the IPO Cases pending titeame of plaintiffs' petition to the Second
Circuit for rehearing en banc and resolution ofdleess certification issue. On April 6, 2007, thee@nd Circuit denied plaintiffs’' rehearing
petition, but clarified that the plaintiffs may &a® certify a more limited class in the Districo@t. Accordingly, the stay remains in place and
the plaintiffs and Issuers have stated that theypaepared to discuss how the settlement mightiemnded or renegotiated to comply with the
Second Circuit's decision. Plaintiffs filed amendedplaints in the six focus cases on or about Atugd, 2007. On September 27, 2007,
Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification the six focus cases. On November 13, 2007, theetDefendants filed a motion to dismiss the
amended complaints in the six focus cases. On Nbeeti, 2007, the Underwriter Defendants filed diomoto dismiss the amended
complaints in the six focus cases. The court hagetoset a deadline for the plaintiffs to file amded complaints in the other IPO lawsuits. Due
to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, anddese the settlement may not receive final approval the Court, the ultimate outcome of this
matter cannot be predicted. In accordance with FABB5,"Accounting for Contingencies’The Company believes any contingent liability
related to this claim is not probable or estimatid therefore no amounts have been accrued indegathis matter.

2004 Securities Litigation

In August 2004, following the Company's anancement on August 4, 2004 that it intended ttatests financial statements for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and #@®8ompany and certain of its current and foraficers and directors were named
defendants ("Defendants”) in several securitiesscéction lawsuits filed in the United States Dist€ourt for
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the Southern District of California. These actioreye filed on behalf of those who purchased, oewtiise acquired, the Company's common
stock between April 26, 2000 and August 4, 2004 Huwsuits generally allege that, during that tppeeiod, Defendants made false and
misleading statements to the investing public atloetCompany's business and financial results,guits stock to trade at artificially inflated
levels. Based on these allegations, the lawsuaggealkhat Defendants violated the Securities Exghakct of 1934, and the plaintiffs seek
unspecified damages. These actions have been @atsdlinto a single action4a re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigari, Master File
No. 04CV158-JAH. Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Consolidat€thss Action Complaint on April 1, 2005. Defendsfiled their motion to
dismiss this first amended complaint on April 1803. The plaintiffs then requested leave to améei first amended complaint. The
plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaintdme 9, 2005, this time on behalf of those who lmased, or otherwise acquired, the
Company's common stock between May 5, 2003 and #tui?004. Defendants filed their motion to disrtiss Second Amended Complaint
on July 14, 2005. The motion to dismiss was taketteun submission on October 20, 2005 and on Mar@0@6, the Court granted the
Defendants' motion. However, plaintiffs were grantiee right to amend their complaint within 45 daysl subsequently filed their Third
Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint on IApti 2006. Defendants filed a motion to dismigs tomplaint on June 8, 2006. On
May 7, 2007, the Court denied the Defendants' mdtiadismiss. Defendants' filed their answer toglantiffs' complaint on July 13, 2007. In
February 2008, following a voluntary mediation loé tmatter, the parties reached a tentative agreegmsattle the class action. Under the
tentative settlement, plaintiffs and the class didimiss all claims, with prejudice, in exchangedaash payment in the total amount of

$12 million. The Company's directors' and officéiedility insurers will pay the settlement amoum&ccordance with the Company's insurance
policies, less any applicable retention or co-iasge obligations that are expected to be paid ttiirbg the Company. The Company estimates
that the amount of its payment toward the settléméhbe approximately $2.4 million. The Compangshaccrued approximately $2.4 million
as of December 31, 2007 related to this matter.péimtes currently are in the process of documgrttieir agreement and then will seek a
determination by the Court that the proposed setld is fair, reasonable and adequate. The Compakgs no assurances at this time that the
Court will approve the proposed settlement termthat the matter ultimately will be settled. Desgtie tentative settlement reached in this
action, the Company believes that the allegatiank merit.

In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filedthe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of California against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directeeslicini v. Wireless Facilities, IndGase No. 04CV1663; ariRoth v. Wireless
Facilities, Inc.,Case No. 04CV1810. These actions were consolidate single action iin re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigati,
Lead Case No 04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contaitufil allegations that are substantially simitexse made in the class action lawsuits,
but the plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claforsbreach of fiduciary duty, gross mismanagemabtise of control, waste of corporate assets,
violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304, ungraichment and insider trading. The plaintiffghiese lawsuits seek unspecified damages
and equitable and/or injunctive relief. The leaaimtiff filed a consolidated complaint on March 2005. On May 3, 2005, the defendants filed
motions to dismiss this action, to stay this acflending the resolution of the consolidated norivdéive securities case pending in the
Southern District of California, and to dismiss tmenplaint against certain non-California residdefiendants. Pursuant to a request by the
Court, Defendants' motions were withdrawn withogjpdice pending a decision on defendants' mobtatigmiss the complaint against the
non-California resident defendants. On March 2@72@he Court ruled that it lacked personal judsidn over five of the six non-California
defendants and dismissed them from the federalatére complaint. On March 27, 2007, plaintiffefil an amended derivative complaint
setting forth all of the same allegations from dhigiinal complaint and adding allegations regardimg Company's stock option granting
practices. Basically, plaintiffs allege that then@many "backdated" or
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"springloaded" employee stock option grants sottaibptions were granted at less than fair mar&lete. The amended complaint names &
the original defendants (including those dismisieedack of jurisdiction) as well as nine new dedants. On July 2, 2007, the non-California
resident defendants moved to dismiss the complainack of personal jurisdiction. On October 1002, the Court took the motion under
submission without oral argument. On February 2082 the Court again ruled that it lacked persqurédiction over five of the six non-
California defendants and dismissed them from theraled federal derivative complaint. The partiesel@nferred and discussed the Court's
order and have stipulated to a briefing schedulafiy remaining motions to dismiss that the Compaigng with the individual defendants
subject to the court's jurisdiction, may bring medfort to dismiss the complaint as to them. Painstio the parties' stipulation, such motions
must be brought on or before June 5, 2008. The @ampelieves that the allegations lack merit amterids to vigorously defend all claims
asserted. It is impossible at this time to assédssthver or not the outcome of these proceedingsowiNill not have a material adverse effect on
the Company.

In April 2007, another derivative complaims filed in the United States District Court foe Southern District of Californigddlameed v.
Tayebi, Case No. 07-CV-0680 BTM(RBB) (theHameedAction"), against several of the Company's cureentt former officers and directors.
The allegations in this new derivative complaintnari the amended allegations in the 2004 fedenaValiéve action. Pursuant to the Court's
order and agreement of the parties, the defendastsonses to the complaint in tHameedAction were stayed until the Court ruled on the
motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdictionthe 2004 derivative litigation. As noted abowa,February 26, 2008, the Court ruled that it
lacked personal jurisdiction over five of the nBatifornia defendants named in the 2004 derivadistion, including three that were also nar
in theHameedAction. The parties have conferred and discussedthurt's order and are in the process of stimgét a briefing schedule for
any remaining motions to dismiss that the Compafong with the individual defendants subject toc¢bart's jurisdiction, may bring in an
effort to dismiss thélameedAction as to them. At this time, the parties hagéset a date by which such motions must be broudte
Company believes that the allegations lack medtiatends to vigorously defend all claims asser@arently, we are unable to form a
professional judgment that an unfavorable outcarather probable or remote.

In August and September 2004, two virtuadntical derivative lawsuits were filed in Califda Superior Court for San Diego County
against certain of the Company's current and fowffezers and directors. These actions containuicallegations similar to those of the
federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these caaesert claims for violations of California's insidrading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse
of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corp@sdets and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs @s¢éhactions seek unspecified damages,
equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgemarall profits, benefits and other compensatiotaoted by defendants. These lawsuits have
been consolidated into one actioria+re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigati, California Superior Court, San Diego County, Lead
Case No. GIC 834253. The plaintiffs filed a Condaled Shareholder Derivative Complaint on Octolder2D04. This action has been stayed
pending a decision in federal court on a motiodismiss the federal derivative lawsuits. In Octab@07, the parties notified the Court of the
status of the federal action and requested the coutinue its stay of this action. The Companycpates that the court will continue to stay
this matter and that the court will request theiparfile an updated status report in April 200BeTCompany believes that the allegations lack
merit and intends to vigorously defend all claireseated. It is impossible at this time to assesstler or not the outcome of these proceedings
will or will not have a material adverse effectthie Company.

The Company has recorded an accrual fonéngent liability associated with the legal predigs related to the derivative actions of
$0.8 million based on the Company's estimate optitential amount it would have to pay, net ofrasted amounts to be paid by the
Company's insurance carriers, in relation to th@ssuits.
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2007 Securities Litigatior

In March and April 2007, there were threddral class actions filed in the United StatedrBtsCourt for the Southern District of
California against the Company and several oflitsant and former officers and directors. Thessshkction lawsuits followed the Company's
March 12, 2007 public announcement that it was gotidg a voluntary internal review of its stock igpt granting processes. These actions
have been consolidated into a single actiome Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigati Il , Master File No. 07-CV-0482-BTM-NLS. The
consolidated class action complaint was filed onédnber 19, 2007. In March 2008, following a voluptmediation of the matter, the parties
reached a tentative agreement to settle the atdismaUnder the settlement proposal, plaintiffd #me class will dismiss all claims, with
prejudice, in exchange for a cash payment in theusatnof $4.5 million. The Company's directors' afiicers' liability insurers will pay the
settlement amount, less any applicable retenticoansurance obligations and contributions thatexpected to be paid directly by the
Company. The Company estimates that the total atraflits payment toward the settlement will be apgmately $1.7 million. The Company
has accrued approximately $1.7 million as of Decen®i, 2007 related to this matter. The partieserully are in the process of documenting
their agreement, and then will seek a determindiiothe Court that the proposed settlement is fagsonable and adequate. The Company
makes no assurances at this time that the Coudrapgkove the proposed settlement terms or thatnidwger ultimately will be settled. Despite
the tentative settlement reached in this actiom Gbmpany believes that the allegations lack merit.

Other Litigation and Government Investigations

In January 2005, a former independent eaidr of the Company filed a lawsuit in Brazil agsdithe Company's subsidiary, WFI de
Brazil, to which he had been assigned for a pesfdime. He sought to be designated an employ&®ifde Brazil and entitled to severance
and related compensation pursuant to Brazilianrl&we. The individual sought back wages, vacatiay, [stock option compensation and
related benefits in excess of $0.5 million. In JRBO6, the labor court awarded the individual baelges, vacation pay and certain other
benefits. The Company filed an appeal in the maiteduly 20, 2006. On August 22, 2007, the appealst partially upheld the Company's
appeal, although it upheld the individual's desiigmaas an employee. The labor court has awardedthividual the Brazilian currency
equivalent of approximately $0.6 million (basedtbe current currency exchange rate). The Companyissel has filed motions for
clarification of the judgment due to omissionshe tlecision. The Company has accrued approxim@&@eé/million as of December 31, 2007
related to this matter.

On March 28, 2007, three plaintiffs, on &élof a purported class of similarly situated eaygles and contractors, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the Superior Court of the Stateaif@nia, Alameda County. The suit alleges varigigdations of the California Labor Code
and seeks payments for allegedly unpaid straighe ind overtime, meal period pay and associateaten The Company and the plaintiffs
have agreed to venue for the suit in San Diego Goéitthough the Company believes that the alleatilack merit, it has agreed in principle
with the plaintiffs to settle their claims for aggregate amount in the range of $0.3 million tcb$aillion, to include individual and incentive
awards, attorneys' fees and administrative cogbgest to court approval. The actual amount paidhieyCompany will depend upon the nun
of responses received from members of the purpattess of plaintiffs. The Company has recordedamuel for a contingent liability
associated with this legal proceeding in the amo@i$0.3 million.

On May 3, 2007, the Company announceditinatd a filed a lawsuit against a former employd® previously served as its stock option
administrator and left the Company in mid-2004, hisdspouse. The lawsuit sought to recover damaggesting from the theft by a former
employee of Company stock options and common stakled in excess of $6.3 million. The thefts, whigipear to have taken place during
2002 and 2003, were discovered through the Compaayiew of its past
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practices related to the granting and pricing opkaryee stock options with the assistance of itsidetcounsel and forensic computer
consultants. The complaint also alleged that theaéo employee attempted to cover up the schemarbgng other things, deleting entries fi
the Company's records.

We promptly reported to the SEC the discpwd the theft. The SEC initiated an informal iy and commenced an enforcement action
against the former employee. The U.S. Attorneyfic®flso forwarded a grand jury subpoena to ukisgeecords related to our former
employee and our historical option granting pragicThe SEC filed a federal lawsuit and obtainezhgorary restraining order and asset
freeze against the former employee and his spdimseU.S. Attorney's Office indicted him for the fih@nd he pled guilty to federal criminal
charges and has been sentenced to 46 monthsam sl currently is incarcerated. We have coopénatth, and intend to continue to
cooperate with both the SEC and the U.S. Attorn®jfiee on this matter and otherwise. He and higewhntered into a settlement agreement
with us on October 5, 2007 turning over substatall of their assets to us in settlement of thendges incurred in the theft. On February 15,
2008, the SEC approved the settlement. On Febafsr2008, the court entered a final judgment appmthe settlement. We have obtained
the assets, which aggregate approximately $3.4omjland are in the process of liquidating them.

In addition to the foregoing matters, frime to time, the Company may become involved ifotes claims, lawsuits and legal
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course sfrtmss. However, litigation is subject to inheremtertainties, and an adverse result in the:
other matters may arise from time to time that fmaym the Company's business. The Company is cilymeoit aware of any such legal
proceedings or claims that we believe will havejiidually or in the aggregate, a material advefect on our business, financial conditior
operating results.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

On November 14, 2007, we held our annumlidtolders' meeting at which our stockholdersléreed five (5) directors to hold office ur
the 2008 election of directors and (ii) ratifie@ thppointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independegistered accounting firm for the year
ending December 31, 2007. The vote on such materas follows:

1. Election of Directors
Director For Withheld
Scott I. Andersol 65,049,38! 535,98:
Bandel L. Caran 58,607,58 6,977,77:
Eric M. DeMarca 54,444,211 11,414,14
William A. Hoglund 65,048,88 536,47t
Scot B. Jarvit 65,044,28 541,08:

2. Ratification of the selection of Grant Thornton LB the Company's independent registered publmuating firm for the fisca
year ending December 31, 2007:

For Against Abstain

65,427,10¢ 91,957 66,296
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seties
Market Information

Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ@I@&I Select Market and has traded under the sytiadDS" since September 17, 2007.
Our common stock traded under the symbol "WFIItfrlovember 5, 1999 through September 14, 2007.

The following table sets forth the high dow sales prices for our Common Stock for the guisiindicated, as reported by NASDAQ. S
guotation represents inter-dealer prices withotailrenarkup, markdown or commission and may noessarily represent actual transactions.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 20(

Fourth Quarte $ 304 $ 191

Third Quartel $ 278 $ 1.7:

Second Quarte $ 174 $ 1.0

First Quartel $ 28 $ 1.2¢
Year Ended December 31, 20t

Fourth Quarte $ 28 $ 2.0C

Third Quartel $ 29 $ 191

Second Quarte $ 45 $ 2.7F

First Quarte $ 552 $ 3.8¢

On March 3, 2008 the last sale price of@ammon Stock as reported by NASDAQ was $1.71 pares On March 3, 2008, there were
216 shareholders of record of our Common Stock.

We have not declared any cash dividend=edi@coming a public company. We currently intencetain any future earnings to finance
growth and development of the business and, thexefio not anticipate paying any cash dividendbénforeseeable future. In addition, our
credit facility restricts our ability to pay dividds. Any future determination to pay cash dividewdkbe at the discretion of our Board and \
be dependent upon the future financial conditiesults of operations, capital requirements, gerirsiness conditions and other relevant
factors as determined by our Board.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information about our equity compensatitanp as of December 31, 2007 is as follows (shargs®usands):

Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon Number of
Exercise of Weighted Average Securities
Outstanding Exercise Price of Remaining
Options, Outstanding Available for
Warrants and Options, Warrants Future
Plan Category Rights and Rights Issuance
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholdle 7,01¢ $ 4.62 7,321(3)
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Sharedrs(@) 1,31¢ $ 4.8¢ 2,11C
Total 8,331 9,431

1) Includes 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 and 2005t¥dncentive Plan and 1999 Employee Stock PurcRémse
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2) Includes 2000 Nc-Statutory Stock Option Ple

3) Includes 351,811 shares reserved for issuance timel&mployee Stock Purchase Plan which was suspgand®006
For more detailed information regarding equity compensation plans, see Note 10 to ourdtinlaged financial statements.
Performance Graph

The following performance graph is a congar of the five year cumulative stockholder retamour common stock against the
cumulative total return of the NASDAQ Composite éndthe NASDAQ Telecommunications Index and a peeup composed of the Russell
2000 Stock Index and SYS Technologies, NCI, Inapy, Inc., Sl International, Inc., MTC Technalkeg Inc., and Dynamic Research
Corporation for the period commencing December2BD2 and ending December 31, 2007. The performgiragh assumes an initial
investment of $100 in our common stock and in eddhe indices and peer group. The comparisonadsames that all dividends are
reinvested and all returns are markap weighted. The historical information set fdstow is not necessarily indicative of future penfance

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. NeSDAQ Composite Index,
The NASDAQ Telecommunications Index And A Peer Grou

5350 -

5200

5150

$100

550

SD i i i i I i i i i i i i i i i 'l i i i i
12/02 3/03 6/03 9/03 12/03 3/04 6/04 9/04 12/04 3/05 6/05 9/05 12/05 3/06 6/06 9/06 12/06 3/07 G/O7 9107 12107

—+E&—Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc — —4— —NASDAG Composite

- ==8---NASDAQ Telecommunications ——#—— Peer Group

*$100 invested on 12/31/02 in stock or index-in@hgdreinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

The performance graph above and relatedatexbeing furnished solely to accompany this ahreport on Form 10-K pursuant to
Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, and are not beitegffor purposes of Section 18 of the Securitieshaxnge Act of 1934, as amended, and are
not to be incorporated by reference into any fildigours, whether made before or after the datedferegardless of any general incorporation
language in such filing.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:

As a result of the Engineering and Deplogt&ervices divestitures in June and July 200 peetively, the Wireless Network Services
segment has been classified as a discontinuedtapenathis Report and all prior year results prged herein have been reclassified to reflect
these businesses as discontinued operations indacwe with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impgént or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets".

In December 2005, our Board made the datig exit our Mexican and South American deploytiersinesses. In December 2006, our
Board made the decision to exit our EMEA and Brazibusinesses. Accordingly, all results of operstifor these businesses have been
reflected as discontinued operations for all ypaesented.

The selected consolidated financial databdeen restated as a result of the discontinueddsses. The following selected consolidated
financial data should be read in conjunction witin consolidated financial statements and relatédsiiereto and with "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wesults of Operations" which are incorporated@mlf7 or elsewhere in this Report on
Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necesardicative of operating results to be expectethie future.

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(All amounts except per share data in millions

Consolidated Statements of Operations D

Revenue! $ 434 $ 116.¢ $ 1522 $ 1531 $  193.¢

Gross profi 21.2 29.C 36.€ 28.¢ 31.€

Operating income (loss) from continuing operati (2.6) (13.9) 3.2 (31.5) (24.¢)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes from contirg

operations (1.0 (8.4 0.2 13.¢ 1.3

Income (loss) from continuing operatic (0.8 (8.2 3.6 (46.2) (28.2)

Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 2.7 23.2 (2.0 (12.9) (22.¢)

Net income (loss $ 1¢ $ 15.C $ 1€ $ (579 $ (40.9
Income (loss) from continuing operations per comrslogre

Basic $ (@©0) $ (019 3 00t $ (063 $ (0.39

Diluted $ (©0) $ (01 $ 00t $ (0639 $ (0.39
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per comishare

Basic $ 0.0¢ $ 034 $ (009 $ (0.1e9 $ (0.19)

Diluted $ 004 $ 034 $ (00) $ (016 $ (0.19)
Net income (loss) per common sh

Basic $ 0.0z $ 02z $ 00z $ (079 $ (0.5%

Diluted $ 0.0 $ 02z $ 00z $ (079 $ (0.5H
Weighted average share

Basic 68.4 67.7 74.C 73.t 74.C

Diluted 68.4 67.7 75.C 73.t 74.C
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As of December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(All amounts in millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dz

Cash and cash equivale $ 75.¢ $ 502 $ 77 $ 54 $ 8.€
Shor-term investment 35.1 7.€ — — —
Working capital 132.t 98.¢€ 67.4 (3.8 23.L
Total asset 279.3 330.7 342.( 337.1 335.:
Shor-term debt 0.7 1.¢ 0.7 51.4 2.7
Long-term debi — — — — 74.C
Total stockholders' equit $ 191¢ $ 2196 $ 2297 $ 1871 $ 167.-

Certain amounts in the selected consolitifitencial data above have been reclassified mdorm to the 2007 presentation. See Note 1 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, indudéart 1V, Item 15 of this Repol

You should read this selected consolidéitexhcial data together with the Consolidated FalanStatements and related Notes contained
in this Report, as well as the section of this Repntitled "Management's Discussion and Analy$iBinancial Condition and Results of
Operations."

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations ("MD&A")

This report contains forward-looking statementse3éstatements relate to future events or our éuimancial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemégtterminology such as "may," "will," "should," 'feect,” "plan," "anticipate," "believe,"
"estimate," "predict,” "potential” or "continue,he negative of such terms or other comparable t@otogy. These statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may diffetemnially. Factors that may cause our results tdefifinclude, but are not limited to: changes
the scope or timing of our projects; changes obawks in spending by the U.S. Department of Defehseh could cause delays or
cancellations of key government contracts; thertgnrescheduling or cancellation of significant tmmer contracts and agreements, or
consolidation by or the loss of key customersufaito successfully consummate acquisitions ognatie acquired operations; the rate of
growth of adoption of WLAN and wireless securistsyns by enterprises; and competition in the mat&eé which could reduce revenues i
profit margins.

Although we believe that the expectations reflectdatie forward-looking statements are reasonaie cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementsrédwer, neither we, nor any other person, assurspamsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statementsai&@nder no obligation to update any of the ford«dwoking statements after the filing of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K to conform suchestegnts to actual results or to changes in our etgtiens.

Certain of the information set forth herein, incllugl costs and expenses that exclude the impatbci sompensation expense,
amortization expense of purchased intangibles @f¥&2and 2007, and the stock option investigatiot mtated costs in 2007, may be
considered non-GAAP financial measures. We bett@ganformation is useful to investors becaugadvides a basis for measuring the
operating performance of our business and our demsh, excluding the effect of stock compensatigrerse that would normally be includet
the most directly comparable measures calculateti@esented in accordance with Generally AcceptezbAnting Principles. Our
management uses these non-GAAP financial measloeg with the most directly comparable GAAP finahaneasures in evaluating our
operating performance, capital resources and céslv.fNon-GAAP financial measures should not be iciemed in isolation from, or as a
substitute for, financial information presenteccompliance with GAAP, and non-financial measuresepert may not be comparable to
similarly titted amounts reported by other companie
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The following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith our audited consolidated financial statenseand the related notes and other
financial information appearing elsewhere in thisg®rt and other reports and filings made with tiee8ities and Exchange Commissi
Readers are also urged to carefully review and mershe various disclosures made by us which giteémadvise interested parties of 1
factors which affect our business, including withlimitation the disclosures made under the captiem 1/—Risk Factors.

Overview

We provide mission critical engineering,da@rvices and warfighter solutions to the U.S. Gowent and government agencies, as well as
to state and local agencies and commercial custée are an innovative provider of mission critexagineering, IT services and warfighter
solutions. Our principal services are related tdg,dve not limited to, Command, Control, Commuriarad, Computing, Combat Systems
Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance (Rpl®eapons systems lifecycle support and extensiditary weapon range operations and
technical services, missile, rocket and weaponaedtevaluation, mission launch services, publietgasecurity and surveillance, advanced
network engineering services and IT services, aitidal infrastructure design and integration seed. We offer our customers solutions and
expertise to support their mission-critical neegisdveraging our skills across these core servieasa

Historically, the majority of our businesas concentrated in the area of wireless netwamkcees, and our business operated in three
reportable segments: wireless network servicessigorent network services, and enterprise netwarkcgs. In 2006, we were an indepenc
provider of outsourced engineering and network a@pent services, security systems engineering raiedriation services and other technical
services for the wireless communications industrg,U.S. government, and enterprise customers.

In 2006 and 2007, we undertook a transftionastrategy whereby we divested our wirelessteeldusinesses and chose to aggressively
pursue business with the federal government, pifynidwe U.S. Department of Defense, through striategquisitions and organic growth. We
divested assets in our wireless network servicgsieat and renamed our enterprise network servagment "Public Safety and Security".
Today, under the new corporate name of Kratos Defé@nhSecurity Solutions, Inc., we are organized imto primary operating segments:
Kratos Government Solutions (KGS) and Public SafeSecurity (PSS).

Divestiture of Wireless Network Business

In December 2005, our Board made the dati exit our Mexican operations and certain of@her deployment businesses in South
America. Prior to this decision, these operatioad been reported in our Wireless Network Serviegsrent. We determined that these
operations met the criteria to be classified ad Farl sale. Accordingly, we reflected these operatias discontinued in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Dispos&lLonc-Lived Assets.” Our South American deployment oflens were substantially
shut down as of the end of 2005. Accordingly, edluits for these operations for all periods presgehtive been reflected as discontinued.

On February 17, 2006, we entered into anidiee agreement to divest all of our operatiomdexico for total approximate cash
consideration of $18.0 million, which approximateé net book value of the operations, including.318illion of liabilities associated with a
loss contingency. The transaction closed on Maf;2006. The transaction was structured as a $alercubsidiaries in Mexico, and the
purchase price consisted of $1.5 million in cask pa February 17, 2006, plus a secured promissoty payable in installments through
December 31, 2006. The note was secured by pledgessets and a personal guaranty.
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The final closing balance sheet as of Fafyrd7, 2006 resulted in net asset adjustmenteggting to a total approximate $18.9 million
consideration, $1.5 million of which was paid orbRery 17, 2006, with the remaining $17.4 millicaypble by means of the promissory note
in installments through December 31, 2006 withraarest rate of 7.5% per annum. The remaining reteivable balance was paid in
December 2006. No amounts remain outstanding ondteereceivable.

The purchaser, Sakoki LLC, was a newly-fednentity controlled by Massih Tayebi. Although MikisTayebi has no current role with us,
he was one of our cfounders and served as our Chief Executive Officen inception in 1994 through September 2000, @d director fror
inception through April 2002. In addition, as ofyJ81, 2007, Massih Tayebi owned or controlled agpnately 8.2% of the total voting power
of our capital stock. He is also the brother of btas$ Tayebi, who was the Chairman of our Board atithe of this transaction. Masood Tay
is no longer on our Board and had no personal &ilghmterest in the transaction and no role whté éntity that purchased the Mexico
operations.

On October 2, 2006, we consummated theisitign of Madison Research Corporation ("MRC") £69.0 million in cash, subject to an
adjustment paid in April 2007 which increased thtaltpurchase price to approximately $73.8 millimejuding transaction costs of
$0.2 million. Ten percent of the purchase priceokefdjustment, or $6.9 million, was withheld asusiy for satisfaction of certain
indemnification obligations and payable over eightenonths following the closing date of the meméasuant to the terms of the merger
agreement. In April 2007, approximately $1.5 mitliof the holdback was released and paid to thedoshareholders of MRC. In October
2007, a second scheduled holdback payment of $#liBmwas made. The remaining holdback paymerdggroximately $2.3 million is
expected to be settled in April 2008 subject tortrlution of certain indemnification matters. Twguisition was funded by cash on hand and
cash from our previous $85 million Credit Facilityth Key Bank National Association.

The MRC acquisition has been accountedisorg the purchase method of accounting in accasdaith Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinali¢tsFAS 141"), whereby the total cost of the asitjon has been allocated to tangible
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities msslibased upon a determination of fair valueseaeffective date of the acquisition. A
valuation was performed by an independent apprésimalize the purchase price allocation baseahupe fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired and the details of this valaatare included in Note 6 of our Consolidated Rtial Statements.

On December 28, 2006, our Board approveldmto divest portions of our business whereaaitmass had not been achieved. This plan
involved the divestiture of our EMEA operations and remaining South American operations. The EMip&rations were sold to LCC
International, Inc. ("LCC") on March 9, 2007 for.®4million in cash, $3.3 million of which was reeed on that date. We also received
approximately $1.8 million from our EMEA operatiopgor and subsequent to the closing date as palyameoutstanding intercompany debt.
The balance of the $0.7 million sales price is feiithheld as security for the satisfaction of agrindemnification obligations and is payable
on a date that is the earlier of March 31, 2008herdate that the buyer files its 10-K for the disgear ended December 31, 2007. Based upon
our review of the most recently available finanattements of the buyer, as of December 31, 200 have concern about their ability to pay
this holdback, due to their available liquidity. \Wave recorded a reserve of $0.7 million for thissivable.

We recorded an impairment charge of $5IBamiin the fourth quarter of 2006 to reduce therent carrying value of our South American
operations to their estimated fair value based wquorent indications of interest. On April 20, 20@& entered into an Equity Purchase
Agreement to sell all of the issued and outstandipgjty of its interests of our wholly-owned suliaigt WFI de Brazil Techlogia en
Telecomunicaciones LTDA to Strategic Project Sexsjd LC (SPS). The consideration included the apsiom of substantially all outstanding
liabilities of WFI Brazil, nominal
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cash consideration, and additional earn-out conaiite based on 25 percent of net receivablesaeliesubsequent to the closing date.

On May 29, 2007, we entered into an Assetifase Agreement with LCC International, Inc.tfar sale of all of the assets used in the
conduct of the operation of our engineering sesvimgsiness of our Wireless Network Services segthahprovided engineering services to
the non-government wireless communications industtiie United States, for aggregate consideratiaf $46 million. LCC delivered a
subordinated promissory note for the principal antai $21.6 million (the ‘Subordinated Promissory Notg paid $17 million at closing and
paid final working capital adjustments of $2.4 ioitl through an amendment to the Subordinated PeamjisNote. We retained an estimated
$5.0 million in net working capital. The transactiwas completed on June 4, 2007.

On July 5, 2007, we sold the $21.6 millBubordinated Promissory Note to Silver Point Céplitd. ("Silver Point") in a transaction
arranged by KeyBanc Capital Markets ("KeyBanc"). i¥eeived approximately $19.6 million in net casbgeeds, reflecting a discount from
par value of less than five percent and aggregatesaction fees of approximately $1 million, whiobludes a $0.75 million fee to KeyBanc,
affiliate of our lender. On January 30, 2008, weeieed net proceeds of approximately $2.3 milliortloe working capital adjustment from
Silver Point, net of a $0.1 million discount frorarpralue. We did not provide any guaranty for LG@lgment obligations for the note.

On July 9, 2007, we entered into a defieitaigreement with an affiliate of Platinum Equitysell our deployment services business of our
wireless network services segment for total comatiten payable of $24 million, including $18 million cash at closing (subject to typical post
closing working capital adjustments) and an aggee@é million in a three-year earn-out arrangem¥fe.also agreed to provide certain
transition services for a period of six months. Bksets sold to Platinum Equity included all of wireless deployment business and the
Wireless Facilities name. The transaction closeduiy 24, 2007.

On September 25, 2007, we provided the imgrkapital calculation to Platinum Equity, whicfdicated a working capital adjustment was
due to Platinum primarily due to cash collectechooounts receivables by us prior to the close @ttinsaction that exceeded our previous
estimate of working capital to be delivered to iRlam. Platinum has reviewed our working capitatatdtion, and we have not been able to
come to an agreement on the working capital adjeistmin accordance with the terms of the acquisiigreement, we and Platinum are
currently in the process of choosing a firm to hesdhis item. As of December 31, 2007 the balasfagur calculation has been reflected in
other current liabilities.

As a result of the engineering and deplaynservices divestitures in 2007, the Wireless NekvwServices segment has been classifiec
discontinued operation in this Annual Report arghabr year results presented herein have bedagsified to reflect these businesses as
discontinued operations in accordance with SFASIMd, "Accounting for the Impairment or DisposalLoing-Lived Assets".

Recent Acquisitions

On December 31, 2007 we completed our adepn of Indianapolis, Indiana headquartered Hstigk Consulting, Inc. ("Haverstick") as
part of our Government Solutions Segment. Havdegtiovides rocket and missile test and evaluaticegpons systems support, and
professional services to the U.S. Army, U.S. Airdey U.S. Navy, NASA, and other federal, state lacdl agencies. Through the Haverstick
acquisition, we expanded our customer relationslitipin the DoD and enhanced our presence with ti& Bir Force, a key growth area for
Haverstick.

The total purchase price was $90.2 millimriuding transaction costs incurred by Kratos @5$million. The purchase price paid to
Haverstick of $89.7 million was paid in a combipeatof $70.3 million of cash and common stock valae#19.4 million. We paid
$66.7 million in cash at
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closing, $2.4 million in cash shortly thereafted&12.0 million of common stock. In addition, $t#lion in cash and $7.4 million in stock
was held back to secure any negative working dagiliastments required by the merger agreemenbanthdemnity rights. The holdback
consideration will be released on thel2nonth and 2% month of the anniversary date of the acquisitioraddition to the indemnity
holdback, the Agreement also calls for a post nlpsiorking capital adjustment. To fund the acqigsitwe secured a new credit facility of
$85.0 million arranged by KeyBanc Capital Markdtise credit facility, which includes a $25.0 milliéine of credit and $60.0 million in term
notes, replaced our previous credit facility, whigtd an outstanding principal balance of $6.0 amllon December 31, 2007.

On February 29, 2008 we provided the wayldapital calculation to Haverstick, which indichte working capital adjustment was due to
us primarily because the working capital, as cal@d per the Agreement, was below the target amélaverstick has reviewed our working
capital calculation and is in disagreement. Thesponse proposes that there is actually excessngazkpital of approximately $1.5 million.
accordance with the Agreement, we have fifteen @fays the date of Haverstick's objection to resdhe disagreement. If resolution has not
been achieved within the fifteen day period, we Haderstick have five days to agree on a nationaitpgnized independent accounting firm
to resolve the disagreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agregntee Company has agreed to use its reasonafiietberts to file a resale registration
statement covering the shares issued in connegiibrthe Merger promptly following the closing date the event that the common stock
issued are not salable under rules promulgatedruhdeSecurities Acts, holders of the stock magteie exchange such shares for a cash
amount equal to $2.74 per share in accordancethatberms of the Merger Agreement. Until the datevhich the shares of stock are salable
interest shall accrue on the value of the ClositugiSat a floating rate of one-month LIBOR plusrf@ercent (4%) per annum.

In February 2008 we entered into a defiritinerger agreement with San Diego-based C5ISRandentric warfare solutions provider
SYS Technologies (AMEX:SYS) in a stock-for-stoctrtsaction. Under the terms of the agreement, SY$nerge into a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kratos and all of SYS's outstandinghmon shares will be converted into Kratos commares. Upon closing, we will issue
approximately 25 million shares of common stocke Titansaction is subject to customary closing d@h, including approval of the
transaction by SYS's shareholders and the appofwalr stockholders of the issuance of shares.timesaction is expected to close in the
second quarter of 2008.

On September 12, 2007 we changed our neorre\Wireless Facilities, Inc. to Kratos Defense &cBrity Solutions, Inc. to reflect our new
strategic focus.

As of December 31, 2007, we consider tleviang factors to be important in understanding fimancial statements.

Kratos Government Solutions' business tithU.S. government and prime contractors is gélggrarformed under cost reimbursable,
fixed-price or time and materials contracts. Cegnhbursable contracts for the government providedonbursement of costs plus the payment
of a fee. Some cost reimbursable contracts indluckntive fees that are awarded based on perforenam¢he contract. Under fixed-price
contracts, we agree to perform certain work faxked price. Under time and materials contractsaveereimbursed for labor hours at negoti
hourly billing rates and reimbursed for travel atder direct expenses at actual costs plus apgéedral and administrative expenses. Our
Pubic Security and Safety contracts are primaidgd-price contracts whereby revenue is recognimadg the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting under the provisions of Stetgnof Position (SOP) 81; "Accounting for Performance of Construction Tygrel Certair
Production Type Contracts." For contracts offerachdime and material basis, we recognize reveasagrvices are performed.
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Cost of revenues includes direct compeosaliving, travel and benefit expenses for projetated personnel, payments to third-party
subcontractors, cost of materials project-relategmtive compensation based upon the successfigivachent of certain project performance
goals, allocation of overhead costs and other tpegect-related expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expsenselude compensation and benefits for corporateice employees and similar costs for
billable employees whose time and expenses camnas$igned to a project (underutilization costg)eadable computer software and
equipment, facilities expenses and other operatiqeenses not directly related and/or allocateddfepts. General and administrative costs
include all corporate and administrative functitimst support existing operations and provide irtfrecdure to facilitate our future growth.
Additionally, our sales personnel and senior cafmexecutives have, as part of their compensptchkages, periodic and annual
bonus/commission incentives based on the attainofesgecified performance goals.

We consider the following factors when deti@ing if collection of a receivable is reasonabsured: comprehensive collection history;
results of our communications with customers; tineemt financial position of the customer; and tlevant economic conditions in the
customer's country. If we have had no prior expeewith the customer, we review reports from wasioredit organizations to ensure that the
customer has a history of paying its creditors ieleble and effective manner. If the financiahddion of our customers were to deteriorate,
and adversely affect their financial ability to negkayments, additional allowances would be requidelditionally, on certain contracts
whereby we perform services for a prime/generatreator, a specified percentage of the invoiceddraccounts receivable may be retained by
the customer until we complete the project. Wequkcially review all retainages for collectibilityd record allowances for doubtful accounts
when deemed appropriate, based on our assessntbetagsociated risks. Total retainages includestaounts receivable and current assets of
discontinued operations were approximately $1.Tioniland $0.0 million at December 31, 2007, respebt. In addition, $0.6 million of
retainages that are expected to be paid after @@®ihcluded in other assets (long term).

Our PSS segment previously built, installed operated a wireless LAN system at a numbsha@pping malls in the United States. This
network was developed to offer internet connegtifor a fee to customers and tenants at the nietls.market for these services had changed
in 2006 with the emergence of free WiFi and WiMAXdahis resulted in significantly reduced expectagifor future revenue and profits
related to the realizability of this asset. Baspdruan analysis of the expected future cash flowms this asset in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, we determined that the full value of @gset, approximately $1.8 million, was impairethatend of 2006. In January 2008, we ¢
the LAN system network to the owner of the shoppmalls for $0.3 million. This transaction will beaorded in our first quarter of 2008 at the
time of the transfer of the network.

Due to a loss of management in early 2608 eesult of the completion of earn-outs on sof®pbPSS acquisitions at the end of 2005,
our PSS operations experienced an underperfornratate/e to historic operating results in 2006 #md impacted our projected future
performance. We determined at the end of 2006tiatotal amount of goodwill for our PSS segmeppraximately $18.3 million, was
impaired. The fair value of the goodwill was estiathusing these projections and a combinationdi$eounted cash flow model and a market
approach model that takes into consideration coaip@business and market transactions. We alsduttettbased on this analysis the
intangible assets for PSS were not impaired.

As of December 31, 2007, our annual effectax rate was a negative 5% for the year endiecebiber 31, 2007 which resulted in tax
expense of $1.3 million on a loss before incomeseaf $26.9 million. The rate differs from the femleand state statutory rates primarily due to
the increase in the valuation allowance againstrdedl tax assets created during the year for wigichgnition is not considered to be "more
likely than not".
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Management currently considers the follgnvents, trends and uncertainties to be impottanbderstanding its financial condition and
operating performance:

We believe that our Kratos Government Sohg segment will build and expand our customeati@hships within the U.S. Department:
Defense, Department of Homeland Security and otbarDoD state and local agencies by taking advantdghe significant opportunities for
companies with substantial expertise in advancgiheering and information technology. We believewi# experience continued growth in
revenues and operating income from this operatggnent. The acquisition of Haverstick on Decemie2B07 resulted in the addition of
nearly 500 highly skilled technical professionaisl @ngineers with expertise in the areas of mylitéeapons and target range support as w
targets and missile operations and maintenanceadtpaisition of MRC on October 2, 2006 providesmith expanded presence in Huntsville
Alabama, which is a key strategic military locatfon this segment. MRC offers a broad range ofriégzl, engineering and IT solutions, and
has developed core competencies in weapons sys$émycle support, integrated logistics, test andleation, commercial off-the-shelf
software and hardware selection and implementasioftywware development and systems lifecycle maantea. The results of operations of
Haverstick have not been included in our consadidatatement of operations as that transactioe@los December 31, 2007. The results of
operations of MRC have been included in our codstdid results beginning from the closing date ab®er 2, 2006.

Our restructuring assessments which ocdurr¢he fourth quarter of 2006 included a criticaliew of our Public Safety & Security
segment to take into consideration the overallrpnitee related industry and market opportunitissyall as the management and performance
setbacks that occurred in this segment during 28686 result of this analysis we made the decigdiocus primarily on areas where we have
significant existing expertise, qualifications amethtionships. For example, we believe our expedisd overall qualifications provide a clear
competitive differentiator on projects related tyygpical and other types of security system intéginatat Department of Defense military ba
production facilities, and other state, local anghimipal government locations.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2006 to the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the yearsceDdcember 31, 2006 and 2007 are as follows (iioms):

%

2006 2007 $ change change
Public Safety & Security Segme $ 55.¢ $ 51.1 $ 4.5 (8.1)%
Kratos Government Solutions Segm 97.t 142t 45.C 46.2%
Total revenue $ 1531 $ 193¢ $ 40.5 26.5%

Revenues increased $40.5 million from $158illion in 2006 to $193.6 million in 2007, refliey an increase of $45.0 million in our
Kratos Government Solutions segment, primarily ttuthe acquisition of MRC in October 2006, whichttduted $70.5 million in revenues
2007 and $17.2 million in 2006. This increase d3.8million was partially offset by decreases dughe reduction of one program with
annualized revenues of nearly $5.7 million that e@ssolidated by one of our Federal Governmenousts as well as, to a lesser degree,
other program delays and losses resulting in relteeenues of $2.6 million in other businessesiwittur Government Solutions segment.
Reductions in our Public Safety & Security segna@r#4.5 million were primarily related to our ewit the municipal wireless business in the
first quarter of 2007.
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As described in the section "Critical Acoting Principles and Estimates” and in the footadteour audited consolidated financial
statements, a portion of our revenue is derivenhfli@ed-price contracts whereby revenue is caledlatsing the percentage-of-completion
method based on the ratio of total costs incumetbte compared to estimated total costs to comphiet contract. These estimates are reviewec
monthly on a contract-by-contract basis, and avisee periodically throughout the life of the camr such that adjustments to profit resulting
from revisions are made cumulative to the datdefrevision. Significant management judgments atidhates, including the estimated costs
to complete projects, which determine the projgmixent complete, must be made and used in caoneweith the revenue recognized in any
accounting period. Material differences may reguthe amount and timing of our revenue for anyiqueif management makes different
judgments or utilizes different estimates. Durihg teporting periods contained herein, we did égpee revenue and margin adjustment
certain projects based on the aforementioned fechatt the effect of such adjustments, both pasiind negative, when evaluated in total were
determined to be immaterial to the consolidatedrfaial statements.

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues increased $37.8 million oA%B0from $124.2 million for the year ended Decentiier2006 to
$162.0 million for the year ended December 31, 20@narily due to the increase in total revenudte crease was primarily attributable to
cost of revenues of approximately $14.6 millioratetl to the MRC acquisition, offset by decreaseost of revenues as a result of the reducec
revenues in our PSS segment discussed above. @eogs during the year ended December 31, 2006@% decreased from a 2006 gross
margin of 18.9%. The decrease in gross margin pifyn@sulted from a change in the mix of Governm8arvices revenue versus Public
Safety & Security revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expenseeased 2.6% from $38.5 million to
$39.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2062007, respectively. The increase of $1.0 omills primarily due to an increase in cc
reflecting the acquisition of MRC and an increaseternal consulting and professional fees, ssde@al and accounting, partially offset by a
reduction in stock compensation expense of $4.Bamifrom 2006, which decreased from $5.9 millior2006 to $1.0 million in 2007.
Included in the selling, general and adminstragixpenses (SG&A) for 2006 and 2007 is amortizatiopuschased intangibles of $2.0 million
and $2.8 million, respectively. The increase in giration year over year is also a result of the®A&quisition. As a percentage of revenues,
selling, general and administrative expenses dsetefitom 25.1% in 2006 to 20.4% in 2007. Excludimgimpact of the amortization of
purchased intangibles and stock compensation egp&&&A decreased from 20.0% to 19.0% of revenae2006 and 2007, respectively.

Stock Option Investigation, Related Fees$ Racoveries. In the summer of 2006, our current executiveaggment team, which has
been in place since 2004, initiated an investigatibour past stock option granting practices (tbguity Award Review") in reaction to media
reports regarding stock option granting practidgsublic companies. Our 2007 costs of $10.6 milliecluded $14.0 million in legal,
accounting and other professional fees relateditd&quity Award Review which was completed in Segter 2007 and the ongoing
government inquiries by the Department of Justiwttae SEC. This amount was partially offset byA$8illion related to the recovery of
assets from our settlement with our former stodkoopadministrator related to damages for the tb&fiur stock options and common stock
which occurred in 2002 and 2003 and was discoveueithg our internal review of our option grantinggtices. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings
for a further discussion of these items.

Estimated Cost for Settlement of Securitiggation. In March 2008, following a voluntary mediatioh2004 and 2007 securities
litigation, the parties reached a tentative agragrteesettle the class action. See Iltem 3. Legad¢€&dings for a further discussion of these
items. We have accrued an estimated $4.9 millitated to its costs for the settlement of thesgdtibns.
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Contingent Acquisition Consideration andsRéement Fees. In September 2004, we amended the purchaseragres related to two of
the companies acquired in our ENS segment in 20030re accurately reflect the intent of the tratisas, resulting in a rescission of the
continuous employment clauses from the earharrangements, for which we recorded a $12.Haomiaccrual at that time. We had $0.1 mill
in expense associated with contingent acquisit@rsitleration based upon the final payments on tagssements in 2006. There were no
charges incurred in 2007.

Impairment and Restructuring Chargeslmpairment and restructuring charges decre$28d million from $21.8 million in 2006 to
$1.2 million in 2007. During 2006, we recorded ®fillion in impairment and restructuring chargesaaresult of a change in strategic focus
of our PSS segment and a consolidation of our hemtiey facilities, which included $18.3 million fgpodwill impairment related to
acquisitions made in the PSS segment. This wasndo@rt to changes in the industry and the stratixius, the impact of recent and future
expected operating performance, as well as opedtahallenges from significant employee turnovat tve encountered after the completion
of the earn-out periods in early 2006. The balafdbe charge was related to an asset impairmeapjfoximately $1.8 million, an unused
facility charge of approximately $1.4 million redat to facilities consolidation and severance cass®ciated with restructuring activities of
approximately $0.3 million. The costs in 2007 ofZnillion included $0.8 million for an excess féyiaccrual for obligations under facility
leases with unused office space as a result akttent divestitures of our wireless network servisesinesses, $0.2 million related to the
impairment of leasehold improvements for thesdifaas and $0.2 million related to an impairmenfiiged assets.

Other Expense, Net. For the year ended December 31, 2006, net ettpnse was $0.9 million compared to net otheeesg of
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200i& other expense in 2006 was due to interest irammthe note receivable relating to the
sale of our Mexican subsidiary and interest expémsthe borrowings on the line of credit useduad the acquisition of MRC in October
2006. In 2007, in accordance with EITF 87-2flpcation of Interest to Discontinued Operatigniaterest expense on the debt of $2.2 million
that was required to be repaid as a result ofalesf our wireless network services businessallasated to discontinued operations for the
periods presented. See Note 4 of Notes to Congetidéinancial Statements, included in Part IV, ItEsrof this report. Consequently, in 2007
the interest cost for the Line of Credit borrowing®d to fund the MRC acquisition was primarilye#ited to discontinued operations. The net
other expense of $2.3 million in 2007 was primaaitiributable to approximately $1.8 million of anpairment charge, recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2007, related to the carrying valueneBstments to fair value as well as $1.2 milliorindérest expense incurred on our credit
facility.

Provision (benefit) for Income TaxesOur effective income tax rate for the year ehBecember 31, 2006 represented a negative 43%
income tax provision compared to a negative 5%rimetax provision for the year ended December 3Q7 2The tax provision of $13.8 millit
for the year ended December 31, 2006 included eearse to the valuation allowance of $15.9 milkgainst the deferred tax assets. The tax
provision for the year ended December 31, 200ded an increase to the valuation allowance of 88ll&n against the deferred tax assets.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operationd.oss from discontinued operations increasechfadoss of $11.7 million in 2006 to a loss
of $12.6 million during 2007. The increase was priity due to the impairment of assets related éowireless deployment business of
$13.4 million, an impairment of goodwill of $7.2 lfiun related to this business, a $1.9 million Iéesn the disposal of our deployment
business and a $1.1 million excess facility accrliakse charges were all partially offset by a gdifil4.8 million on the sale of the wireless
engineering services business operations and a0§&®2.6 million on the sale of the EMEA busineRevenues and net loss before taxes
generated by these businesses in 2006 were ap@t@tin$201.7 million and $9.8 million, respectivetpmpared to $85.7 million and
$12.7 million, respectively, in 2007. The decrepsar over year was impacted by the
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divestitures of the wireless network services besses in 2007. See Note 4 to the Notes to the Gdatsal Financial Statements for further
discussion of these transactions.

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2005 to the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the yearsceDdcember 31, 2005 and 2006 are as follows (iioms):

%

2005 2006 $ change change
Public Safety & Security Segme $ 67.5 55.€ 11.9) (17.H%
Government Solutions Segme 85.C 97.t 12.t 14.7%
Total revenue $ 152 $ 1531 $ 0.8 0.1%

Revenues increased $0.8 or 0.1% from $15&I®n in 2005 to $153.1 million in 2006. The iw@se in revenues included an increase of
$12.5 million in our Government Solutions segmsnbstantially offset by reduced revenue in our Rubhfety & Security segment.

The decreased revenues in the PSS segi®&ht @ million from 2005 to 2006 was primarilyesult of significant employee turnover,
particularly management sales and business develoippersonnel, that occurred in our Atlanta anddtimu offices following the completion
of the three year acquisition earn-out periodd@atteginning of 2006. The increased revenue iGineernment Network Services segment is a
result of the acquisition of MRC in the fourth gigarof 2006, which contributed $17.6 million in emwes in 2006, offset partially by decreases
due to program delays and program reductions freonaf our DOD Customers.

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues increased $8.5 million or 7f8%n $115.7 million for the year ended DecemberZI05 to
$124.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2@6ss margin during the year ended December@®15 af 24.0% decreased to a gross
margin of 18.9% for the year ended December 316200e increase in cost of revenues was partittitipatable to cost of revenues of
approximately $14.6 million related to the MRC aisition. The decrease in gross margins resultemh fio increased mix of government
network services business, which generally regbeslassification of cost elements based upomiiiefins in accordance with government
contracting regulations. As a result, cost of rexeanin the 2006 periods includes certain cost atsrteat would otherwise be classified as
SG&A expense under a commercial contract arrangerreaddition, the overall decrease in gross nmapgircentage was partially attributable
to a stock-based compensation expense of $0.9miti 2006 related to our adoption of SFAS No. R)3( January 2006, compared to
$0.0 million in 2005 and the impact of cost ovegumthe PSS sector as a result of employee andgeament turnover that occurred following
the completion of the earn-out periods in early@00

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expensesased 8.5% from $35.5 million to
$38.5 million for the years ended December 31, 20252006, respectively. As a percentage of reveragdling, general and administrative
increased from 23.3% in 2005 to 25.1% in 2006. inkecase of $3.0 million is primarily due to thestof stock-based compensation which
was $5.9 million in 2006 or 3.9% of revenues vei®i2 million, net of related tax adjustments, @92 or 0.1% of revenues partially offset by
a reduction in consulting fees. Excluding the stbeked compensation expense, SG&A decreased fréi8 $illion, or 23.2% of revenues, in
2005 to $32.6 million, or 21.3% of revenues, in 200

Contingent Acquisition Consideration andsRéement Fees. In September 2004, we amended the purchaseragres related to two of
the companies acquired in our ENS segment in 2003adre accurately reflect the intent of the tratisas, resulting in a rescission of the
continuous employment clauses from the earn-oanhgements, for which we recorded a $12.4 milliccraal at that time. In September 2005,
we reduced $2.5 million of our contingent acquisitearn-out accruals that was determined to bessxuz@sed on the projected performance of
the division compared to the minimum performancgdts as defined in the earn-out arrangementsebe®ber 2005, we increased our
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contingent acquisition earn-out accruals by $0.Hianj to reflect the financial performance of oviethe acquired entities that exceeded its
previously projected performance. We had $0.1 arilin expense associated with contingent acquisitansideration based upon the final
payments on these agreements in 2006.

Impairment and Restructuring ChargesDuring 2006, we recorded $21.8 million in immpaént and restructuring charges as a result of a
change in strategic focus of our ENS segment azahaolidation of our headquarter facilities, whicbluded $18.3 million for goodwiill
impairment related to acquisitions made in the BE@ment. This was due in part to changes in thesingland our strategic focus, the impact
of recent and future expected operating performaagevell as operational challenges from signifieamployee turnover that we encountered
after the completion of the earn-out periods inye2006. The balance of the charge was related @saet impairment of approximately
$1.8 million, an unused facility charge of approately $1.4 million related to facilities consoligat and severance costs associated with
restructuring activities of approximately $0.3 noifl. No impairment or restructuring charges weraiined in 2005.

Other Income (Expense), NetFor the year ended December 31, 2005, net atheme was $0.3 million compared to net other egpe
of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31,80the increase in net other expense of $1.2 millvas primarily due to the interest that
was incurred on the Key Bank credit facility agault of the MRC acquisition, partially offset thetinterest income earned on the note
receivable for the sale of Mexico.

Provision (benefit) for Income TaxesOur effective income tax rate for the year ehBecember 31, 2005 represented a 3% income tax
benefit compared to a negative 43% income tax prowifor the year ended December 31, 2006. Thbeagfit of $0.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 included a decrease talhation allowance on deferred tax assets based thg Company's projections of taxe
income for 2006, including the reversal of temppdifferences. The reduction in the valuation abbmwe was primarily a result of our
projected forecasts of 2006 taxable income, thenastd timing of reversal of temporary differene@sl the expected utilization of net
operating loss carryforwards. In 2006, the incomeeaxpense of $13.8 million is a result of an iaseeof $15.9 million in our valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets.

Loss from Discontinued OperationsLoss from discontinued operations increasenhfadoss of $2.0 million in 2005 to a loss of
$11.7 million during 2006. Included in the lossrfrdiscontinued operations of $2.0 million for treay ended December 31, 2005 is an
approximate $5.0 million charge related to a woitieof unrecoverable contract costs incurred oessite were building for our customers in
Mexico and South America which were cancelled piaathe completion of the sites. Although we weneer contractual arrangement with
these customers to build these sites, these cesesaontractually unrecoverable from our custordeesto the termination clauses in the
contracts, which did not provide for reimbursemfentin process cancelled sites, unless agreed bpadhe customer. Also included in our loss
from discontinued operation in 2005 is an impairtrerarge of $0.9 million related to accumulateceign currency translation losses as we
a $4.4 million valuation allowance established agaihe deferred tax assets of our discontinuedatipes. Included in the loss from
discontinued operations of $11.7 million for the@yended December 31, 2006 is an impairment ctargpproximately $5.2 million to reduce
the current carrying value of the South Americaarafions to their estimated fair value based uporeat indications of interest. Also incluc
in our loss from discontinued operations in 200&rismpairment charge of $1.7 million related towrulated foreign currency translation
losses. Revenues and net income (loss) before geexesated by these businesses in 2005 were apmatety $265.1 million and net income
$7.1 million, respectively, compared to $201.7 imilland a net loss of $9.8 million, respectivety2D06. The reduction in revenues in 2006
from 2005 reflects the sale of our Latin Americgreiations in February 2006. See Note 4 to the Niotése Consolidated Financial Stateme
for further discussion of these transactions.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2007, we had consol@tlagsh and cash equivalents of $8.6 million, cadatdd long-term and short-term debt of
$76.7 million, and consolidated stockholders eqaft$167.2 million. Our principal sources of ligitidare cash flows from operations and
borrowings under our credit facility.

Net Cash from Operatior

Our operating cash flow is used to finatra€e accounts receivable, fund capital expenditiftsd our ongoing litigation and government
inquiries, and make selective acquisitions. Finag¢iade accounts receivable is necessary beaaniseerage, our customers do not pay us as
quickly as we pay our vendors and employees far eods and services. Cash from continuing opematis primarily derived from our
customer contracts in progress and associated elangvorking capital components. A summary of mefrcash provided by operating
activities from continuing operations from our colidated statement of cash flows is as followsnfitlions):

Years Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007

Net cash used in operating activities of continuspgrations $ B4H) $ (B9 $ (1)

Cash used in operating activities of caritig operations for 2007 decreased by $2.7 miliiom 2006 primarily due to a decrease in days
sales outstanding from 109 days to 101 days, aéteistment for the MRC transaction in 2006 andHbeerstick transaction in 2007, partially
offset by payment related to our internal stockapinvestigation, as well as the timing of paynseot our expenses.

Cash used in investing activities from dmmhg operations are summarized as follows (iHiomk):

2005 2006 2007

Investing activities
Sale/maturity of sho-term investment $ 76 $ — 3 —
Cash paid for contingent acquisition considera 17.3 (8.5 (8.9
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqu (33.¢) (59.0) (63.9)
Proceeds from the disposition of discontinued cjEma — 18.¢ 57.5
Cash transferred from (to) restricted c — (2.0 1.C
Capital expenditure (4.0 1.2 (0.9
Net cash used in investing activities from contiguoperation: $ @471) $ (B09Y $ (159
| |

Cash paid for acquisitions and contingequisition consideration accounted for the mostificant outlays for investing activities in et
of the three years from 2005 to 2007 as a resuli@fmplementation of our strategies to diversify business while focusing on our core
competencies. These acquisitions included Havérsti2007, MRC in 2006, and TLA in 2005.

Investing activities in 2006 and 2007 areduded proceeds of $18.9 million and $57.3 milli@spectively, directly attributable to our <
of our wireless discontinued operations.

Capital expenditures consist primarily mféstment in computer hardware and software andowepnent of our physical properties in
order to maintain suitable conditions to conduatlmusiness.
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Cash provided by financing activities from contmyioperationsare summarized as follows (in millions):

2005 2006 2007
Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common st $ 01 % 04 $ —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraelstock purchase pl: 0.8 — —
Borrowings under credit facility and line of cre — 85.C 88.t
Repayment under line of crel — (34.0 (64.0)
Repayment of capital lease obligatic (0.9 0.3 (0.4
Debt issuance cos (0.3 1.2 (3.0
Net cash provided by financing activities from déoning operation: $ 02 $ 49¢ $ 211

In 2005, we entered into a $15 million éréakility with KeyBank National Association ("K&ank") for general working capital
requirements and to fund future acquisitions. Weerdit draw on this facility until 2006 and in Ocesl2006 we replaced this facility with an
$85 million facility from KeyBank to fund the acaition of MRC. During 2007, we entered into two arments to our credit facility, one in
March and the other in June, which reduced thé facdity to $35 million as a result of the divéates of our wireless network services
businesses. In December 2007, we successfully ia¢gda new $85.0 million credit facility with Ké8ank, which was used primarily to fund
the Haverstick acquisition.

Proceeds from the issuance of common sto2R05 through 2006 are related to the exercisamgfloyee stock options.

Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operatamessummarizeds follows (in millions):

2005 2006 2007

Operating cash flow $ 7.7 64 $ 0.2
Investing cash flow (5.7 (6.6) (1.6
Financing cash flow 4.C 0.1 —
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equis: 1.C 2.7 0.C
Net cash flows of discontinued operatic $ 7€ $ 26 $ @149

Investing cash flow consists of capital @xgitures incurred by our wireless network serveegment. Financing cash flows is the rest
proceeds received on the exercise of stock opbgriee wireless network services employees.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no material off-balance sheet gearents as defined in Regulation S-K 303(a)(4)(ii).
Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In connection with our business acquisiiome have agreed to make additional future paysitergellers based on final purchase price
adjustments and the expiration of certain inderoaifon obligations. Pursuant to the provisionsBAS No. 141, such amounts are accrued,
and therefore, recorded by the Company when thérmgmmncy is resolved beyond a reasonable doubtherde, the additional consideration
becomes payable. In 2007, we paid $4.6 million ofking capital adjustments and approximately $4ilBan of the holdback amounts to the
former MRC shareholders in accordance with the lrase Agreement. As of December 31, 2007, we hgwezimately
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$3.5 million of cash holdback amounts that willreteased subject to indemnity rights due for theQviihd Haverstick acquisitions. The MRC
payment of approximately $2.3 million is due in A@008 and the remaining amounts for Haverstickb® million are due in December 2(
and September 2009. The holdback arrangementseaictenest in accordance to terms in the purchgmeements.

In addition to the indemnity holdback, thaverstick Agreement also calls for a post closiungking capital adjustment. On February 29,
2008 we provided the working capital calculatiorH@verstick, which indicated a working capital a&djnent was due to us primarily because
the working capital, as calculated per the Agredimeas below the target amount. Haverstick haseweed our working capital calculation and
is not in agreement. Their response proposeshbet is actually excess working capital of appratiety $1.5 million. In accordance with the
Agreement, we have fifteen days from the date ofdfstick's objection to resolve the disagreemémedolution has not been achieved within
the fifteen day period, we and Haverstick have flags to agree on a nationally recognized indeparatezounting firm to resolve the
disagreement.

Any amounts earned by shareholders of aedwiompanies for which there were no continuougleypment clauses will result in
additional goodwill recorded for those acquisitiavisen the earn-out consideration is earned. There wo earn-out considerations in
connection with the MRC or Haverstick acquisitiobst in connection with future acquisitions, we nagyee to make additional payments to
sellers contingent upon achievement of performamniéestones by the acquired entities.

On December 31, 2007, we entered into acredit facility of $85.0 million with KeyBanc Capi Markets which replaced the October 2,
2006 credit agreement with Key Bank. This crediilfiy provides for two term loans consisting ofist lien term note of $50.0 million and a
second lien term note of $10.0 million, as wella$yst lien $25 million revolving line of credithe $10.0 million term loan has a five and one
half year term with principal payments required erdy beginning on March 31, 2008 of $25,000 tlgletarch 31, 2013 with the final
balance of $9.5 million due on June 30, 2013. TS@®&million term loan has a five year term witingipal payments required quarterly
beginning on March 31, 2008 of $0.6 million in 208&.3 million in 2009, $2.5 million in 2110, and.$ million in 2011 and 2012. The term
loans have a provision which states that onceutharmount of the note has been borrowed, the reaesot be paid down and reborrowed
again. The revolving line of credit has a four yeam which expires on December 31, 2011 and cesfaiovisions typical in such
arrangements. All loans under the new credit figcilave an interest rate equal to a base rateatbfis a fluctuating rate per annum equal tc
higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate giisof 1% and (b) the rate of interest in effect foclsaay as publicly announced from time to time by
KeyBank as its "prime rate" plus a margin for teet loans of 6.5% to 7.5% and a margin of 1.0%.26% on the revolving line of credit. T
applicable margin at date of borrowing is deterrdibg the ratio of our aggregate debt to our EBITIDAthe previous four fiscal quarters. We
used the credit facility to fund the Acquisitiontdéverstick Consulting Inc. (Haverstick) and tareebutstanding debt under our October 2006
credit facility with Key Bank. The terms of the nenedit agreement require us to provide certaitocnary covenants for a credit agreement,
including certain financial covenants which varyduarter. See schedules 7.12(a) through (e) tothetRirst Lien Credit Agreement and the
Second Lien Credit Agreement which are filed asiEixH10.1 and 10.2 respectively, to our Currenpé&eon Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 7, 2008, and which are incorporated héremeference.

As of December 31, 2007, our outstandingrize on the facility was $75.5 million and the gteed average interest rate on the debt
borrowed during 2007 was 8.3%. This includes $3lbam of interest expense and financing coststezlgo the October 2006 credit facility
and the new facility dated December 31, 2007. Eptacement of the October 2006 facility resulted inrite-off of $1.0 million in deferred
financing costs. We have $3.3 million in deferrgxdncing costs outstanding as
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of December 31, 2007 which are related to the ramiliiy and are being amortized over the four, e five and one half year life of the
respective underlying notes.

On February 11, 2008, we entered into timgrest swap agreements with Key Bank, to fixabeLIBOR rate to an average of 3.16%
the term of the swap agreements. The effective afatee swaps were February 14, 2008. The notiamedunts and expiration dates of the s
agreements are $15 million and March 31, 2010;5&8llion and March 31, 2011; and $32.5 million evidrch 31, 2011.

In March 2008 we entered into a tentatigeeament to settle the 2004 and 2007 securitiss @etion litigation actions (described in
Item 3 Legal Proceedings), and as a result, werdedoa $4.9 million charge in the quarter endedelddier 31, 2007 to accrue our share of the
settlement amounts, and an estimate for a contiriigdaility associated with legal proceedings rethto the derivative actions, net of the
amounts to be covered by our insurance carriers. éansequence of recording this legal settlenventlid not meet certain of the financial
covenants in accordance with the Credit Agreemettordingly, on March 27, 2008, we obtained an admeent and waiver from our lenders
to waive the impact of the legal settlement amoontsur financial covenants as of December 31, 20@i7the affected future periods. The
amendment also amended the Credit Agreement tadader an increase in the LIBOR floor rate to #28&nd to require that we set aside in a
restrictedaccount approximately 50% of the proceeds of thewery from the theft of stock options by our fomstock option administrator,
approximately $1.7 million, to fund these settletr@mounts. The lenders have also reserved thetdgletuire us to utilize the entire amount
of the $3.4 million in proceeds received from theft of stock options to permanently pay down irtddhess. This right can be exercised no
earlier than 60 days from March 27, 2008 and espiggon our compliance with financial covenants unide Credit Agreement for the four
consecutive quarters commencing after Januaryd8.20

The net benefit of the swap agreementgemiato by us on February 11, 2008 has been relddog¢he LIBOR floor included in the
amendment and waiver discussed above. The cogtdatathis amendment will be recorded as defdinathcing costs for the credit facility in
the first quarter of 2008.

The following table summarizes our currgetisting contractual obligations and other commeitts at December 31, 2007, and the effect
such obligations could have on our liquidity andrcélow in future periods (in millions):

Payments due/forecast by Period

2013 and
Total 2008 2009-2010 2011-2012 After

Long-term debt, net of interest( $ 758 % 19 $ 24C % 436 $ 6.C

Capital leases(t 1.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.€

Estimated interest on debt( 21.€ 74 10.€ 85 0.1

Other liabilities(3) 3.E 2.9 0.€ — —

Purchase orders(: 43.7 40.7 1kt 0.€ 0.¢

Operating leases(! 16.2 5.6 8.C 1.8 0.¢
Interpretation 48 obligations, including interesti

penalties(6’ 3. 1.4 1.2 0.t 0.8

Total commitments and recorded liabiliti $ 1655 $ 60C $ 46.1 $ 50.2 $ 9.2

(1) The Key Bank Credit Facility. The payments showa @ur present forecast which contemplates that ivgay off the Key Bank
Credit Facility by the due date of June 2013. Timeual payment requirements for long-term debt @igns are $2.6 million in 2008,
$15.2 million in 2009
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to 2010, $32.7 million in 2011 to 2012, and $9.Hio in 2013. See "Notes to Consolidated FinanSi@tements" Note 8(a) for further
details.

2) Includes interest payments based on current irtteaig=s for variable rate debt and fixed rate d@isied upon our swap arrangeme
See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement$& R¢) for further details.

3) Primarily the obligations under the working capaadjustment clause and holdback payments relatétetacquisition of MRC and
Haverstick. See "Notes to Consolidated Financiateédtents" Note 6 for further details.

4) Purchase orders include commitments in which aevripurchase order has been issued to a vendahégbods have not been
received or services have not been performed.

(5) See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements$& N0 for further details

(6) The FIN 48 obligations shown in the above tableasent certain uncertain tax positions. The yaarsvhich the uncertain tax positio
will reverse have been estimated in schedulingtiligations in the table above.

As of December 31, 2007 we have $2.4 nmiltid standby letters of credit outstanding. Outelest of credit are related to our workers
compensation program, as support for our performdond program and for our work overseas. Additiarfarmation regarding our financial
commitments at December 31, 2007 is provided imtites to our consolidated financial statements."Sletes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies."

Other Liquidity Matters

We intend to fund our cash requirements wish flows from operating activities, and bormogs under our current Credit Facilities and
future Credit Facilities. We believe these soustesuld be sufficient to meet our cash needs fteest the next 12 months. However, we ex
to pay for the settlement of our shareholder ltimain the second half of 2008 as discussed ireN@t—Legal Matters to our audited
consolidated financial statements included in ligrof Part IV of this Annual Report and we may needaise additional funds to pay for this
settlement. In addition, if we become subject gm#icant judgments, settlements or fines relatethe matters discussed in Note 17—Legal
Matters to our audited consolidated financial stegets included in Item 15 of Part IV of this AnniRgport, or any other matters, or incur le
fees in excess of our current expectations, wedcbelrequired to make significant payments thatccmaterially and adversely affect our
financial condition, potentially impacting our ahjlto access the capital markets and our compdiavith our debt covenants.

As discussed in Part II, Item 1A, "Risk tas" section of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kir quarterly and annual operating results
have fluctuated in the past and may vary in therutlue to a variety of factors, many of whichexternal to our control. If the conditions in
our industry deteriorate or our customers cancelostpone projects or if we are unable to suffidyeimcrease our revenues or further reduce
our expenses, we may experience, in the futurigiréfisant long-term negative impact to our finaalaiesults and cash flows from operations.
In such a situation we could fall out of compliangéh our financial and other covenants which,dt waived, could limit our liquidity and
capital resources.

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

We have identified the following criticad@unting policies that affect our more significardgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemenhe preparation of our financial statementsoimfarmity with accounting principles
generally accepted in
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the United States of America requires us to makenages and judgments that affect the reported asoef assets and liabilities, stockholders'
equity, revenues and expenses, and related disebsiticontingent assets and liabilities. On agakcibasis, as deemed necessary, we evaluat:
our estimates, including those related to reveraegnition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuabf long-lived assets including

identifiable intangibles and goodwill, accountirg fncome taxes including the related valuatiooa#ince, accruals for partial self-insurance,
contingencies and litigation and contingent acgjoisiconsideration. We explain these accountingcied in the notes to the audited
consolidated financial statements and at relevectians in this discussion and analysis. Thesenagis are based on the information that is
currently available and on various other assumpttbat are believed to be reasonable under themegtances. Actual results could vary from
those estimates under different assumptions oritonsl.

Revenue recognition. We derive a significant percentage of our rexefiom long-term contracts and account for thesgracts under
the provisions of Statement of Position 81-1, "Aauting for Performance of Construction-Type andt@larProduction-Type Contracts".
Revenue on time and materials contracts is recedras services are rendered at contracted |lales phts material and other direct costs
incurred. The portion of our revenue derived fraxed-price contracts accounted for approximatelyl %d of our revenues for 2007. Revenue
on fixed-price contracts is recognized using the@atage-of-completion method based on the rattotaf costs incurred to date compared to
estimated total costs to complete the contractirases of costs to complete include material, dil#zor, overhead, and allowable general and
administrative expenses for our government corgradiese cost estimates are reviewed and, if negessvised monthly on a contract-by-
contract basis. If, as a result of this review,degermine that a loss on a contract is probabds the full amount of estimated loss is charge
operations in the period it is determined thas piobable a loss will be realized from the fulifpemance of the contract. In certain instance
which it is impractical to estimate the final outee of the project margin, but it is certain thatwi# not incur a loss on the project, we may
record revenue equal to cost incurred, at zero imalgthe event that our cost incurred to date fto@yn excess of our funded contract value,
we may defer those costs until the associated actntalue has been funded by the customer. Ondintileestimate of the outcome of the
project margin is determined, we will record revemsing the percentage-of-completion method of atiiog based on the ratio of total costs
incurred to date compared to the estimated tottkdo complete the project. Significant managemetgments and estimates, including but
not limited to the estimated costs to completegmis, must be made and used in connection withetrenue recognized in any accounting
period. The revenue we recognize in a given repgitieriod depends on: (1) the costs we have inddoreindividual projects; (2) our then
current estimate of the total remaining costs toglete individual projects; and (3) the currentreated contract value associated with the
projects. If, in any period, we increase or deaaas estimate of the total costs to complete geptoand/or reduce or increase the associated
contract value, revenue for that period would bpaoted. As a result, our gross margin in such gaial in future periods may be affected. To
the extent that our estimates fluctuate over timeiffer from actual results, gross margins in fdgent periods may vary significantly from
our estimates. Material differences may resulhmamount and timing of our revenue for any peifiodanagement made different judgments
or utilized different estimates.

A cancellation, schedule delay, or modifiwa of a fixed-price contract which is accounted dising the percentage-of-completion method
may adversely affect our gross margins for thegakin which the contract is modified or cancellgtider certain circumstances, a cancellation
or negative modification could result in us havingeverse revenue that we recognized in a pridog@gthus significantly reducing the amount
of revenues we recognize for the period in whighaljustment is made. Correspondingly, a positigdifitation may positively affect our
gross margins. In addition, a schedule delay orifitations can result in an increase in estimatest to complete the project, which would
also result in an impact to our gross margin.
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In addition, many of our contracts includgestone billings. If a contract is terminatedfahe scope of a contract changes prior to a
milestone billing, the amount of revenue we recegmnay change, based upon the specific terminatirses of the contract, which would
affect our revenue and gross margin in the pernoghich the contract is terminated or the scophénged.

During the reporting periods contained heree did experience revenue and margin adjustsnantertain projects based on the
aforementioned factors.

Allowance for doubtful accounts.We maintain an allowance for doubtful accodatestimated losses resulting from the potential
inability of certain customers to make requiredifetpayments on amounts due to us. Managementrde&s the adequacy of this allowance
by periodically evaluating the aging and past dateire of individual customer accounts receivablardi@es and considering the customer's
current financial situation as well as the existimgustry economic conditions and other relevaotdes that would be useful towards assessing
the risk of collectibility. If the future financialondition of our customers were to deterioratsylteng in their inability to make specific
required payments, additions to the allowance &ardful accounts may be required. In additionhéd financial condition of our customers
improves and collections of amounts outstandingroence or are reasonably assured, then we may eepergiously established allowances
for doubtful accounts. Changes to estimates ofraohtalue are recorded as adjustments to revemdia@ as a component of the allowance
for doubtful accounts. We write off accounts reedile when they become uncollectible and paymenitsesjuently received on such
receivables are credited to the allowance for doliatcounts.

Long-lived and Intangible AssetsWe account for long-lived assets in accordamitie the provisions of SFAS No. 14Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asg88FAS 144"). SFAS 144 addresses financial accagrand reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. This Statement reguhat long-lived assets be reviewed for impairtmehenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnoisset may not be recoverable. Recoverabilityessured by comparing the carrying
amount of an asset to the expected future netftmsh generated by the asset. If it is determired the asset may not be recoverable and
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimategdlue, an impairment charge is recognized ¢oetktent of the difference. SFAS 144
requires companies to separately report discordimperations, including components of an entity #ither have been disposed of (by sale,
abandonment or in a distribution to owners) orsiféed as held for sale. Assets to be disposedefeported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

In accordance with SFAS 144, we assessrthairment of identifiable intangibles and longdi/assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value maybe recoverable. Factors we consider importdmt¢tweould individually or in combinatic
trigger an impairment review include the following:

. significant underperformance relative to expectistbhical or projected future operating results;

. significant changes in the manner of our use obttguired assets or the strategy for our overalinass;
. significant negative industry or economic trer

. significant decline in our stock price for a suséa period; and

. our market capitalization relative to net book ealu

If we determined that the carrying valuerséngibles and long-lived assets may not be re@hle based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment, we waelcord an impairment equal to the excess of éingying amount of the asset over its
estimated fair value.
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On a quarterly basis, we assess whethett®we changes in circumstances have occurregttantially indicate the carrying value of
long-lived assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Asset3Ve evaluate our goodwill and intangible asgatémpairment pursuant to SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset'SFAS 142"), which provides that goodwill and atiangible assets with indefinite lives are not
amortized but tested for impairment annually or enfoequently if circumstances indicate potentigb&inment. The impairment test is
comprised of two steps:

(1) A reporting unit's fair value is coarpd to its carrying value. The carrying valuesadh reporting unit are determined by
specifically identifying and allocating the assatal liabilities of the Company to each reporting based on headcount, relative
revenues or costs, or other methods as deemedmjapecby management. If the fair value is lesstitgcarrying value, impairment is
indicated,;

(2) ifimpairment is indicated in thedfirstep, it is measured by comparing the impliégdvi@ue of goodwill and intangible assets
to their carrying value at the reporting unit level

Accounting for income taxes and tax comirgies. In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB InterpretatNo. 48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes" ("Interpretation N8} Interpretation No. 48 clarifies the accountfog uncertainty in income taxes recogni:
in an enterprise's financial statements in accarglavith SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income TaXésterpretation No. 48 prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribut¢hifinancial statement recognition and measur¢wfes tax position taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return. Interpretation No. 48® g@iovides guidance on derecognition, classificgtioterest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure and transition. We daddphe provisions of Interpretation No. 48 effeetlanuary 1, 2007.

As part of the process of preparing oursotidated financial statements we are requiredgstionate our provision for income taxes in each
of the tax jurisdictions in which we conduct busiseThis process involves estimating our actuakctitax expense in conjunction with the
evaluation and measurement of temporary differeregdting from differing treatment of certain itefior tax and accounting purposes. These
temporary differences result in the establishméuiederred tax assets and liabilities, which ae®rded on a net basis and included in our
consolidated balance sheet. We then assess oiodipdrasis the probability that our net deferrexl assets will be recovered and, therefore
realized from future taxable income and to the mixiee believe that recovery is not more likely them, a valuation allowance is established to
address such risk resulting in an additional rellgmvision for income taxes during the period.

Significant management judgment is requiredetermining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax
contingencies, unrecognized tax benefits, and agyired valuation allowance, including taking istmsideration the probability of the tax
contingencies being incurred. Management assdsisgsrobability based upon information provideditoby our tax advisors, our legal
advisors and similar tax cases. If at a later timeassessment of the probability of these taxiegahcies changes, our accrual for such tax
uncertainties may increase or decrease.

We have a valuation allowance at DecemliePB07, due to management's overall assessmesksfand uncertainties related to our
future ability to realize and, hence, utilize certdeferred tax assets, primarily consisting of oygrating losses, carry forward temporary
differences and future tax deductions resultingnficertain types of stock option exercises, befoey expire.

The 2007 effective tax rate at December2BD,7 for annual and interim reporting periods ddug impacted if uncertain tax positions that
are not recognized at December 31, 2007 are settled amount which differs from our estimate. Bynaluring 2008, if we are impacted by a
change in the valuation allowance as of Decembg2@Qa7 resulting from a change in judgment regay dire
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realizability of deferred tax assets beyond Decemtie 2007, such effect will be recognized in thtefim period in which the change occurs.

Accrual for partial self-insurance. We maintain an accrual for our health and warle®mpensation partial self-insurance, which is a
component of total accrued expenses in the coraelicbalance sheets. Management determines theaaeof these accruals based on a
monthly evaluation of our historical experience &mehds related to both medical and workers congi@nsclaims and payments, information
provided to us by our insurance broker, industnyezience and average lag period in which claimgpai@. If such information indicates that
our accruals require adjustment, we will, correslogly, revise the assumptions utilized in our noelilogies and reduce or provide for
additional accruals as deemed appropriate. Wecalsy stop-loss insurance that provides coveragiifig our total exposure related to each
medical and workers compensation claim incurrediedimed in the applicable insurance policies. ealical and workers compensation lin
per claim are $100,000 and $250,000, respectively.

Contingencies and litigation. We are currently involved in certain legal predings. We estimate a range of liability relategending
litigation where the amount and range of loss acaediimated. We record our estimate of a loss wieloss is considered probable and
estimable. Where a liability is probable and thera range of estimated loss and no amount inathgeris more likely than any other number in
the range, we record the minimum estimated liabitfated to the claim in accordance with SFAS Bld'Accounting for Contingencies.” As
additional information becomes available, we asHes@otential liability related to our pendindddtion and revise our estimates. Revisions in
our estimates of potential liability could matelgampact our results of operations. See Parttéinl 1 "Legal Proceedings" for additional
information.

Share-Based PaymentsBeginning in fiscal year 2006, we account foare-based compensation arrangements in accordatictne
provisions of Statement of Financial Accountingrigi@rds No. 123R ("SFAS 123R") "Shdased Payments," which requires the measure
and recognition of compensation expense for allesbased payment awards to employees and dirdudses! on estimated fair values. Prior to
adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted for share-beserpensation using the intrinsic value-based nieth@ccordance with Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accountiftg Stock Issued to Employees.” We adopted SFAR128ng the modified prospective
transition method.

The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R applyew awards and to awards that are outstandinbeeffective date and subsequently
modified or cancelled. Under the modified prospextipplication, which we used, prior periods areravised for comparative purposes. We
use the Black-Scholes option valuation model toveste the fair value of our stock options at thengdate. The Black-Scholes option
valuation model was developed for use in estimatiegfair value of traded options which have naingsrestrictions and are fully transferat
Our employee stock options are generally subjegesting restrictions and are generally not traadfie.

Option pricing models require the inpuhafhly subjective assumptions including the expgat®ck price volatility over the term of the
award, the expected life of an option and the nurobawards ultimately expected to vest. Changdbése assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimates of an option. Furthermtre estimated fair value of an option does noeasarily represent the value that will
ultimately be realized by an employee. We usedlitsil data to estimate the expected forfeiture, ratrinsic and historical data to estimate
the expected price volatility, and a weighted-ageraxpected life formula to estimate the expecfgbo life. The risk-free rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegadnt for the estimated life of the option.

Estimates of share-based compensation sgpere significant to our consolidated finandialesnents, but these expenses are based on
option valuation models and will never result ie th
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payment of cash by us. For this reason, and becegisi®d not view share-based compensation as relai@ar operational performance, we
exclude estimated share-based compensation expéeseevaluating the business performance of ouratipg segments.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, FASB issued Interpretation 48) Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—haterpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting fmcertainty in tax positions. This Interpretati@quires that we recognize the impact
tax position in our financial statements, if thasjion is more likely than not of being sustairedaudit, based on the technical merits of the
position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective fiscal years beginning after December 15, 200&) the cumulative effect of the change in
accounting principle recorded as an adjustmenpeming retained earnings. The application of thée®nent reduced our retained earnings on
January 1, 2007 by $0.1 million to increase resefgeuncertain tax positions.

The SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin. 68 ("SAB 108") in September 2006. SAB 108 expeashe views of the SEC staff
regarding the process of quantifying the mateyiaitfinancial misstatements. SAB 108 requires lihthbalance sheet and income statement
approaches be used when quantifying the materiaflitgisstatement amounts. In addition, SAB 108 amst guidance on correcting errors
under the dual approach and provides transitiodangde for correcting errors existing in prior ye&8B 108 was effective in the Company's
fourth quarter of 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 wad have a material impact on the Company's cafeteld financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFASING, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157"). Tiesv standard provides guidance for
using fair value to measure assets and liabiléies information about the extent to which compamesgsure assets and liabilities at fair value,
the information used to measure fair value, andeffext of fair value measurements on earningss Traimework is intended to provide
increased consistency in how fair value determimatiare made under various existing accountinglatals which permit, or in some cases
require, estimates of fair market value. SFAS 1IS@ axpands financial statement disclosure requérémabout a company's use of fair value
measurements, including the effect of such measuresmrnings. The provisions of SFAS 157 are affedor financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Tbhenpany is in the process of determining the irhphthis statement on its consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASBestaint No. 159The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finogl Liabilities—
Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No.This standard permits an entity to choose to measany financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value. This optionvsitable to all entities, including not-fgrofit organizations. Most of the provisions in t8taen
159 are elective; however, the amendment to FASBe8tent No. 115Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8kecurities
applies to all entities with available-for-sale arating securities. Some requirements apply difidy to entities that do not report net income.
The FASB's stated objective in issuing this staddsas follows: "to improve financial reporting pyoviding entities with the opportunity to
mitigate volatility in reported earnings causednbyasuring related assets and liabilities diffegewithout having to apply complex hedge
accounting provisions."

The fair value option established by Staeti59 permits all entities to choose to measligiébke items at fair value at specified election
dates. A business entity will report unrealizechgaind losses on items for which the fair valuéoophas been elected in earnings (or another
performance indicator if the business entity dossr@port earnings) at each subsequent reportiteg danot-for-profit organization will report
unrealized gains and losses in its statement ofites or similar statement. The fair value opti¢a) may be applied instrument by instrument,
with a few exceptions, such as investments otheratsounted for by the equity method; (b) is in@lde (unless a new election date occurs);
and (c) is applied only to entire instruments aatlta portions of instruments.
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Statement 159 is effective as of the bagmof an entity's first fiscal year that begineeafNovember 15, 2007. Early adoption is
permitted as of the beginning of the previous figear provided that the entity makes that choicthe first 120 days of that fiscal year and
also elects to apply the provisions of FASB StatetnNo. 157 Fair Value Measurement$he Company is in the process of determining the
impact of this statement on its consolidated finascstatements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFASIMA. (revised 2007) ("SFAS 141R"), "Business Comtodma” and SFAS No. 160
("SFAS 160") "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidd Financial Statements, an amendment of AccogiResearch Bulletin No. 51".
SFAS 141R will change how business acquisitionsaac®unted for and will impact financial statemesagh on the acquisition date and in
subsequent periods. SFAS 160 will change the aditmuand reporting for minority interests, whichivoie recharacterized as noncontrolling
interests and classified as a component of eqiitg. provisions of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 are éffedbr financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008lyEsatoption is not permitted. The Company is in phecess of determining the impact of
these statements on its consolidated financiadstants.

Related Party Transactions
For detailed information regarding relapedty transactions, see Note 15 of our consolidfiteghcial statements.
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

We are exposed to market risk in conneatith changes in interest rates, primarily in cactien with outstanding balances under our
credit facility with KeyBank National AssociatioBased on our average outstanding balances durgngetér ended December 31, 2007 a 1%
change in the LIBOR rate would impact our finangiasition and results of operations by approxinya$€.4 million over the next year. We
not utilize any derivative financial instrumentshtedge interest rate risks in 2007 or in prior ge@ash and cash equivalents as of
December 31, 2007 were $8.6 million and are prilparivested in money market interest bearing actaauh hypothetical 10% adverse chai
in the average interest rate on our money marlgt cevestments and short-term investments woule had no material effect on net income
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item islided in Part IV Item 15(a)(1) and (2) of this Arah Report on Form 10-K.
Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéwnting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procesiuas defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15¢ehpigated under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Ad¢€9igned to ensure that information required tdibelosed in our reports filed under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedeqmited within the time periods specified in 8eturities and Exchange Commission's
rules and forms, and that such information is aadated and communicated to our management, inauaiim Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, taalltimely decisions regarding required disclostmedesigning and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizeanlyatontrols and procedures, no matter how weligshed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
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control objectives, and management necessarilyre@sred to apply its judgment in evaluating thetdmenefit relationship of possible conti
and procedures.

As required by Rule 13a-15(e) promulgatedar the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluatioder the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Bipal Executive Officer and Principal Financial 0#fr, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procesias of the end of the period covered by thienteBased on the foregoing, our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officaancluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective at the reasonable
assurance level as of December 31, 2007.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over FiriahBeporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control divemncial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Urtte supervision and with the participation of cnanagement, including our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officare conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuointernal control over financial
reporting based on the frameworklinternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission (COSO Framework). Based oretratuation, our management concluded that ourriateontrol over financial
reporting is effective as of December 31, 2007.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in conditions or
that the degree of compliance with the policies pratedures may deteriorate.

Grant Thornton LLP, the independent regéstepublic accounting firm who audited the Compamypnsolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K, has issued a reporttenCompany's internal control over financial rejmgy, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin

During 2007, we completed the integratibiMadison Research Corporation's historical inteceatrols into our own internal control o
financial reporting. Integration changes are ineldith our assessment of internal controls ovenfired reporting at December 31, 2007.

On May 10, 2007, we completed a signifiagpgrade to the Oracle financial accounting systeftware used primarily by the U.S.
divisions of our Wireless Network Services segm8uabsequently, as discussed further in Note 4d@timsolidated financial statements
covered by this report, we completed the sale oflb8. engineering services business and wirelespyment business. The financial
accounting system software was included in the gialke wireless deployment business. As a rethétjnternal control over financial report
that formerly operated at these businesses wetaded from our assessment of internal control divemncial reporting at December 31, 2007.

On December 31, 2007, we completed theisitipm of Haverstick Consulting, Inc. (Haversticdad, as permitted by SEC guidance, we
excluded from our assessment of the effectivenkgardanternal control over financial reporting @sDecember 31, 2007, the internal control
over financial reporting of this entity. Total asseelated to Haverstick of $111.1 million and reenue for the date of acquisition of
December 31, 2007 are included in our consolidfiteshcial statements as of and for the year endstember 31, 2007. We plan to integrate
Haverstick's historical internal control over firéad reporting into our own internal control ovérdncial reporting in 2008. Accordingly,
certain changes will be made to our internal cdrtver financial reporting until such time as tmgegration is complete.
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Except as described above, there were anggs in our internal control over financial acammand reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during fiseal year ended December 31, 2007 that haveriabyeaffected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense and Security Solutions, Inc.

We have audited Kratos Defense and Sec8dtytions, Inc. (a Delaware Corporation) and dlibsies' (the "Company") internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&€dl on criteria establishedlirternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission (COSO). The Company's managemeasonsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efrat control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management's Report on Int€patrol over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiis to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reportased on our audit.

As indicated in Management's Report onrfrgeControl over Financial Reporting, managemeagsessment of and conclusion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting did not include the internal controls &f vholly-owned subsidiary, Haverstick
Consulting Inc. which was acquired on December2BD7 and constituted approximately 33% of totalsodidated assets as of December 31,
2007 and none of the total consolidated revenueth&year then ended. Our audit of internal cdrver financial reporting of Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. also did nofude an evaluation of the internal control ovegfinial reporting of this acquired company.

We conducted our audit in accordance withstandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgkt8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaiborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.
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In our opinion, Kratos Defense and Secusityutions, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, imaterial respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&eudl on the criteria establishednternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by COSC

We have also audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company asadrblger 31, 2006 and 2007, and the related consadiddatements of operations,

stockholders' equity and cash flows for each oftlinee years in the period ended December 31, 2080ur report dated March 27, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Irvine, California
March 27, 2008

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.

60




PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item isanporated by reference of the Registrant's PraageSient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fi@07.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2207.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afithanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBent or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2207.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fit@07.

Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2207.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Stateme&thedules
D) Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &002007
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' EquityHerYears Ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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All other schedules for which provisiomigde in the applicable accounting regulations efSEC are not required under the related
instructions or are inapplicable and therefore Haeen omitted.

2) Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Filing
Exhibit Date/Period Filed-Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form End Date Herewith

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement by and among thep@oym JMA 8K 02/02/0¢
Associates, Inc. d/b/a TLA Associates, and the I8tolders of
JMA Associates, Inc., dated as of January 27, 2

2.2 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated Februargdd®, by and 8K 02/23/0¢
between Sakoki LLC and the Compa

2.3 Addendum and Waiver Related to the Equity Purcihageement 1C¢-Q 06/30/0¢
dated June 26, 2006, by and between Sakoki LLCtznd
Company.

2.4 Merger Agreement, dated August 8, 2006, ltyaanong the 8K 08/14/0¢
Company, WFI Government Services, Inc., MRC Merger
Company, Inc. and Madison Research Corpora

25 Agreement dated as of March 9, 2007 by ahaden LCC 10K 12/31/0¢
Wireless Engineering Services Limited and the Camp

2.6 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated April 20, 2007ary betwee 1C-K 12/31/0¢
the Company and Strategic Project Services, L

2.7 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 29, 2007, thypetweer 8-K 05/30/0°
the Company and LCC International, I

2.8 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 7, 2007, ¢hyatween th 8K 07/12/07
Company and Burgundy Acquisition Corporati

29 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated Novergb2007, by and 8K 11/07/0°
among the Company, Kratos Government Solutions, Inc
Haverstick Acquisition Corporation and Haverstick
Consulting, Inc

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat 1C-Q 09/30/0:

3.2 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Kratos Defked. 8-K 9/12/07
Security Solutions, Inc. into Wireless Facilitiéss.

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as deal 8-K 01/07/0¢
December 31, 200°

3.4 Certificate of Designations, PreferencesRigghts of Series A 10Q 09/30/0:
Preferred Stock

3.5 Certificate of Designations, PreferencesRigits of Series B 8K/IA 06/05/0:
Preferred Stock

3.6 Certificate of Designation of Series C Preferreoc&t 8-K 12/17/0¢

4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and

4.2 Specimen Stock Certificat S-1 08/18/9¢
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4.3 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 20Q4/cea the 8-K 12/17/0¢
Company and Wells Fargo, N..

10.1# 1997 Stock Option Plai S-1 08/18/9¢

10.2# Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuarih&1997 Stock S4/A 09/10/9¢
Option Plan and related terms and conditi

10.3# 1999 Equity Incentive Plai S-1 08/18/9¢

10.4# Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuanh&1999 Equity S4/A 09/10/9¢
Incentive Plan

10.5# 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and relatedraft S-1 08/18/9¢
documents

10.6# Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between the Camganc S-1 08/18/9¢
certain officers and directors of the Compe

10.7# 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Pl 1C-Q 09/30/0(

10.8# Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant Noticeduige 1C-Q 09/30/0(

connection with the 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Optdan.
10.9# Executive Employment Agreement by and betwbe Company 1R- 12/26/0:



10.10#

10.11#

10.12#
10.13#
10.14#
10.15#
10.16#
10.17
10.18
10.19

10.20

10.21

and Eric DeMarco effective November 14, 20

Amended and Restated Severance and ChaGgatrol
Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between the Comaady
Deanna Lund

Amended and Restated Severance and ChaGgatrol
Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between the Comaady
James Edward:

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation PI

2005 Equity Incentive Pla

Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuariéo2005 Equity
Incentive Plan

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreemertt Baorm of Notice of
Grant under the Company's 2005 Equity Incentive f
Severance and Change of Control Agreement datetllagy 12,
2007 between the Company and Laura L. Sie

Form of Subordinated Promissory Note issyedCC
International, Inc. to the Compar

Form of Subordination Agreement executetl®¢
International, Inc., the Company and Bank of Ameerid.A.
Note Sale Agreement, dated July 3, 2007, by anddst SPCI
Group, LLC International, Inc. and the Compa
Assignment Agreement, dated July 3, 2007, by anohanthe
Company, SPCP Group LLC, LCC International, Ina &ank of
America, N.A.

Form of Earnout Agreement executed by the Compan!
Burgundy Acquisition Corporatiot
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10K

10K

1C-K
S-8
S8
8K
1C-K
8K
8K
8-K

8-K

8-K

12/31/0¢

12/31/0¢

12/31/0¢
08/01/0¢
08/01/0¢
01/17/07
09/11/07
5/30/07
5/30/07
7/10/07

7/10/07

7/12/07




10.22 Facility Letter, dated October 24, 2007ahg between the 8K 11/07/0:
Company and KeyBank Capital Marke

10.23 First Lien Credit Agreement among Kratos Defens8e&urity 8-K 01/07/0¢
Solutions, Inc., KeyBank National Association, administrative
Agent and Lender and the other financial institogiparties
thereto and Keybanc Capital Markets as lead arraanyd book
runner, dated as of December 31, 2(

10.24 Second Lien Credit Agreement among Kratos DefenSzéurity 8-K 01/07/0¢
Solutions, Inc., KeyBank National Association, administrative
Agent and Lender, the other financial institutiquasties thereto
and Keybanc Capital Markets as lead arranger anll honer,
dated as of December 31, 20

211 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 ¢ *
the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 20(

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 ¢ *
the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 20(

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adoptet *

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062 for
Eric M. DeMarco.
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adoptet *
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062 for
Deanna Lund

# Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangement required to be filed as an extoltiis form.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, réegistrant has duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

Date: March 27, 2008

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC

By: /sl ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. DeMarco
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidrelow by the following persons on behalf

of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ite indicated:

Signature Title

Date

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

President and Chief Executive Officer
Eric M. DeMarcao

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Deanna H. Lunt

s/ LAURA L. SIEGAL VP, Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting

Laura L. Siega Officer
/s/ SCOTT ANDERSON
Director
Scott Andersol
/s/ BANDEL CARANO
Director
Bandel Carani
/s/ SCOT JARVIS
Director

Scot Jarvis
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense and Security Solutions, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselibalance sheets of Kratos Defense and Secullityi&@ts, Inc. (a Delaware Corporation)
and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of Decembe326 and 2007, and the related consolidated stattsnof operations, stockholders' eqt
and cash flows for each of the three years in gre@d ended December 31, 2007. These financiareetts are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to@sgan opinion on these financial statements basedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenewntelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the financial position of K&
Defense and Security Solutions, Inc. and subsilaas of December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the seduteir operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endeceBder 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting prpies generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 of the notes to clidated financial statements, on January 1, 2666Company has adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123®)are-Based Paymerits

As discussed in Note 10 of the notes tsobdated financial statements, on January 1, 20@/Company has adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation48o" Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Iptetation of FASB Statement
No. 109"

We have also audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogétdoard (United States), Kratos
Defense and Security Solutions, Inc.'s internatrmbover financial reporting as of December 3102®ased on criteria establishedriternal
Control—Integrated Framewotiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report
dated March 27, 2008 expressed an unqualified opithiereon.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Irvine, California
March 27, 2008
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.

(in millions, except par value and number of shargs

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Income taxes receivab
Prepaid expenst
Notes receivabl
Other current asse
Current assets of discontinued operati

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Goodwill

Other intangibles, ne

Deferred tax asse

Investments in unconsolidated affilia:
Other asset

Non current assets of discontinued operat

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensatic
Line of credit
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncetepl contract
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat
Income taxes payab
Accrual for unused office spa
Other current liabilitie:
Current portion of lon-term debt
Current portion of capital lea:
Current liabilities of discontinued operatic

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portic

Accrual for unused office space, net of currentipar
Capital least

Deferred tax liabilitie:

Other liabilities

Non current liabilities of discontinued operatic

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 1, 2, 6, 80916 and 17
Stockholders' equity

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized SBri@snvertible Preferred Stock, $.001 par valued@0 shares outstanding at December 3:

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2006 and 2007

2006 and 2007 (liquidation preference $5.0 miliariDecember 31, 2006 and 20!

Common stock, $.001 par value, 195,000,000 shatherdzed; 73,883,950 and 78,998,922 shares issuedutstanding at December 31, 2C

and 2007, respective
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Total stockholders' equit

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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2006 2007
$ 54 % 8.6
1.0 —

59.2 77.

2.6 1.c

2.1 7.4

— 2.6

34 8.7

67.C 1€

140.¢ 106.¢

6.1 6.c

129.¢ 194.

13.4 19.¢

6.5 —

2.1 0.3

1. 6.7

37.C 0.

$ 3377 $ 335.
[ s |
$ 164 $ 22.7
5.0 14.5

6.4 9.

51.C —

4.0 10.¢

1.3 —

0.8 2.

— 0.2

0.8 1.c

— 13.4

0.4 2.6

— 0.

495 5.3

144.¢ 83.c

— 72.

1.8 1.4

— 1.1

— 2.

2.¢ 45

1.3 2.7

150.¢ 168.1

3917 412

(204.9 (245.5)

187.1 167.:

$ 3377 $ 335.
. |




KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITIES SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue!
Cost of revenue

Gross profil

Selling, general and administrative exper

Stock option investigation and related fi

Estimated cost for settlement of securities liliga
Recovery of unauthorized issuance of stock opt
Contingent acquisition consideration and restateeas
Impairment and restructuring charg

Operating income (loss) from continuing operati

Other income (expense
Interest income (expense),
Foreign currency gai
Impairment of investments in unconsolidated afté
Other income and (expenses),

Total other income (expense), |

Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeme taxe:
Provision (benefit) for income taxes from contirgioperation:

Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Loss from discontinued operatio

Net income (loss

Basic earnings (loss) per common sh
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Loss from discontinued operatio

Net income (loss) per common she

Diluted earnings (loss) per common shi
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Loss from discontinued operatio

Net income (loss) per common she

Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic
Diluted

2005 2006 2007

$ 1525 $ 1531 $  193.¢
115.7 124.: 162.(

36.€ 28.¢ 31.€

35.¢ 38.¢ 39.F

— — 14.C

— — 4.

— — (3.4)

2.2) 0.1 —

— 21.¢ 1.2

3.2 (31.5) (24.6)

0.1 (0.7) (1.2)

0.2 — —

— — (1.8)

— 0.2) 0.7

0.2 0.9) 2.9

3. (32.4) (26.9)

.2) 13. 1.3

3.6 (46.2) (28.9)

(2.0 (11.7) (12.6)

$ 16 $ (57.9 $ (40.5)
$ 0.0 $ 0.6 $ (0.3¢)
(0.09) (0.16) (0.17)

$ 0.0: $ 0.79 $ (0.55)
$ 0.0 $ 0.6 $ (0.3¢)
(0.09) (0.16) (0.17)

$ 00: $ 0.79 $ (0.55)
74.( 73.F 74.(

75.C 73.F 74.(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financistents.




KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

(in millions)
Convertible
Preferred Stock C Stock
reterred Stoc ommon stoc Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Total
Paid-In Deferred (Accumulated ~ Comprehensive  Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit) Loss Equity
Balance, December 31, 2004 — — 711 $ 01 $ 374.6 $ 32 $ (148.9 $ 3.9 $ 219.¢
Issuance of common stock for exercise of st
options — — 0.€ 0.3 2.7 — — — 2.6
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase ple — — 0.t — 2.3 — — — 2.3
Stock based compensati — — — — (0.5) 3.2 — — 2.7
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income — — — — — — 1.6 — 1.6
Foreign currency translation gain, net of
income taxes of $0.2 millio — — — — — — — 0.¢ 0.8
Total comprehensive incon 25
Balance, December 31, 20C — — 722z $ 00 $ 379.5 % — 3 (146.7) $ 29 $ 229.7
Conversion of Series B convertible preferrec
stock — — 1E — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of st
options — — 0.2 — 0.2 — — — 0.5
Stock based compensati — — — — 11.¢€ — — — 11.¢€
Components of comprehensive incor
Net loss — — — — — — (57.9 — (57.9
Foreign currency translation gain, net of
income taxes of $0.3 millio — — — — — — — iz 15
Reclassification adjustment—foreign
currency translation gain, included in net | — — — — — — — 14 1.4
Total comprehensive lo: (55.0
Balance, December 31, 20C — — 73¢ $ — 3 3917 $ — % (204.6 $ — 3 187.1
Issuance of common stock for exercise of st
options — — 0.1 — — — — — —
Common stock issued for acquisitic — — 4.€ — 12.C — — — 12.C
Paid in capital for contingent considerat — — — — 7.4 — — — 7.4
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoptior
FIN No. 48 — — — — — — (0.1 — (0.1
Stock based compensati — — 0.4 — 1.€ — — — 1.6
Net loss and total comprehensive | — — — — — — (40.9) — (40.9)
Balance, December 31, 20C — — 79.C $ — $ 4127 $ — $ (245.5 $ — $ 167.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdistents.
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Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

(in millions)
2005 2006 2007
Operating activities
Net income (loss $ 1€ $ (579 $ (40.9)
Less: Loss from discontinued operatic (2.0 (11.%) (12.¢)
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 3.6 (46.2) (28.2)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from contiguoperations to net cash usec
operating activities from continuing operatio
Depreciation and amortizatic 4.3 4.7 4.3
Deferred income taxe 5.2 13.€ 0.7
Accrual for settlement of securities litigati — — 4.¢
Asset impairment chargs — 20.1 2.5
Disposal of property and equipme 0.1 0.1 —
Provision for doubtful accoun 0.2 0.2 0.t
Stock based compensati 0.9 6.9 0.¢
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaissti
Accounts receivabl (4.4 (8.9 5.2
Prepaid expense¢ 1.8 0.3 (0.3
Other asset (2.6) 1.3 (4.9
Accounts payabl (2.5 5.C (0.8
Accrued expense 1.2 (6.3 1.8
Accrued compensatic 5.1 1.3 (2.t
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat (2.0 0.1 1.4
Accrual for unused office spa (0.¢ 0.9 (0.2
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncetegl contract 3.k 1.2 0.4
Income tax receivable or payal (4.5 3.C 1.€
Other liabilities — (0.2 10.1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitiesn continuing operatior 3.1 (4.9 (1.2
Investing activities
Sale/maturity of sho-term investment 7.6 — —
Cash paid for contingent acquisition considera (17.)) (8.5 (8.9
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqu (33.€) (59.1) (63.9)
Proceeds from the disposition of discontinued dxara — 18.¢ 57.2
Cash transferred (to) from restricted ¢ — (2.0) 1.C
Capital expenditure (4.0 (1.2 (0.9
Net cash used in investing activities from contirguoperation: (47.)) (50.9 (15.9
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Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

(in millions)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common si 0.1 0.4 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under emaplsiock purchase pli 0.8 — —
Borrowings under credit facility and line of cre — 85.C 88.t
Repayment under line of cre: — (34.0) (64.0
Repayment of capital lease obligatic (0.9 (0.3 (0.9
Debt issuance cos 0.3 (1.2 (3.0
Net cash provided by financing activities from doning operation: 0.2 49.¢ 21.1
Net cash flows of continuing operatic (43.9) (5.9 4.€
Cash flows of discontinued operatic
Operating cash flow 1.2 7.4 0.2
Investing cash flow (5. (6.€) (1.6
Financing cash flow 4.0 0.1 —
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equis: 1.C 2.7 —
Net cash flows of discontinued operatic 11 3.6 (2.4
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (42.7) (2.3 3.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 50.4 7.7 5.4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of- $ 77 % 54 $ 8.€
.| I L]
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year for inter $ 02 $ 0.2 $ 2.8
Net cash received during the year for income t: $ 11 $ 0.7 $ 1.9
Noncash investing and financing activiti
Common stock issued for acquisitic $ — 3 — 12.C
Paid in capital for contingent considerat — — 7.4
Liability for contingent cash considerati $ — 3 — 1.2
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of assets acquired in acquisiti $ 40C $ 80.1 $ 111.]
Fixed assets finance $ 0€ $ — $ 1.2
Liabilities assumed in acquisitiol $ 64 $ 6.3 $ 20.¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
(@) Description of Business

Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, If&rétos" or "the Company") was initially incorpoeat in the state of New York on
December 19, 1994, commenced operations in Maréb &a8d was reincorporated in Delaware in 1998.déraistorically conducted business
in three segments: Wireless Network Services, Gowent Network Services and Enterprise Network $esziThe Company was an
independent, global provider of outsourced commatioos and security systems engineering and irtiegraervices for the wireless
communications industry through its Wireless Net®ervices division ("WNS"), the U.S. governmenbtigh its Government Network
Services division ("GNS"), now referred to as thatds Government Solutions ("KGS") segment, andrenise customers through its
Enterprise Network Services division ("ENS"), nasfierred to as the Public Safety & Security ("PS®gment.

In 2006 and 2007, the Company undertocokrstormation strategy that culminated in the dite® in 2007 of its wireless-related
businesses and has aggressively pursued businesthevfederal government, primarily the U.S. Dépant of Defense, through strategic
acquisition. See Note 5, Acquisitions. The Compadwestiture of its European wireless engineesayices business which was discontinued
and held for sale in December 2006 was completddiairch 2007. In addition, the Company's divestitofrés domestic wireless engineering
services business was completed in June 2007 ardivtastiture of its wireless deployment servicesitess was completed in July 2007.
Accordingly, the accompanying financial statemeefkect the divestiture of the domestic wirelesgieaering services and wireless network
deployment business and the results of operatfoosigh the date of divestiture are reflected asodisnued operations in the accompanying
statements of operations.

As a result of the divestment of the Conymwireless related assets and businesses in #8Zompany changed its name from
Wireless Facilities, Inc to Kratos Defense & SeguHolutions, Inc. on September 12, 2007. The naasechanged to reflect the Company's
revised focus as a defense contractor and se@ystgms integrator for the federal government andthte and local agencies and reflects the
Company's business going forward. All previousiiicial statements prior to September 12, 2007 vesgeid under the Company's previous
name, Wireless Facilities, Inc.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Kratos and its wholly-owned &lidses for which all inter-company
transactions have been eliminated in consolidaioatos and its subsidiaries are collectively nefdrto herein as the "Company."”

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for using the cost method as the Coynpans less than 20% and has no signifit
influence over the affiliates.

(c) Calendar Year

The Company's calendar year end is onatteday of the year, December 31st. The interioafiperiods are on the last day of the cale
month of each quarter.
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Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America
(US GAAP) requires management to make estimatesssuimptions that affect the reported amountsstasand liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Such estimates include revenue recognitiboywance for doubtful accounts, valuation of ldivggd assets including identifiable
intangibles and goodwill, accounting for incomedsuincluding the related valuation allowance ondéierred tax asset, accruals for partial
self-insurance, contingencies and litigation andtiogent acquisition consideration. In the futiules Company may realize actual results that
differ from the current reported estimates anthéf €stimates that we have used change in the fistuch changes could have a material impact
on the Company's consolidated financial positiesults of operations and cash flows.

(e) Reclassifications

The accompanying consolidated statementasti flows separately reflect the operating, itimgsand financing portions of the cash flc
attributable to the Company's discontinued openatfor each of the periods presented. These amwanesreported on a combined basis as a
single amount in prior consolidated statementsaghdlows. In addition, the consolidated balan@ethand statements of operations have
reclassified to present the discontinued operations

(H Revenue Recognition

The Company provides services to customedgr three primary types of contracts: fixed-priame and materials; and cost reimbursable
plus fixed fee. The Company realizes a portiontofévenue from long-term contracts and accoumtthése contracts under the provisions of
Statement of Position (SOP) 81-1, "Accounting ferfBrmance of Construction-Type and Certain PradneType Contracts." Revenue on
fixed-price contracts is recognized using the petage-of-completion method of accounting basecherratio of total costs incurred to date
compared to estimated total costs to completedh&act. Estimates of costs to complete includeenels, direct labor, overhead, and
allowable general and administrative expensesgdoernment contracts). While the Company genedalys not incur a material amount of
set-up fees for its projects, such costs, if ang,excluded from the estimated total costs to cetepthe contract. Cost estimates are reviewed
monthly on an individual contract basis, and akésexl periodically throughout the life of the cautr such that adjustments to profit resulting
from revisions are made cumulative to the datdefrevision. The full amount of an estimated lassoaiated with a contract is accrued and
charged to operations in the period it is deterahitiat it is probable a loss will be realized frire performance of the contract.

Significant management judgments and eséishancluding the estimated costs to completeegtsj which determine the project's
percentage of completion and profit margin mustriaele and used in connection with the revenue réredtin any accounting period. In the
future, the Company may realize actual resultsdifégr from current estimates and the differencesld be material.

Accordingly, the revenue the Company reimin a given financial reporting period depeadg1) the costs the Company has incurred
for individual projects, (2) the Company's thenreunt estimate of the total remaining costs to catepthe individual projects and (3) current
estimated
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies (Continued)

contract value associated with the projects. 1gny period, we significantly increase or decreageestimate of the total costs to complete a
project, and/or reduce or increase the associatelact value, revenue for that period would bedoipd. To the extent that the Company's
estimates fluctuate over time or differ from acteedults, gross margins in subsequent periods ragysignificantly from previous estimates.
Material differences may result in the amount amdrtg of the Company's revenue for any period ihagement made different judgments or
utilized different estimates. In the event the Campis unable to provide reliable cost estimatea given project, the Company records
revenue using the completed contract method. Téwer@o contracts for which the Company utilizeddbmpleted contract method for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and :

Under the terms of substantially all of @empany's fixed price contracts, if a contradeininated without proper cause by the custo
if the customer creates unplanned/unreasonabledétass, or if the customer modifies the contrasks/scope, the Company has contractual
rights to reimbursement in accordance with the seamd conditions regarding payment for work perfednbut not yet billed (i.e., unbilled
trade accounts receivable) at a gross profit matgihis consistent with the overall project mardinrthermore, certain additional provisions
compensate the Company for additional or excess aosurred, whereby any scope reductions or atiatifications are subject to
reimbursement of costs incurred to date with aaealsle profit margin based on the contract valike@mpleted work at that time. The
inherent aforementioned risks are reflected inGbepany's ongoing periodic assessment of the "totatract value" and the associated
revenue recognized. Total net unbilled accountsivable at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2@0& $23.4 million and $34.2 million,
respectively. Approximately, $0.5 million and $@n@lion of the unbilled receivables as of DecemB&y 2006 and December 31, 2007,
respectively, are expected to be collected aftery@ar as they are related to future milestone paysrand retainages. Retainages receivable
which are included in net unbilled accounts redgi@are $1.2 million and $1.5 million as of Decem®&, 2006 and December 31, 2007,
respectively. The Company periodically performs kvoinder authorizations to proceed or work ordesefits customers for which a formal
purchase order may not be received until aftemtbik has commenced. As of December 31, 2006 and, 2(Qiproximately $0.6 million and
$0.4 million, respectively, of the Company's urggllaccounts receivable balance were under an @ation to proceed or work order from its
customers where a formal purchase order had ndieest received.

Revenue from certain time and materialsfa@l-price contracts are recognized when real@ectalizable and earned, in accordance
with Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 101, as revisby SAB 104 (recognized when services are rendaredntracted labor rates, when
materials are delivered and when other direct crgtsncurred). Additionally, based on managememttodic assessment of the collectibility
of its accounts receivable, credit worthiness anarfcial condition of customers, the Company deiteeshif collection is reasonably assured
prior to the recognition of revenue.

Cost reimbursable contracts for the govesmtnprovide for reimbursement of costs plus thenpent of a fee. The Company records the
as costs are incurred. Under time and materialgacts, the Company is reimbursed for labor hotireegotiated hourly billing rates and is
reimbursed for travel and other direct expensesial costs plus applied general and administratipenses. Under certain of the Company's
contractual arrangements, the Company may als@n&® revenue for out-of-pocket expenses in acemelavith EITF 01-14 "Income
Statement Characterization
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies (Continued)

of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expgmscurred.” Depending on the contractual arramgenthese expenses may be
reimbursed with or without a fee.

Under certain of its contracts, the Compprgrides supplier procurement services and magefoaits customers. The Company records
revenue on these arrangements on a gross or netilascordance with EITF 99-19, "Reporting Rewe@ross as a Principal versus Net as an
Agent," depending on the specific circumstancethefarrangement. The Company considers the follpwiiteria, among others, for recording
revenue on a gross or net basis:

(1) Whether the Company acts as a praléipthe transaction;
(2) Whether the Company takes title ® phoducts;
(3) Whether the Company assumes riskgandrds of ownership, such as risk of loss foleation, delivery or returns;
(4) Whether the Company serves as antagdsroker, with compensation on a commissioneerbfasis; and
(5) Whether the Company assumes thetatislifor the amount billed to the customer sulosa to delivery.
(g) Derivative Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure @ompany enters into interest rate swap agreemnmfemiaterest rate swap is a contractual
exchange of interest payments between two paistandard interest rate swap involves the payrokatfixed rate time a notational amount
by one party in exchange for a floating rate titlessame notational amount from another party néexést rates change, the difference to be
paid or received is accrued and recognized aseisttexpense or income over the life of the agreénidéese instruments are not entered into
for trading purposes. Counterparties to the Comigdnterest rate swap agreements are major finkinsigtutions. In accordance with
SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments &wettain Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS 434 138, the Company recognizes
interest rate swap agreements on the consolidatledde sheet at fair value. The interest rate gapements are marked to market with
changes in fair value recognized in either othenmeehensive income (loss) or in the carrying valfidhe hedged portions of fixed rate debt
applicable (Hedge accounting).

Hedge accounting is discontinued when dtetermined that a derivative instrument is nohhigffective as a hedge. Hedge accounting is
also discontinued when: (1) the derivative instrotrexpires; is sold, terminated or exercised; aroidonger designated as a hedge instrument
because it is unlikely that a forecasted transadtiitl occur; (2) a hedged firm commitment no longeeets the definition of a firm
commitment; or (3) management determines that datimn of the derivative as a hedging instrumemiisonger appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinueddtrévative instrument will be either terminatedntinue to be carried on the balance sheet at
fair value, or redesignated as the hedging instnirimeeither a cash flow or fair value hedge, & tielationship meets all applicable hedging
criteria. Any asset or liability that was previousécorded as a result of recognizing the valua fafm commitment will be removed from the
balance sheet and recognized as a gain or logsri@nt period earnings.
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Any gains or losses that were accumulated in atbermprehensive income from hedging a forecastedaion will be recognized immediat
in current period earnings, if it is probable ttret forecasted transaction will not occur.

(h) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for dioliaccounts for estimated losses resulting frbminability of its customers to make
required payments, which results in bad debt expdvianagement periodically determines the adeqafttyis allowance by evaluating the
comprehensive risk profiles of all individual custer receivable balances including, but not limtiedhe customer's financial condition, credit
agency reports, financial statements and overatbatieconomic conditions. Additionally, on certaintracts whereby the Company performs
services for a prime/general contractor, a spetifiercentage of the invoiced trade accounts rebkivaay be retained by the customer until
the project is completed. The Company periodicadiyiews all retainages for collectibility and redsmallowances for doubtful accounts when
deemed appropriate, based on its assessment asdbeiated credit risks. Total retainages includdilled accounts receivable were
$0.2 million and $0.2 million at December 31, 2@0@ 2007, respectively. Changes to estimates dfaxirvalue are recorded as adjustments
to revenue and not as a component of the allowahdeubtful accounts. Allowances for doubtful acetsuon receivable as of December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2007 were $0.3 million an8l 8dllion, respectively.

The following table outlines the balancehl® Company's Allowance for Doubtful Account f@05%, 2006 and 2007. It identifies the
additional provisions each year as well as theeagfts that utilized the allowance (in millions).

Balance at

Beginning of Write -offs/ Balance at
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Year Provisions Recoveries End of Year
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 0€ $ 02 $ 0.3 % 0.t
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 0t $ 02 % 0.9) $ 0.2
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 02 $ 0t $ 03 $ 0.5

(J) Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company's cash equivalents consigsdfighly liquid investments with an original maturof three months or less when purchased
by the Company. The Company has evaluated its imeds in accordance with the provisions of StatgréFinancial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investmemt®ebt and Equity Securities." Based on suchwat&n, the Company's management
has determined that all of its investment securitiee properly classified as available-for-salese8laon the Company's intent and board-
approved investment policy and its ability to lidaie debt securities maturing after one year, tagany classifies such shdetm investmer
securities within current assets. Available-foress¢curities are carried at fair value, with urieeal gains and losses reported as a separate
component of Stockholders' Equity within the captidccumulated Other Comprehensive Income (LoS&)¢ amortized cost basis of debt
securities is periodically adjusted for amortizataf premiums and accretion of discounts to matuBuch amortization is included as a
component of interest income (expense), net. Thart@red cost basis of securities sold is basederspecific identification method and all
such realized gains and losses are
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recorded as a component within other income (ex@eisterest and dividends on securities classHigdvailable-for-sale are included in
interest income.

As a result of the Company's acquisitioMaidison Research Corporation on December 31, 2666 ompany had approximately
$1.0 million in restricted cash related to collateequired for two foreign letters of credit isdurutside of the Company's credit facility. On
June 5, 2007 the cash collateral became unrestrigten cancellation of the two letters of credit.

(i) Inventory

Inventories which are comprised primarifysapplies including parts and materials are statatie lower of cost or market. The Company
regularly reviews inventory quantities on handufatpurchase commitments with its suppliers, apdettimated utility of its inventory. If the
Company review indicates a reduction in utilitydlcarrying value, it reduces its inventory to avrest basis. As of December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2007, the Company had $2.7 milliong&hd million, respectively, of inventories whiclere reflected in other current assets of
continuing operations on the consolidated balaheets.

(k) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists primarfilgamputer equipment, software, leasehold improvgmand office-related equipment and is
recorded at cost. Equipment acquired under cdpiaks is recorded at the present value of thesfutinimum lease payments. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method overe$imated useful life of each asset, which is onthitee years for computer equipment, five
years for furniture and office equipment, and fiseen years for software for the Company's enisg@ystems. Equipment and facilit
acquired under capital leases is amortized oveshibeter of the lease term or the estimated usiéfudf the asset. Improvements, which
significantly improve and extend the useful lifeaof asset, are capitalized over the shorter dietiee period or the estimated useful life.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are ctiageperations as incurred.

In accordance with Statement of Positiorl 98Accounting for the Costs of Computer SoftwBeveloped or Obtained for Internal
Use" ("SOP 98-1"), the Company expenses all intaxsa software costs incurred in the preliminangjget stage and capitalizes certain direct
costs associated with the development and purdafdaternaluse software within property and equipment. Caigitdl costs are amortized o
straight-line basis over the estimated useful livethe software.

() Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwiill Other Intangible Assets," we classify intargissets into three categories:
(1) intangible assets with definite lives subjecatortization, (2) intangible assets with indaéHives not subject to amortization, and
(3) goodwill. We test intangible assets with deérives for impairment if conditions exist thatlinate the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Such conditions may include an ecooamivnturn in a geographic market or a changeeragsessment of future operations. We
record an impairment charge when the carrying vafube definite lived intangible asset is not nem@ble by the cash flows generated from
the use of the asset.
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Intangible assets with indefinite lives ayubdwill are not amortized. We test these intalegitssets and goodwill for impairment at least
annually, typically in the fourth quarter, or mdrequently if events or circumstances indicate thath intangible assets or goodwill might be
impaired. All goodwill is assigned to our operatsegments. We perform our impairment tests of gélbdtour reporting unit level. Such
impairment tests for goodwill include comparing fa& value of the respective reporting unit with ¢arrying value, including goodwill. We
use a variety of methodologies in conducting thegeirment tests, including discounted cash flowlgses. When appropriate, we consider
the assumptions that we believe hypothetical mplae¢ participants would use in estimating futuashcflows. In addition, where applicable,
an appropriate discount rate is used, based oGdhgpany's cost of capital rate. When the fair véduess than the carrying value of the
intangible assets or the operating segment, wadenoimpairment charge to reduce the carryingevalithe assets to fair value. These
impairment charges are generally recorded in atperating charges.

The Company determines the useful liveisi@ftifiable intangible assets after considering gpecific facts and circumstances related to
each intangible asset. Factors considered whenndieiag useful lives include the contractual terfrany agreement, the history of the asset,
the Company's long-term strategy for the use ofdset, any laws or other local regulations whmhict impact the useful life of the asset, and
other economic factors, including competition apdafic market conditions. Intangible assets tmatdeemed to have definite lives are
amortized, generally on a straight-line basis, dleir useful lives, ranging from 1 to 10 years.

(m) Income Taxes

The Company records deferred tax assetéiatitities for the future tax consequences attréble to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiabdilies and their respective tax bases and djpgyr¢oss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured) hacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabteme in the years in which those tempo
differences are expected to be realized. The effiecteferred tax assets and liabilities of a changax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

The Company maintains a valuation allowamt¢he deferred tax assets for which it is mdeelyi than not that the Company will not
realize the benefits of these tax assets in fuaxgeriods. The valuation allowance is based timates of future taxable income by tax
jurisdiction in which the Company operates, the hanof years over which the deferred tax asselsditecoverable, and scheduled rever
of deferred tax liabilities.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adoptedBFArpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainh Income Taxes" ("Interpretation
No. 48") to account for uncertainty in income taresognized in the Company's financial statemengccordance with SFAS No. 1(
"Accounting for Income Taxes." Refer to Note 10.

(n) Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company éetbthe provisions of Statement of Financial AcdmgnStandards No. 123R ("SFAS 123R"),
"Share-Based Payments," which requires the measuntegind recognition of compensation expense fatate-based payment awards to
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employees and directors based on estimated faiesaSFAS 123R supersedes the Company's previoasrdig methodology using the
intrinsic value method under Accounting PrincipBesard Opinion APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stockussl to Employees.” Under the
intrinsic value method, no share-based compensatipanse related to stock option awards grantedhfgoyees at market price on date of
grant had been recognized in the Company's ComrdetidStatements of Operations prior to Januarpd62The Company has no awards with
market or performance conditions.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FA&8f Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, "Transition ElectiRelated to Accounting for Tax
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards." The Compasyelected to adopt the alternative transitiothoteprovided in this FASB Staff
Position for calculating the tax effects of shaesdd compensation pursuant to FAS 123R. The afiegrtaansition method includes a
simplified method to establish the beginning bataofthe additional paid-in capital pool (APIC ppadlated to the tax effects of employee
share-based compensation, which is available torbliax deficiencies which could be recognized sghent to the adoption of FAS 123R.

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using thdfiadgrospective transition method. Under thigisition method, compensation expense
recognized during the years ended December 31, 200&007 included: (a) compensation expense feghafte-based awards granted prior to,
but not yet vested, as of December 31, 2005, bais¢de grant date fair value estimated in accordavith the original provisions of
SFAS 123, and (b) compensation expense for aleshased awards granted subsequent to Decembed(H,, lZased on the grant date fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisidriSFAS 123R. In accordance with the modified prasipe transition method, the Compar
consolidated financial statements for prior peribdge not been restated to reflect the impact &(SE23R.

For the twelve months ended December 306 20id December 31, 2007, there was no incrementdlenefit from stock options
exercised in the period due to expected tax logsdbe year. The Company recorded cash received the exercise of stock options of
$567 thousand in 2006
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and $27 thousand in 2007. The following table shthvesamounts recognized in the consolidated firrstatements for 2006 and 2007 for
share-based compensation related to employeesil{ions).

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2006 2007
Cost of revenue $ 1C $ 0.C
Selling, general and administrative exper 5.9 0.9

Total cost of employee share-based compensatidundied in
operating loss from continuing operations, befamme tay 6.9 0.9
Amount of related income tax benefit recognizedannings — —

Amount charged to loss from continuing operati 6.9 0.9
Amount charged to loss from discontinued operat 5.C 0.7
Total charged against operatic $ 11¢ 3 1.6

Impact on net loss per common sh:
Basic $ (0.1¢) $ (0.02)
Diluted $ (0.1¢) $ (0.02)

The proforma effect of recognizing estindatempensation expense under the fair value meathatkt income and earnings per common
share for the year ended December 31, 2005 wdmdlaws (in millions, except per share data):

RECONCILIATION OF STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE FOR 2005
(In millions, except per share data)

Year Ended
December 31, 2005

Net income $ 1€
Add: Stocl-based compensation expense included in net in 2.7
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determimdst the fair value
method (47.<
Net los—pro forma $ (43.6¢)
I
Net income per share (bas $ 0.02
I
Net loss per share (bas—pro forma $ (0.59
I
Net income per share (dilute $ 0.02
I
Net loss per share (dilute—pro forma $ (0.5¢

I
Weighted average share

Basic—as reportet 74.C
Basic—pro forma 74.C
Diluted—as reportet 75.C
Diluted—pro forma 74.C
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(0) Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

The Company calculates net income (loss¥pare in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "EarngsShare". Under SFAS No. 128, basic
net income (loss) per common share is calculatedivigling net income (loss) by the weighted-averagmber of common shares outstanding
during the reporting period. Diluted net incomes@pper common share reflects the effects of pialgntlilutive securities (in millions).

2005 2006 2007
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from stock optionglkexied from
calculation 7.4 12.2 8.8
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from preferred stock estellifrom calculatiol — 1.4 1.C

(p) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Livel Assets to Be Disposed Of

Long-lived assets and certain identifislbtangibles are reviewed for impairment in accomawith SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets", whesieevents or changes in circumstances indicatelieacarrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets tbdlé and used is measured by a comparison of tingrog amount of the assets to future net
cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) etgubto be generated by the asset. If such assetoasidered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the aimuwhich the carrying amount of the assets edsdiee fair value of the assets. Asse
be disposed of are reported at the lower of theyitey amount or fair value less costs to sell. Tmmpany concluded that $1.8 million of
equipment related to a wireless LAN system thaiGbepany had installed and operated in the Pulslfiet$ & Security ("PSS") segment was
impaired in the fourth quarter of 2006 based uprent trends regarding free WiFi and WiMAX servieas the resulting impact to the
realizability of this network. In addition, the Cpany concluded that its' investments in Tacticakv8y Group and Commverge Solutions, Inc.
were impaired as of December 31, 2007 (see Note 5).

The Company completed its annual impairnesttas required under the provisions of SFAS #bduring the fourth quarter of 2006 and
2007. In 2006, the Company determined that theseamampairment of goodwill for the Public SafetyS&curity segment. The Company's
annual impairment test resulted in a non-cash impait charge of $18.3 million related to the wdiman of goodwill for the acquisitions
made in the PSS segment (See Note 3). The faiewdlgoodwill was estimated by taking into considiem recent performance, expected
future performance and industry trends, using aloation of a discounted cash flow model and a ®taabproach model which takes into
consideration comparable businesses and marksgtaons.

In 2007, the Company's annual test didmditate any impairment was necessary.
(q) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Vafi€inancial Instruments,” requires that fair \vedbe disclosed for the Company's financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and egsalvalents, accounts receivable, accounts payabbeyed expenses, billings in excess of
costs and
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earnings on uncompleted contracts, and our credilitfy approximate fair value due to the shiatm nature of these instruments. The fair v

of the Company's long-term debt and capital leddigations is estimated based on the quoted mariests for the same or similar issues or on
the current rates offered to the Company for dékite@same remaining maturities. The fair valu¢hef Company's long-term debt and capital
lease obligations as of December 31, 2007 is $mil®n and $1.2 million, respectively.

() Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive inegd establishes rules for the reporting of comensive income (loss) and its compone
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incantkother gains and losses affecting shareholideestment that, under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica are excluded from net income (loss).

(s) Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS No. 52 "Foreignr€ncy Translation," the financial statements of@lmenpany's foreign subsidiaries where the
functional currency has been determined to bedbal lcurrency are translated into United Stateldolsing year-end rates of exchange for
assets and liabilities and rates of exchange haioaimate the rates in effect at the transactite for revenues, expenses, gains and losses. i
2007, all foreign subsidiaries are accounted fattissontinued operations.

(ty Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash balances atwafinancial institutions and such balances conynexceed the $100,000 insured amount
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The@ny has not experienced any losses in such atscand management believes that the
Company is not exposed to any significant credk viith respect to such cash and cash equivalents.

Financial instruments, which subject thenpany to potential concentrations of credit riskgist principally of the Company's billed and
unbilled accounts receivable. The Company's acsateivable result from sales to customers withénfederal government, state and local
agencies and with commercial customers in varindastries. The Company performs ongoing credituatains of its commercial customers.
See Note 13 for a discussion of our significantamers.

(u) Liquidity

As of December 31, 2007 the Company hadtanlially completed its reorganization of the @mnbusiness segments from one focused
on wireless related activities to one focused alefal, state, and local government businessescidmgge in focus was very costly due to the
necessity to sell and discontinue operations ofiptes significant subsidiaries. In addition, thenany completed its internal stock option
investigation in 2007 which resulted in approxinia®&l4.0 million of one time expenses. See NotA®a result, the Company reported a net
loss of $57.9 million and $40.8 million for the ye@nded December 31, 2006 and December 31, 28§¥atively. There has been a net u:
cash from operating activities for each of the taste years ended December 31, 2007 due to wodkipigal requirements and infrastructure
costs associated with the Company's legacy wirdlesmess in 2005 and 2006 and costs of the stoiroinvestigation and related fees in
2007. In
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addition, corporate overhead has not been allodatdcontinued operations and as such the cangmperating segments have had to ab
general and administrative expenses intended fionch larger company.

In December of 2007, the Company succdgsielgotiated an $85.0 million credit facility imder to increase the critical mass of its new
government focused operations and provide for apkivg capital requirements.

On December 31, 2007 the Company complitedcquisition of Haverstick Consulting, Inc. whiequired the use of $75.5 million of
the aforementioned $85.0 million credit facilitp. addition, the Company had $2.4 million in lettef€redit outstanding resulting in
$7.1 million in borrowing capacity.

As the Company currently carries a sigaificamount of debt, the Company's ability to execut additional business opportunities may
be limited due to its existing borrowing capacltyaddition, given the relatively highly leveragéglidity position, any down-turn in its
operating earnings could impair its ability to cdynwith the financial covenants of its existing ditefacility. If the Company anticipated a
potential covenant violation, it would seek refiefm its lenders. This relief would have some ¢oghe Company and such relief might not be
on terms as favorable as those in its existing i€Agteement. If the Company were to actually défdue to its failure to meet the financial
covenants of its Credit Agreement and inabilitpbdain a waiver from the lenders, the Company'sliCAgreement could require the
Company to immediately repay all amounts then antiihg under the Credit Agreement and/or requieedbmpany to pay interest at default
rates per the Credit Agreement.

In the event the Company was required payehe amount outstanding under the existing tfadility, it would need to obtain alternati
sources of financing to continue its operatingwtitis at existing levels. There can be no asswamat alternative financing would be availa
on acceptable terms or at all.

(v) Debt Issuance Costs

Fees paid to obtain debt financing aretééas debt issuance costs and are capitalizedraodized over the expected term of the related
debt. These payments are shown as a financingtsdtithe consolidated statement of cash flows.

(w) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFASING, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157"). Thesv standard provides guidance for
using fair value to measure assets and liabilames information about the extent to which compamegasure assets and liabilities at fair value,
the information used to measure fair value, anceffext of fair value measurements on earningss Taimework is intended to provide
increased consistency in how fair value determimatiare made under various existing accountinglatals which permit, or in some cases
require, estimates of fair market value. SFAS 1I5@ axpands financial statement disclosure requérgsabout a company's use of fair value
measurements, including the effect of such measuresrnings. The provisions of SFAS 157 are dffedor financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after November 15,
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2007. The Company is in the process of determitiiegmpact of this statement on its consolidatadritial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASBetent No. 159The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Riogl Liabilities—
Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. This standard permits an entity to choose to measany financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value. This optionvsitable to all entities, including not-fgrofit organizations. Most of the provisions in t8taen
159 are elective; however, the amendment to FASB8tent No. 115ccounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8iecurities,
applies to all entities with available-for-sale aratling securities. Some requirements apply diffdy to entities that do not report net income.
The FASB's stated objective in issuing this staddsas follows: "to improve financial reporting pyoviding entities with the opportunity to
mitigate volatility in reported earnings causedngasuring related assets and liabilities diffegewithout having to apply complex hedge
accounting provisions.”

The fair value option established by Stagetri59 permits all entities to choose to measligéke items at fair value at specified election
dates. A business entity will report unrealizechgaind losses on items for which the fair valuéoophas been elected in earnings (or another
performance indicator if the business entity daatsreport earnings) at each subsequent reportiteg Aanot-for-profit organization will report
unrealized gains and losses in its statement ofites or similar statement. The fair value opti¢a) may be applied instrument by instrument,
with a few exceptions, such as investments otheratsounted for by the equity method; (b) is in@lde (unless a new election date occurs);
and (c) is applied only to entire instruments aatta portions of instruments.

Statement 159 is effective as of the bagmof an entity's first fiscal year that begineeafNovember 15, 2007. Early adoption is
permitted as of the beginning of the previous figear provided that the entity makes that choicthe first 120 days of that fiscal year and
also elects to apply the provisions of FASB StateiniNo. 157 Fair Value Measurement$he Company is in the process of determining the
impact of this statement on its consolidated fin@scstatements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFASIMA. (revised 2007) ("SFAS 141R"), "Business Comtodma” and SFAS No. 160
("SFAS 160") "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolied Financial Statements, an amendment of Accogiitgsearch Bulletin No. 51"
SFAS 141R will change how business acquisitionsaoeunted for and will impact financial statemdwigh on the acquisition date and in
subsequent periods. SFAS 160 will change the aditmuand reporting for minority interests, whichivoie recharacterized as noncontrolling
interests and classified as a component of eqiitg. provisions of SFAS 141R and SFAS 160 are éffedbr financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008lyEstoption is not permitted. The Company is in phecess of determining the impact of
these statements on its consolidated financisstants.

Note 2. Stock Option Investigation

The Company completed an internal EquityafdvReview of its past practices for granting aridipg stock options in August 2007. The
voluntary review was initiated by its current extdo® management team, with oversight from the BardrDirectors and assistance from
outside legal counsel.
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On May 3, 2007, the Company announcedithetd a filed a lawsuit against a former employd® previously served as its stock option
administrator and left the Company in n#804, and his spouse. The lawsuit sought to rectaerages resulting from the theft of stock opti
and common stock valued in excess of $6.3 millidre U.S. Attorney's Office indicted the former eoyde for the theft and he pled guilty to
federal criminal charges and has been sentencél taonths in prison and is currently incarceraldee former employee and his wife entered
into a settlement agreement with the Company owoli&et5, 2007 turning over substantially all of tredsets to the Company in settlement of
the damages incurred in the theft. The settlemastieen approved by the SEC and by the federat joderseeing this case.

During the investigation, criminal prosaont and settlement negotiations the Company iecli#14.0 million in legal expenses and other
fees. As of December 31, 2007 the Company hasdedd3.4 million of recoveries which consists ofi$@iillion of Money Market Accounts
and two properties which are in escrow for $1.3iaril Subsequent to December 31, 2007, the Comjdeyds to liquidate these assets. As
more fully discussed in Note 8 to these consoldi&teancial statements, $1.7 million to $3.4 mifliof the proceeds from liquidation of these
assets is subject to restrictions imposed by thagamy's amended credit agreement.

Our past stock option granting practicesehexposed us to greater risks associated wigatitn, regulatory proceedings and government
inquiries and enforcement actions. The SEC hasied an informal inquiry into our historical stooftion granting practices and we receiv:
subpoena from the United States Attorney's Offaretie Southern District of California for the pration of documents relating to our
historical stock option granting practices. We @veperating with the SEC and the United StatesrA¢tgs Office for the Southern District of
California.

The period of time necessary to resolvedtirquiries is uncertain, and we cannot predettitcome of these inquiries or whether we
face additional government inquiries, investigasion other actions related to our historical stoption grant practices. These inquiries could
require us to expend significant management tinteiacur significant legal and other expenses.

Note 3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following tables set forth informatitor finite-lived intangible assets subject to arimation (in millions):

As of December 31, 200 As of December 31, 200
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Value Amortization Net Value Gross Value Amortization Net Value
Acquired finite-lived intangible asse!

Customer relationshiy $ 99 $ 15 $ 84 $ 15.C $ (26 $ 12/
Contracts and Backlc 7.5 (2.8 4.7 11.€ (4.2 7.4
Non-compete agreemer 1.3 (1.7 0.2 1.3 1.3 0.C
Trade name 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.4 (0.9 0.C
Total $ 191 $ (57 $ 134 $ 28% $ (85 $ 19¢
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The aggregate amortization expense forefilived intangible assets was $1.7 million, $2illiom and $2.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively.

The increase in finite-lived intangibles2B06 is related to the acquisition of Madison Resle Corporation. Refer to the schedule below
and to Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial Statem@n millions, except amortization period).

As of December 31, 2006

Weighted

Average

Accumulated Amortization

Gross Value Amortization Net Value Period (years)
Acquired Intangible Asse

Customer relationshif $ 6.5 $ 02 $ 6.2 10.C
Contracts and Backlc 1.6 (0.2 14 2.8
Total $ 81 $ 0.4 $ 7.7 8.€

The increase in finitiived intangibles in 2007 is related to the acdigsiof Haverstick Consulting, Inc (Haverstick).fBeto the schedu
below and to Note 6 of the Consolidated FinanciateSnents (in millions, except amortization period)

As of December 31, 2007

Weighted
Average
Accumulated Amortization
Gross Value Amortization Net Value Period (years)
Acquired Intangible Asse

Customer relationshig $ 51 $ — $ 5.1 9.C
Contracts and Backlc 4.2 — 4.2 3.3
Total $ 93 $ — $ 9.3 6.5

There is no amortization in 2007 since Hsatiek was acquired on December 31, 2007.

Information about estimated amortizatiopense for intangible assets subject to amortizdtiothe five years succeeding December 31,
2007, is as follows (in millions):

Amortization

Expense
2008 $ 4.5
2009 3.1
2010 2.€
2011 24
2012 1.7

86




KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Note 3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (Contiued)

The changes in the carrying amounts of galbty operating segment for the years ended Ddrmer31, 2006 and 2007, are as follows (in
millions):

Public
Safety & Government
Security Solutions Total
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 112 $ 45¢ $ 57.1
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustm 0.2 28.¢ 29.C
Earr-out consideratiol 6.9 1.4 8.3
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 18.2 % 76.1 $ 94.4
Acquisitions — 53.€ 53.€
Impairments (18.9) — (18.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ 129.¢ $ 129.¢
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustm — 64.€ 64.€
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — 3 1945 $ 194F

The Company tests goodwill for impairmenbaally during the fourth quarter of each fiscahwyat the reporting unit level using a fair
value approach, in accordance with the provisidr®FAS No. 142Goodwill and Other Intangible Assettn 2007, the annual test did not
result in any impairment charge. In 2006, the ahtesi resulted in a nocash impairment charge of $18.3 million in the R88ment. This w:
due in part to changes in the industry and theegiafocus of the Company as well as operatiohallenges from significant employee
turnover that we encountered after the completich@earn-out periods. The fair value of goodwidls estimated by taking into consideration
recent performance and expected future performandeaising a combination of a discounted cash flasehand a market approach model
which takes into consideration comparable busireeaad market transactions.

If an event occurs or circumstances changewould more likely than not reduce the fairueabf a reporting unit below its carrying val
goodwill will be evaluated for impairment betweamaal tests.

Note 4. Discontinued Operations

On February 17, 2006, the Company entereda definitive agreement to divest all of its igi®ns in Mexico for total approximate cash
consideration of $18.0 million, which approximateé net book value of the operations, including.$18illion of liabilities associated with a
loss contingency. The transaction closed on Maf;2Q06. The transaction was structured as a $alersubsidiaries in Mexico, and the
purchase price consisted of $1.5 million in caskd pa February 17, 2006, plus a secured promissoty payable in installments through
December 31, 2006. The note was secured by pledgesets and a personal guaranty.
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The final closing balance sheet as of Fafyrd7, 2006 resulted in net asset adjustmenteggting to a total approximate $18.9 million
consideration, $1.5 million which was paid on Felyul7, 2006, with the remaining $17.4 million phlgaby means of the promissory note in
installments through December 31, 2006 with arrés#terate of 7.5% per annum. The remaining noteivable balance was paid in December
2006. No amounts remain outstanding on the notEvable.

On December 28, 2006, the Board of Directdithe Company approved a plan to divest portadrike Company's business where critical
mass had not been achieved. This plan involveditrestiture of the Company's EMEA (Europe, MiddisEand Asia) operations and its
remaining South American operations. The Compangradened that these operations met the criterlzetolassified as held for sale.
Accordingly, these operations were reflected asatisnued in accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accgnfor the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets" in the accompanying consoliddieancial statements commencing as of and foy#s ended December 31, 2006.

The EMEA operations were sold to LCC In&ional, Inc. (LCC) on March 9, 2007 for $4.0 nahiiin cash, $3.3 million of which was
received on that date. We also received approxignéte8 million from our EMEA operations, prior asdbsequent to the closing date as
payment on outstanding intercompany debt. The belafithe $0.7 million sales price is being witlthat security for the satisfaction of
certain indemnification obligations and is payatrea date that is the earlier of March 31, 2008herdate that the buyer files its 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2007. The sale dE£&Menerated a gain on disposition of $3.3 milliomthe fourth quarter of 2007, the
Company recorded a reserve of $0.7 million on #meaining sales price holdback based on the Compargessment of LCC's available
liquidity and ability to pay following the Compasy'eview of LCC's most recently file financial stetents, thereby reducing the net estimated
gain on this transaction to $2.6 million.

On April 20, 2007, the Company entered emicEquity Purchase Agreement to sell all of tlseésl and outstanding equity of its interests
of its wholly owned subsidiary WFI Brazil Techloga Telecomunicaciones LTDA, to Strategic Projemtviges, LLC (SPS). The
consideration included the assumption of substiyntil outstanding liabilities of WFI Brazil, nomal cash consideration, and additional earn-
out consideration based on 25 percent of net rablsg collected subsequent to the closing date Coimepany recorded an impairment charge
of approximately $5.2 million as of December 310@@o reduce the current carrying value of the Bigzerations to their estimated fair value
based upon current indications of interest. Instbeond quarter of 2007, when this business was a@din on disposition of $0.2 million was
recorded primarily due to lower than expected sgliosts.

On May 29, 2007, the Company entered intdsset Purchase Agreement with LCC pursuant tehvttie Company agreed to sell to L
all of the assets used in the conduct of the ojperalf the Company's Wireless Network Servicesiess segment that provides engineering
services to the non-government wireless commuiieatindustry in the United States.

The transaction was completed on June @7.2Dhe aggregate consideration paid by LCC in eotion with the Acquisition was
$46 million. LCC delivered a subordinated promigsoote for the principal amount of $21.6 milliohét" Subordinated Promissory Notg
paid $17 million at closing and paid final workingpital adjustments of $2.4 million through an admant to the Subordinated
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Promissory Note, and the Company has retainedtanaed $5.0 million in net working capital of thesiness.

On July 5, 2007, the Company announceditimaid sold the $21.6 million Subordinated PromigdNote in a transaction arranged by
KeyBanc Capital Markets ("KeyBanc"). The Compangeieed approximately $19.6 million in net cash meds, reflecting a discount from |
value of less than five percent and aggregateadion fees of approximately $1 million, which indes a $0.75 million fee to KeyBanc, an
affiliate of the Company's lender. The note wasuaegl by a fund affiliated with Silver Point Capita.P. ("Silver Point"). The Company did
not provide any guaranty for LCC's payment obligragi. Certain post closing adjustments that, urtetérms of the sale of the U.S. wireless
engineering business were expected to be made fariticipal amount of the Note, may instead be nigdeayments between Kratos and L
or between Silver Point and the Company, as agygéca

On August 10, 2007, in accordance withtémms of the acquisition agreement, the Companyiged the closing balance sheet working
capital calculation, which indicated a $2.6 millimarking capital adjustment was due to the Compagn increase to the balance of the
Subordinated Promissory Note. LCC had thirty dayseview the calculation and notify the Companyny§ dispute. The Company and LCC
agreed to a final working capital calculation of4sghillion. The Company collected $2.3 million ianuary 2008, net of a $0.1 million discount
from Silver Point in accordance with the termsh# hote agreement. The net amount is presenteairagfmotes receivable in the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

On July 7, 2007, the Company entered irdefaitive agreement with an affiliate of PlatindEquity to sell the Company's wireless
deployment business. Platinum Equity is a Los Aegdlased private equity firm whose portfolio inelsdervice and distribution businesses in
a number of equity sectors. The total considerdtorhe acquisition was $24 million including $d8llion in cash at closing, subject to post
closing working capital adjustments, and an aggeefjé million in a three-year earn-out arrangentierttugh 2010. The transaction included a
Transition Services Agreement for the transitioeftain services for a period of nine months. assets sold to an affiliate of Platinum Eq
include all of the Company's wireless deploymersihess, and the Wireless Facilities name. The adimn closed on July 24, 2007.

On September 25, 2007, in accordance \Wwéhtdrms of the acquisition agreement, the Companyided the working capital calculation
to Platinum Equity (Platinum), which indicated ankiag capital adjustment was due to Platinum prilpalue to cash collected on accounts
receivables by the Company prior to the close eftthnsaction that exceeded the Company's preestirmate of working capital to be
delivered to Platinum. Platinum has reviewed thenany's working capital calculation, and the Conypamd Platinum have not been able to
come to an agreement on the working capital adjeistnin accordance with the agreement, the CompadyPlatinum are in the process of
choosing a firm to resolve this item. As of Decemb®, 2007, the balance of the Company's calculdias been reflected in other current
liabilities.

The Company determined that the U.S. emging and U.S. deployment operations met the @iterbe classified as held for sale in the
first quarter of 2007. Accordingly, the Company heftected these operations as discontinued aressesg these assets for impairment in
accordance with
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SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or jsal of Long-Lived Assets". The Company determitied the assets of the U.S.
deployment operations were impaired and recorddthpairment charge of approximately $13.4 millidine fair value of the assets was
determined by utilizing the sale price less est@datosts to sell the business. The Company substyuecorded a gain in discontinued
operations from the sale of the U.S. engineerireyaons of $14.8 million. Upon the divestituretioé deployment business, the Company
recorded a loss from disposal of $1.9 million,eefing the closing working capital adjustment aindlfclosing balance sheet. In addition, the
Company recorded a charge for an excess facilityuat of approximately $1.1 million related to eentfacility leases of Deployment field
offices that were not assumed by Platinum.

The determination that the U.S. engineebnginess and U.S. deployment operations met tteziarto be classified as held for sale in the
first quarter of 2007 was also a triggering evarder SFAS 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible As$&8§AS 142") that resulted in an
accelerated review of the Company's goodwill anargibles assets with indefinite lives. In accomawith SFAS 142, the Company allocated
the goodwill for the WNS reporting unit based upbe fair value of the engineering business andldpoyment business. The fair values used
were based upon market information obtained asutref the sale of the businesses. This resultethiimpairment charge of approximately
$7.2 million related to goodwill for this reportinmit which was recorded in the first quarter 0020

In addition, in accordance with EITF 87-2dlpcation of Interest to Discontinued OperatidiBITF 87-24"), interest expense incurred on
the debt that was required to be repaid as a rektlie sales of our wireless network servicesrmgs was allocated to discontinued operations
for the periods presented. During the years endsgember 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, interest expdiosatad to discontinued operations was
approximately $0.0 million, $0.0 million and $2.2llilon, respectively. The following table preseti® results of discontinued operations (in
millions):

2005 2006 2007
Revenue $ 26571 $ 2017 $ 85.7
Net income (loss) before tax 7.1 (9.8 (12.7)
Provision (benefit) for income tax 9.1 1.9 (0.9
Net loss after taxe $ 20 $ 1179 $ (12.¢
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Following is a summary of the assets aabiilities of discontinued operations as of Decen#igr2006 and December 31, 2007 (in

millions) for each of the operations:

December 31,

December 31,

2006 2007

Cash $ 3C $ 0.2
Accounts receivable, n 63.7 0.8
Other current asse 4.9 0.t
Impairment allowanc (4.€) —
Current assets of discontinued operati $ 67.C $ 1€
| |

Property, plant and equipme $ 91 % —
Goodwill 25t —
Deferred tax asse 2.8 —
Impairment allowanc (0.9 —
Other asset — 0.1
Non-current assets of discontinued operati $ 37.C % 0.1
I |

Accounts payabl $ 114 $ —
Accrued expense 22.1 3.7
Billings in excess of cost on uncompleted contr 3.7 —
Income tax contingencie 3.€ 1.2
Deferred tax liabilities 8.2 —
Other current liabilitie: 0.4 0.4
Current liabilities of discontinued operatic $ 495 % 5.3
I |

Non-current income tax contingenci $ — 3 2.C
Other nor-current liabilities 1.3 0.7
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operatic $ 12 % 2.7

Note 5. Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates
Tactical Survey Group, Inc. ("TSG")

In February 2004, the Company paid $1.0ionilin cash to bring its total stock ownership ifios in Tactical Survey Group, Inc. (TSG)
privately-held company that provides expertiseémedoping, deploying and integrating tactical syrggstems for use in government and
commercial applications, to 11%. Pursuant to tleigions of APB Opinion No. 18, "The Equity MethoflAccounting for Investments in
Common Stock", this investment was accounted fdeeuthe equity method of accounting due to thegires of significant influence deemed
to exist based on the significant number of sulremtd that the Company has entered into with TSf5tlae presence of a Kratos employee on
TSG's board of directors.

During the third quarter of 2006, TSG wadaonger considered a significant subcontractaghéoCompany. This factor, combined with
lack of current representation on TSG's board i&ators
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resulted in the Company concluding effective Septemn29, 2006 that significant influence no longdasted. Accordingly, the investment in
TSG no longer met the conditions for the use ofettpeity method of accounting and has been accodatathder the cost method effective
September 29, 2006. There were no equity earnglgted to this investment during the period thi@stment was accounted for under the
equity method of accounting. The balance of the gamy's investment in TSG at December 31, 2006edtdl.2 million. The Company
evaluates the realizability of its investment inJ &ccording to the provisions of APB Opinion No.&t8l FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1. The
Company periodically obtains and reviews the finalstatements of TSG. Based on this review, aodneindicators of fair value, an
impairment charge of $0.9 million was recorded @72 to reduce the carrying value of this investnaandf December 31, 2007 to $0.3 milli
This investment has been classified on the corateliibalance sheet under the caption "Investmentsdonsolidated affiliates."

CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

The Company has an investment in CommV8ggations, Inc., a privately-held wireless netwpténning and deployment company. The
balance of the Company's investment in CommVerdeti®as, Inc. at December 31, 2006 totaled $0.%anil Management periodically
obtains and reviews the most recent financial perémce and financial forecasts available from Coreng€ which may include information
regarding project status and current progresseobtisiness. Based on this review, an impairmemgehaf $0.9 million was recorded to reduce
the carrying value of this investment as of Decen®ie 2007 to $0.0 million. This investment is asoted for under the cost method and has
been classified on the consolidated balance smeletruhe caption "Investments in unconsolidatetiatts.” One of the Company's directors is
also a director of CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

Note 6. Acquisitions
Government Solutions Segment
Haverstick Consulting, Inc

On December 31, 2007 the Company acquirdidhapolis, Indiana headquartered Haverstick Aonguinc. (Haverstick) as part of the
Kratos Government Solutions Segment. Haverstickiges rocket and missile test and evaluation, weapystems support, and professional
services to the U.S. Army, U.S. Air Force, U.S. NaMASA, and other federal, state and local agendiérough the Haverstick acquisition,
Company expanded its customer footprint withinBted, and enhanced its presence with the U.S. Aic&am key growth area for Kratos.

The total purchase price was $90.2 millimriuding transaction costs incurred by Kratos @5$million. The purchase price paid to
Haverstick was $89.7 million comprised of $70.3limil in cash and the issuance of 7.48 million sbafethe Company's common stock val
at $2.60 per share or an aggregate stock consimeat$19.4 million. The value of the share issuexs determined by averaging the market
price of the stock two days before and two daysrdfte announcement of the acquisition, Novemb&067. The Company paid $81.1 million,
$66.7 million of which was cash paid at closing.4s@illion was paid shortly thereafter, and $12illiom in common stock. The Company
held back $8.6 million (the Holdback Consideratitmyecure any negative working capital adjustments
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required by the Merger Agreement and the Compangé&mnity rights. The Holdback Consideration is goised of both cash and Kratos st
in the amounts of $1.2 million and $7.4 millionspectively. The holdback consideration will be asked in 50% increments on the12nonth
and 215 month of the anniversary date of the acquisitioraddition to the indemnity holdback, the Agreeira@iso calls for a post closing
working capital adjustment. To fund the acquisititre Company secured a new credit facility of $88illion arranged by KeyBanc Capital
Markets. The credit facility, which includes a $2illion line of credit and $60.0 million in ternotes, replaced the Company's previous
credit facility which had an outstanding principalance of $6.0 million on the date of closing.

On February 29, 2008 the Company provithedaorking capital calculation to Haverstick, whiadicated a working capital adjustment
was due to the Company primarily because the wgrkapital, as calculated per the Agreement, wasnbtie target amount. Haverstick has
reviewed the Company's working capital calculagod is not in agreement. Haverstick's responseogespthat there is actually excess
working capital of approximately $1.5 million. Ic@rdance with the Agreement, the Company and H#ekihave fifteen days from the date
of the objection to resolve the disagreement.dbhation has not been achieved within the fifteap geriod, the Company and Haverstick have
five days to agree on a nationally recognized iedeljent accounting firm to resolve the disagreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agregntee Company has agreed to use its reasonafiietberts to file a resale registration
statement covering the shares issued in connegiibrthe Merger promptly following the closing date the event that the common stock
issued are not salable under rules promulgatedruhdeSecurities Acts, holders of the stock magteie exchange such shares for a cash
amount equal to $2.74 per share in accordancethatberms of the Merger Agreement. Until the datevbich the shares of stock are salable
interest shall accrue on the value of the ClositugiSat a floating rate of one-month LIBOR plusrfg@ercent (4%) per annum.

The purchase price paid to Haverstick &.$8nillion plus $0.5 in transaction costs was aoted for as follows (in millions):

Current assel $ 32.t
Property, plant, and equipme 2.3
Intangible assel 9.3
Goodwill 64.€
Other asset 2.4
Total asset 111.1
Current liabilities 7.9
Other liabilities 3.2
Net assets acquire $ 90.2

|

The goodwill recorded in this transaction is not d@ductible
Pro Forma Financial Information

The results of Haverstick's operationsrareincluded in the accompanying Consolidated States of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.
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The following summary presents pro formasmidated results of operations for the years émaiecember 31, 2006 and December 31,
2007 as if the Haverstick acquisition describedvatitad occurred on January 1, 2006 and includestaagnts that were directly attributable
the transaction, such as amortization of intangikitgerest related to debt, and one time expeassssciated with the merger, or were not
expected to have a continuing impact on the Compéing pro forma results are unaudited and fortittsre purposes only for the applicable
period and do not purport to be indicative of tbaual results which would have occurred had thestations been completed as of the
beginning of the period indicated, nor are theydative of results of operations which may occuthe future (all unaudited amounts, except
per share amounts, are in million):

2006 As Pro forma 2006 Pro
Reported Adjustments forma
Revenue $ 153.1 $ 93.C $ 246.1
Net income (loss $ (57.9 $ 4.8 $ (629
Basic and diluted loss per sh: $ 0.79 $ (0.060 $ (0.8Y
2007 As Pro forma 2007 Pro
Reported Adjustments forma
Revenue $ 193.¢ $ 94z $ 287.
Net loss $ (40.6) $ 5.) $ @459
Basic and diluted loss per shi $ (0.59) $ (0.09) $ (0.62)

Madison Research Corporatic

On October 2, 2006 the Company acquiredtstilie, Alabama based Madison Research CorporgtidRC") as part of the Company's
Government Solutions segment. MRC offers a broadeaf technical, engineering and IT solutions, bhas developed core competencies in
weapons system lifecycle support, integrated lagistest and evaluation, commercial-off-the-skeftware and hardware selection and
implementation, software development and systef@syitle maintenance.

The purchase price was approximately $@8lion, including a working capital adjustment$®4.6 million and transaction costs of
$0.2 million, and is subject to certain additiopabt-closing adjustments. The Company paid $62lliomat closing, the working capital
adjustment of $4.6 million was paid in April 200@dathe remaining $6.9 million, which has been sgbsetly adjusted for legal costs and a
reduction in contingent cash consideration, wad hatk to secure the Company's indemnity rightswveifide released, subject to indemnity
rights, in installments following 6, 12, and 18 ritu;from the date of close. In April 2007, $1.5lioil of the hold-back was released and paid
to the former shareholders of MRC. In October 2@03econd scheduled holdback payment of $2.8 milias made. The remaining hold back
balance of approximately $2.3 million as of Decentis 2007, subject to the resolution of certagteimnification matters, is expected to be
paid in April 2008. The Company entered into a 1§85 million credit facility with KeyBank National gsociation to fund the acquisition,
which replaced the Company's previous credit figodf $15 million. Refer to Note 8 for further disgsion. The results of operations of MRC
have been included in the Company's consolidatgdraent of operations for the period from the asitjoh date of October 2, 2006 in the
Company's fourth quarter of 2006.
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The purchase price, including transactiosts of $0.2 million, was accounted for as follgwmsmillions):

Current assef $ 17.¢
Property, plant, and equipme 04
Intangible assel 8.1
Goodwill 53.¢
Total asset 80.1
Current liabilities (6.3
Net assets acquire $ 73

.|

The goodwill recorded in this transaction is natdaductible
Pro Forma Financial Informatiol

The results of MRC's operations since tuaition date are included in the Company's clasted financial statements for 2006 and
a component within the Kratos Government Solut&egment.

The following summary presents pro formasmidated results of operations for the years émaiecember 31, 2005 and December 31,
2006 as if the MRC acquisition described abovedwuirred January 1, 2005 and includes adjustmeatsvere directly attributable to the
transaction or were not expected to have a comnimpact on the Company. The pro forma resultsiaeidited and for illustrative purposes
only for the applicable period and do not purporbé indicative of the actual results which woudd/é occurred had the transactions been
completed as of the beginning of the period indidahor are they indicative of results of operaiamich may occur in the future (all
unaudited amounts, except per share amounts, andlion):

2005 As Pro forma 2005 Pro
Reported Adjustments forma
Revenue $ 152.:  $ 624 $ 214.
Net income (loss $ 16 $ 33 % (1.7
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per st $ 00z % (0.0 $ (0.09)
2006 As Pro forma 2006 Pro
Reported Adjustments forma
Revenue $ 1531 $ 46.7 $ 199.¢
Net loss $ (579 $ (35 $ (619
Basic and diluted loss per shi $ 0.79 $ 05 $ (0.89

Contingent Acquisition Consideration

In connection with certain business acdjoiss, the Company may agree to make additionakéupayments to sellers contingent upon
achievement of specific performance-based milesttiyethe acquired entities. Pursuant to the pronsbf SFAS No. 141, such amounts are
accrued, and therefore, recorded by the Company wiescontingency is resolved beyond a reasonahlbtdand,
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hence, the additional consideration becomes payAldemmary of the contingent acquisition consitlereas of December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2007 is summarized in the followiredin millions).

Summary of Contingent Acquisition Consideration

PSS Other KGS Haverstick MRC Total
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 14C $ 0E $ — 3 — $ 14F
Post acquisition adjustmer 4.8 1.¢ — — 6.7
Payment: (11.1) (1.9 — — (13.0
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 77 % 0t $ — 8 — $ 8.2
Acquisitions — — — 11.€ 11.€
Post acquisition adjustmer 0.1 0.2 — — 0.3
Payment: (7.9 (0.7) — — (8.5
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ — 8 — $ 116 $ 11
Acquisitions — — 8.€ — 8.6
Post acquisition adjustmer — — — (0.9 (0.9
Payment: — — — (8.9 (8.9
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ — 8 8€ $ 23 $ 10¢

The current liabilities accrual for contérd consideration on the accompanying Consolid8tddnce Sheet as of December 31, 2007
includes $2.3 million for MRC and $0.6 million fétaverstick. Included in long term other liabilitiss$0.6 million for Haverstick with the
contingent stock consideration of $7.4 million eefied as paid in capital for contingent considerain the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Stockholder's Equity.

Government Solutions Segment
Haverstick Consulting, Inc

In connection with the Company's acquisitid Haverstick Consulting, Inc. (Haverstick) ondeeber 31, 2007, the purchase price
included $8.6 million in holdback considerationsicure, if any, negative adjustments to workingtabpnd the Company's indemnity rights.
The hold-back consideration includes both a cashkaatos common stock component. As of Decembe3Q7, the $8.6 million contingent
acquisition consideration balance was reflecte®1a® million in Accrual for contingent acquisiti@onsideration for the cash portion and as
$7.4 million in Paid-in-Capital for Contingent Cadsration in the accompanying consolidated balahests.

In accordance with the terms of the Merygreement $0.6 million and $3.7 million of the casid stock component of the hold back,
respectively, will be released at December 31, 2008 the remaining hold back amounts to be rel@aseugust 2009.
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Madison Research Corporation (MR

In connection with the Company's acquisitid Madison Research Corporation ("MRC") in OctoP@06, the purchase price included a
working capital adjustment of $4.6 million, whickas/paid in April 2007 and $6.9 million, which haeeh subsequently adjusted for legal costs
and a reduction in contingent cash considerati@s eld back to secure the Company's indemnitysrigihd will be released, subject to
indemnity rights, in installments following 6, 1&nd 18 months from the date of close. Holdback matmof $1.5 million and $2.8 million
were released and paid to the former sharehold&R& in April and October of 2007, respectivelys Af December 31, 2007, the
$2.3 million contingent acquisition consideratiaddnce which includes accrued interest of $0.lionilwas reflected as $2.3 million in the
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerationtba accompanying consolidated balance sheet. dhgp@ny expects to pay the remaining
holdback, subject to the remaining indemnificatidrigations, in April 2008.

Public Safety & Security Segmel

During the year ended December 31, 200@ &ifllion of earn-out consideration was paid totai® shareholders of the companies
acquired in the Public Safety & Security SegmerstoAMarch 31, 2006, all earn-out performance pkrioad ended and there was no
additional contingent consideration earned rel&detiose shareholders.

Note 7. Balance Sheet Details

The Company's cash equivalents consistvefright cash sweep accounts that are investeddailyabasis. As of December 31, 2007, the
company had no other short term investments. Thle aad cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 acehfileer 31, 2007 were as follows (in
millions):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2007
Fair
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Value
Basis Basis Basis Basis
Cash and cash equivalen
Cash $ 0Cc $ oCc $ 36 $ 3€
Money marke 5.4 5.4 5.C 5.C
Cash and cash equivalel $ 54 $ 54 % 86 $ 8¢

Net unrealized gains and realized gainsrosd during the year ended December 31, 2006 acdbber 31, 2007 were immaterial.
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The breakdown of certain assets in the @ateted balance sheets consists of the followingexember 31, 2006 and 2007 (in millions):

2006 2007
Accounts receivable, ne
Billed $ 36.z $ 43:
Unbilled 23.4 34.2
Total accounts receivab 59.¢ 77.5
Allowance for doubtful accoun (0.3 (0.5
Total accounts receivable, r $ 59. & 77.C
Property and equipment, ni
Computer equipmet $ 6. $ 4.9
Software 7.4 3.3
Furniture and office equipme 3.8 4.3
Facility under capital leas — 1.2
Leasehold improvemen 1.7 1.8
Property and equipme 18.¢ 15.5
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (12.9) (8.6)
Total property and equipment, r $ 6.1 $ 6.9
Investments in unconsolidated affiliat
CommVerge, Inc. $ 0e $ —
Tactical Survey Group, Inc 1.2 0.3
Total investments in unconsolidated affilia $ 21 % 0.3

Note 8. Notes Payable and Other Financing Arrangenmes
(a) Credit Agreement

On March 16, 2005, the Company enteredanteedit agreement with KeyBank National Assoora{i'’KeyBank") to provide a
$15.0 million senior credit facility. KeyBank wassignated as the sole arranger and sole book mafdgefacility had a three-year term and
could have been expanded to a $60.0 million fgcilihe Company used the facility for general cogp@mpurposes and to fund acquisitions. On
October 2, 2006, the Company entered into a ceggldement with Key Bank to provide an $85 milliemisr credit facility, which replaced t|
Company's existing $15 million senior credit faygiliThe facility had a 5 year term with principalaedin 2011 and interest payable on a mor
basis. At the Company's option, interest was pa&yabthe London Interbank Offer Rate plus 1.75-%50r at the prime rate plus 0.30-0.75%,
with either option adjusted quarterly based onGbenpany's total net debt-to-EBITDA ratio. The Compased the facility to fund its
acquisition of Madison Research Corporation (MR@) for general corporate purposes. The terms ofrb@it agreement required the
Company to provide certain customary covenants faredit agreement, including certain financialermants, computed as defined by the t
of the agreement. The facility was collateralizgdhte assets of the Company.
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The facility contained customary eventslefault, including payment defaults, breaches pfasentations and warranties, and covenant
defaults. As of March 30, 2007, the Company wasdamnical default of this agreement as it had mofijed its Form 10-K and 2006 audited
financials. On April 6, 2007, the Company entergd an amendment to the credit agreement wherelgyBéek waived this technical default
and provided an extension through April 30, 2007ifong our 10-K and 2006 audited financial statams. On June 1, 2007, the Company
entered into a second amendment to the credit mgmetewhereby Key Bank extended the original wafeefiling our 10-K and 2006 audited
financial statements and the quarterly unauditeainftial statements for the fiscal quarters endetiMal, 2007 and June 30, 2007 through
September 30, 2007 and reduced the total facdiy50 million to reflect the net pay downs of tieealving line of credit related to the
divestiture of our EMEA business in March 2007 &mel divesture of our domestic engineering businesaddition, the second amendment
provided for the further reduction of the Comparty&dit facility to $35 million effective upon reipe of principal payments under the note
received from the buyer of the domestic engineebingjiness, which occurred on July 3, 2007.

On December 31, 2007, the Company entartedai new credit facility of $85.0 million with KBanc Capital Markets which replaced the
October 2, 2006 credit agreement with Key BanksTnedit facility provides for two term loans castsig of a first lien term note of
$50.0 million and a second lien term note of $189Dwell as, a first lien $25 million revolving érof credit. The $10.0 million term loan has a
five and one half year term with principal paymemtguired quarterly beginning on March 31, 200%28,000 through March 31, 2013 with
the final balance of $9.5 million due on June 3W.2 The $50.0 million term loan has a five yeamtevith principal payments required
quarterly beginning on March 31, 2008 of $0.6 roiilin 2008, $1.3 million in 2009, $2.5 million i1 20, and $4.1 million in 2011 and 2012.
The term loans have a provision which states thaé ¢he full amount of the note has been borrotfeinotes cannot be paid down and
reborrowed again. The revolving line of credit basur year term which expires on December 31, 201dlcontains provisions typical in such
arrangements. All loans under the new credit figdilave an interest rate equal to a base rateatkéis a fluctuating rate per annum equal tc
higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%(lanthe rate of interest in effect for such dayablicly announced from time to time by
KeyBank as its "prime rate" plus a margin for taen loans of 6.5% to 7.5% and a margin of 1.0%.26% on the revolving line of credit. T
applicable margin at date of borrowing is deterrdibg the ratio of the Company's aggregate delitst&BITDA for the previous four fiscal
guarters. The Company used the credit facilityutodfthe acquisition of Haverstick Consulting Irtdagerstick) and to retire the outstanding
debt from the October 2006 agreement.

The Credit Facilities contain covenantsahhimpose certain restrictions on the Company'ityabo, among other things, incur additional
debt, pay dividends, make investments or sell asgelditionally, certain non-recurring cash inflogusch as proceeds from asset sales,
insurance recoveries, and equity offerings may havee used to pay down indebtedness and may netioerowed. In addition, the Credit
Facilities contain certain financial covenants whiicclude certain financial covenants as definedhigyterms of the agreements. These
financial covenants include a maximum first liemdeage ratio, a maximum total leverage ratio, amimm liquidity ratio, a minimum fixed
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charge coverage ratio, and a minimum consolida®d BA at various dates for the $50.0 million teraah and the $25.0 million revolver as
outlined in the following table.

Minimum
Consolidated
Maximum First Lien Maximum Total Minimum Liquidity Minimum Fixed Charge EBITDA
Date Leverage Ratio Leverage Ratio Ratio Coverage Ratio (in millions)
December 31, 20(—2008 3.22t04.76:1.C 3.76 t0 5.68:1.C 1.56 to 1.33:1.C 1.05 to 0.50:1.C $16.1 to $19.
2009 2.97 t0 2.33:1.C 2.78 to 3.50:1.C 1.60 to 1.58:1.C 1.11to0 1.02:1.C $19,8 to $21.
2010 1.75 to 2.00:1.C 2.251t0 2.50:1.C 15410 1.49:1.C 1.10to 1.06:1.C $21.5 to 23.
2011 1.75:1.0( 2.25:1.0( 1.55t0 1.53:1.C 1.10:1.0¢ $24.4 to $26.
2012 1.75:1.0( 2.25:1.0( 1.42t01.54:1.C 1.10:1.0¢ $26.7 to $27.

The $10.0 million term loan also provides similar financial covenants.

Future maturities of long-term debt ardai®ws (in millions):

2008 $ 2.€
2009 51
2010 10.1
2011 31.¢
2012 16.4
Thereaftel 9.4

$ 75.tF

|

As of December 31, 2007, the Company'stanting balance on the facility was $75.5 milliondahe weighted average interest rate on
the debt borrowed during 2007 was 8.3%. This inetu®3.5 million of interest expense and financiogts related to the October 2006
agreement and the new facility dated December @17 2The replacement of the October 2006 facigguited in a write-off of $1.0 million in
deferred financing costs. The Company had $3.3anilh deferred financing costs outstanding as e€@&@nber 31, 2007 which are related to
the new facility and are being amortized over ther ffive and five and one half year life of thepective underlying notes.

As of December 31, 2007 the unused linerediit under the revolving line of credit was $tblion. The only restriction on the use of
these funds is that the Company must be in congiavith covenants of the credit facility.

On February 11, 2008 the Company enteredarthree derivative financial instruments withykgank to reduce the Company's exposure
to its variable interest rates on its outstandielgtdThese instruments initially hedged $70 milladrits LIBOR-based floating rate debt with t
amounts hedged decreasing over time. The deriwathature on March 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011 esultrin an average fixed rate of
3.16% for the term of the agreements. The Compasigdated these instruments as cash flow hedgé4aich 2008 as a result of the
amendment to the Company's Credit Facility, the gamy determined that these instruments were ncetomghly effective as a hedge. Future
gains and losses on these derivative instrumeniehsas the offsetting gain or loss on the hedggm attributable to the hedged risk will be
recognized in earnings.
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In March 2008 The Company entered intonéatieve agreement to settle the 2004 and 2007 iesuclass action litigation actions, and as
a result, the Company recorded a $4.9 million chamghe quarter ended December 31, 2007 to adsrshare of the settlement amounts and
an estimate for a contingent liability associatethwegal proceedings related to the derivativéoast, net of the amounts to be covered by the
Company's insurance carriers. As a consequenaeofding this legal settlement, the Company didmeeét certain of the financial covenants
in accordance with the Credit Agreement. Accordingh March 27, 2008, the Company obtained an amentand waiver from its lenders
waive the impact of the legal settlement amountigofinancial covenants as of December 31, 20@7the affected future periods. The
amendment also amended the Credit Agreement tadader an increase in the LIBOR floor rate to #28&nd to require that the Company set
aside in a restricted account, approximately 50%hefproceeds of the recovery from the theft oflstaptions by its former stock option
administrator, or approximately $1.7 million, tonflithese settlement amounts. The lenders haveesdsoved the right to require the Company
to utilize the entire amount of the $3.4 milliongroceeds received from the theft of stock optimnsermanently pay down indebtedness. This
right can be exercised no earlier than 60 days tarch 27, 2008 and expires upon the Company's tange with financial covenants under
the Credit Agreement for the four consecutive cerartommencing after January 1, 2008.

The net benefit of the swap agreementgemiato by us on February 11, 2008 has been relddog¢he LIBOR floor included in the
amendment and waiver discussed above. The cotadtathis amendment will be recorded as defdineshcing costs for the credit facility in
the first quarter of 2008.

Note 9. Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain facilities andmment under operating leases having terms expat various dates through 2016. Future
minimum lease payments under capital and oper&tagps as of December 31, 2007 are as followsi(iioms):

Capital Net Operating
Leases Leases
Year ending December 3
2008 $ 03 $ 5.€
2009 0.3 5.2
2010 0.3 2.8
2011 0.3 1.C
2012 0.3 0.8
Thereaftel 14 0.6
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 29 % 16.2
I
Less amount representing inter 1.7
Present value of capital lease obligati 1.2
Less current portio 0.1
Long-term capital lease obligatiol $ 11
.|
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Pursuant to the terms of sublease agresmasnif December 31, 2007, approximately $0.8 aniltif sublease income will offset future
minimum lease payments. Gross rent expense unéeatiog leases for the years ended December 35, 2006 and 2007 were $4.6 million,
$4.0 million and $4.3 million, respectively. Toglblease income for the years ended December 85, 2006 and 2007 totaling $0.3 million,
$0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, hashenetted against rent expense.

Based on management's assessment of assnsipased upon existing market conditions, subleastal rates and recoverability of
operating lease expenses for the Company's vaoapmeies and due to the Company's actions to didiase facilities, during the fourth quar
of 2006, the Company reevaluated its accrual fased office space and determined that a portiots @brporate facility would no longer be
utilized to the extent previously expected. Assute the Company calculated the estimated loasnaised office space to increase by
approximately $1.4 million in 2006. In 2007, ther@any recorded an additional $0.8 million for aress facility accrual for obligations
under facility leases that were unfavorably impddig its recent divestitures of our wireless netnsgrvices businesses which resulted in
unused office space.

The accrual for loss on unused office speas $2.6 million and $2.4 million as of Decembgr 3006 and December 31, 2007,
respectively. The Company estimates that the rangaerccrual will be paid through 2010. These amsané included in asset impairment and
other charges on the Company's statement of opesafihe lease on certain office facilities inclsideheduled base rent increases over the
term of the lease. The total amount of the basep@yments is being charged to expense on thgbtrine method over the term of the lease.
In addition to the base rent payment, the Compayg ja monthly allocation of the building's opergtaxpenses. The Company has recorded
deferred rent, included in accrued expenses aret t#tbilities in the consolidated balance shegt$1.0 million and $0.8 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, to refitecexcess of rent expense over cash paymerts isiception of the respective lease.

Note 10. Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretatin. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income TaxeAn Interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109 ("FIN 48"). FIN 48 clarifies the accountifay uncertainty in income taxes recognized in atitys financial statements in accordal
with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Incofexes, and prescribes a recognition threshold esesorement attributes for financial
statement disclosure of tax positions taken or etgaeto be taken on a tax return. Under FIN 48jrtipact of an uncertain income tax position
must be recognized at the largest amount that re4tilcely-than-not to be sustained upon audit ey rdlevant taxing authority. An uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized if itshiass than a 50% likelihood of being sustainedli#@hally, FIN 48 provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and pegaltaccounting in interim periods, disclosure aaddition.

The Company adopted the provisions of FNod January 1, 2007. The total liability for urognized tax benefits as of the date of
adoption was $4.7 million. Additionally, the Comgamas a tax refund claim of $2.4 million for whiithhas not recorded any benefit under
FIN 48 or prior standards. As a result of the impéatation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a #illfon increase in the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits, with $0.2 million net@ase in valuation allowance, $0.1 million chargedetained earnings, and $0.4 million
recorded to goodwill. In addition,
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the Company reduced its gross deferred tax asgek$8 million for unrecognized tax benefits, whiwas offset by a reduction in its
valuation allowance by the same amount.

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@fitsillions):

Total

Balance at January 1, 20 $ 18.C
Increases related to prior peric 5.7
Decreases related to current year tax posi (7.9
Expiration of applicable statutes of limitatic (1.6
Foreign currency translatic 0.4
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 152

|

Included in the balance of unrecognizedt@mefits at December 31, 2007, are $12.8 milliotaxo benefits that, if recognized, would
affect the effective tax rate. Included in this ambis $8.8 million that would become a deferredaaset it the tax benefit were recognized. As
such, this benefit may be impacted by a correspmndaluation allowance depending upon the Compdimgacial condition at the time the
benefits are recognized.

The Company recognizes interest and pesalélated to unrecognized tax benefits in its igiom for income taxes. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, the Company recorded $0.2 milfionterest and penalties.

The Company believes that it is reasonpbhsible that as much as $3.8 million of the FIN@8liabilities will expire within 12 months
of December 31, 2007 due to the expiration of weriapplicable statutes of limitations and possieltiement of a pending income tax refund
claim.

The Company is subject to taxation in th8.l&nd various state tax jurisdictions. The Comgjsatax years for 2000 and forward are
subject to examination by the U.S. and state talxaaities due to the existence of net operating tzaryforwards. Generally, the Company's
tax years for 2002 and forwards are subject to éxatmon by various foreign tax authorities.

In assessing the realizability of defert@dassets, management considers on a periodi, bdséther it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will hetrealized. As such, management has determined thappropriate to maintain a full
valuation allowance against its deferred tax as@gth the exception of an amount equal to its tefittax liabilities which can be expected to
reverse. Management will continue to evaluate #eeasity to maintain a valuation allowance agaissteferred tax asset.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company haetaleferred tax liability of $2.0 million. The @efed tax assets and liabilities are allocated
based upon the underlying asset or liability thratpced the deferred taxes. As of December 31,,2067e were no deferred tax assets or
liabilities allocated to discontinued operations.
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Income (loss) from continuing operationfobe provision (benefit) for income taxes for theays ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007 is comprised of the following (in millions):

2005 2006 2007

Domestic $ 35 $ (8249 $ (26.9

The provision (benefit) for income taxesnfr continuing operations for the years ended Deeer@b, 2005, 2006 and 2007 is comprise
the following (in millions):

2005 2006 2007
Current:
Federal $ (B $ (0L $ o0cC
State 0.2 0.7 0.7
Total current (5.9 0.2 0.7
Deferred:
Federal 4.8 12.1 0.t
State 04 1.t 0.1
Total deferrec 5.2 13.¢ 0.€
Total $ (01 $ 13¢&¢ $ 13

A reconciliation of total income tax prows (benefit) to the amount computed by applying statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to
income (loss) from continuing operations beforeine tax provision (benefit) for the years endedddalmer 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 is as
follows (in millions):

2005 2006 2007
Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutaty $ 12 $ (119 $ (949
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit and vadnaailowance 0.€ 2.1 0.7
Increase (decrease) in federal valuation allow: (3.9 15.¢ 9.9
Increase (decrease) in reserves for uncertaindsitipns (0.2 0.1 —
Contingent acquisition considerati (0.7) — —
Tax basis difference on subsidiar 0.8 — —
Nondeductible expens 0.2 0.6 0.1
Revision of prior year estimat 14 — —
Goodwill write-off — 6.4 —
Total $ (01) $ 13¢ % 1.3

104




KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
Note 10. Income Taxes (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differencest fhive rise to the deferred tax assets and def¢aseliabilities as of December 31, 2006 and
2007 are as follows (in millions):

2006 2007
Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 07 $ 0.8
Sundry accrual 1.1 0.5
Vacation accrue 1.€ 0.7
Stock-based compensatic 1.6 7.7
Property and equipment, principally due to differesin depreciatio 2.2 1.3
Investments 1.7 2.4
Goodwill and other intangible 1.8 —
Net operating loss carryforwar 52.1 62.4
Capital loss carryforwar 1.€ 1.6
Tax credit carryforward 0.2 0.3
Deferred revenu 0.7 —
Reserves and oth 9.3 6.7
75.C 84.4
Valuation allowanct (54.9) (75.0)
Total deferred tax assets, net of allowa 20.7 94
Deferred tax liabilities
Unearned revent (12.9) (0.9
Other intangible: (4.8 (9.0
Property and equipment, principally due to differesin depreciatio (4.2 (1.6)
Other liabilities (0.9 —
Total deferred tax liabilitie (22.1) (11.9
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (149 $ (2.0

At December 31, 2007, the Company had tddex loss carryforwards of $174.2 million (inciod stock option net operating loss
carryforwards) which expire beginning in 2020 amdious state tax loss carryforwards of $152.7 orillivhich expire beginning in 2012.
Federal and state tax laws impose restriction$erutilization of net operating loss and tax creditryforwards in the event of an "ownership
change" for tax purposes as defined by Sectiono3&2e Internal Revenue Code. The Company may hexgred one or more "ownership
changes" under Section 382. If an "ownership chadigkoccur, utilization of the net operating lagscredit carryforward amounts may be
limited. As discussed elsewhere, deferred tax assédting to the net operating loss and credityéanwards are offset by a full valuation
allowance. In addition, utilization of state tax$ocarryforwards is dependent upon sufficient teexadzome apportioned to the states.
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In assessing the realizability of defert@dassets, management considers, on a periods; bdether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will hetrealized. During fiscal 2007, the Company reedran increase in its valuation allowance of
$20.7 million. Of this amount, $9.9 million is astét of current year operations, causing the ctilyear tax expense to increase over the
expected expense or benefit. The remaining incrieatbe valuation allowance is attributed to deddrtax assets acquired in the acquisition of
Haverstick Consulting, Inc. and the true-up of be@ig deferred tax assets based on actual taxirélimgs. The increase was required based
on the Company's overall assessment of the risksiacertainties related to its future ability taliee and utilize the Company's deferred tax
assets.

Note 11. Stockholders' Equity
(@) Preferred Stock

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued aneagge of 90,000 shares of Series B Convertibleebesf Stock, at an aggregate purchase
price of $45.0 million, in a private placement tiges affiliated with one of the directors of t@®mpany (40,000 shares), to a brother of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Compéty,000 shares) and to an unrelated third-paxtgstor (40,000 shares). The Company
received $44.9 million of net proceeds. Each sb&feries B Convertible Preferred Stock is inifiadbnvertible into 100 shares of Common
Stock for a conversion price of $5.00 per shardclivas the fair market value of the common stadkae closing, at the option of the holde
any time, subject to certain provisions in the &B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement. Prioettedber 31, 2004, 64,517 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were converted6,451,700 shares of the Company's CommorkS@e April 5, 2006, 15,483 shares
of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were caeekinto 1,548,300 shares of the Company's ComnmekS

Through December 31, 2007, the Companyd@aived notices from the holders to convert amegaie number of 80,000 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock into an agape=§,000,000 shares of the Company's Common StoctRecember 31, 2007, the total
liguidation preference equaled $5.0 million. In@wance with EITF No. 03-06 "Participating Secestand the Two-Class Method under
FASB Statement No. 128", the Company's Series ABaRdeferred Stock was considered a participataogisty for purposes of computing
basic earnings per share as further discussedt& No).

(b) Stock Option Plans and Restricted Stock UniPlans

During the years ended 1997, 1999 and 2@0Board of Directors approved the 1997 Stockddp®lan (the "1997 Plan"), the 1999
Equity Incentive Plan (the "1999 Plan") and the@0ldn-statutory Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plareé¥pectively. Further, in February
2005, the Board of Directors approved the 2005 dacentive Plan (the "2005 Plan"). The 2005 Rias subsequently approved by a
majority of the Company's stockholders on May X&)%

Stock options granted under the 1997 Ptahl®99 Plan may be incentive stock options or statitory stock options and are exercisable
for up to ten years following the date of granteT@ompany ceased making grants under, and subsbqgieeminated the 1997 Plan upon
completion of its initial public offering. The 20@an permits the grant of non-statutory stockansj which are
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exercisable for a period following the date of gras determined by the Board of Directors (gengtelh years). Additionally, in July 2004, the
Board of Directors resolved that all future stogition grants under all of the Company's stock epfitans would be non-statutory stock
options, until such further determination by theaBbof Directors.

Stock option exercise prices for the 198:P1999 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005 Plan must bal émor greater than the fair market value
the common stock on the date of grant. A cumulatital of 7.5 million, 15.9 million, 6.5 million @&h3.5 million shares of common stock have
been authorized for issuance under the 1997 P&89 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005 Plan, respectivelgrdlemain approximately 2.3 million
shares of common stock authorized for the 1997 ®Rizsioh are no longer issuable due to the terminaticthe plan. In accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation," the Company applies APB OpiNmr25, "Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees," and related interpretatioreccounting for its 1997 Plan, 1999 Plan and Z%lad. On May 18, 2005, the Compensa
Committee of the Company's Board of Directors appdathe acceleration of vesting of all unvestedomstto purchase shares of the
Company's common stock that were held by currepi@yees, including executive officers, and whiclhéan exercise price per share equ
or greater than $10.00. Options to purchase 2,8%4shAares of common stock were subject to thislaat®n. The options subject to
acceleration had a weighted average exercise pfi$22.02. The exercise prices and number of shareigct to the accelerated options were
unchanged.

On September 19, 2005, the Compensationn@itiee of the Company's Board of Directors appravedacceleration of vesting of all
unvested options to purchase shares of the Congeniyimon stock that were held by current employieekiding executive officers, and
excluding Directors and which have an exerciseeppier share equal to or greater than $8.00. Optmparchase 1,026,197 shares of common
stock were subject to this acceleration. The ogt&ubject to acceleration had a weighted averageisr price $9.06. The exercise prices and
number of shares subject to the accelerated optvens unchanged.

On December 21, 2005, the Company's BobBdrectors approved, subject to certain limitechdibions, the acceleration of vesting of all
unvested options to purchase shares of common efdble Company that were held by employees, aridhwlave an exercise price per share
equal to or greater than $6.50. The acceleraticheffective as of December 30, 2005, provided hbéders of incentive stock options within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revebode of 1986, as amended, were given the eleatidedline the acceleration of an optio
such acceleration would have the effect of chantiegstatus of such option for federal income tasppses from an incentive stock option to a
non-qualified stock option. Options to purchaserapipately 316,239 shares of common stock wereesildp this acceleration. The options
subject to acceleration had a weighted averageiseeprice of $6.82. The number of shares subgettte accelerated options remained
unchanged.

The acceleration of these options was uallen to avoid recognition of future compensatirpesnse that the Company would otherwise
recognize in its consolidated statement of opematigith respect to these options once the FinaAdabunting Standards ("FASB") No. 123
(revised 2004) "Share-Based Payment", issued bifithencial Accounting Standards Board, became &¥i=cAs originally issued by the
FASB, SFAS No. 123 was to be implemented as ob#ggnning of the first
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interim or annual period beginning after June TH3 In April, 2005, the SEC announced it wouldnpigicompanies to implement SFAS

No. 123R at the beginning of the next fiscal y&ée future expense that was eliminated as a rebthie acceleration of the accelerated ves
of these options was approximately $18.4 milliogt, of tax (of which approximately $7.8 million wakributable to options held by executive
officers and $0.4 million is attributable to opt®oheld by directors).

In addition, on December 21, 2005, the Ba#rDirectors of the Company approved, subjededain limited conditions, the amendment
of all outstanding stock option grants under thenany's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and 2000 Nouotdat Stock Option Plan (collectively,
the "Option Plans'), with an exercise price per share greater t120%4 of the closing market price of the Companytammn stock on
December 29, 2005 to provide that, as of DecemBgP@05, the exercise price of each outstandintksiption under the Option Plans shall
reduced to 120% of the closing price of the Comfsaogmmon stock as reported on the NASDAQ Natideket on December 29, 2005;
provided, howeve, that the holder of such outstanding stock opiscen employee of the Company on December 30, 200@%xcluding
(i) employees of the Company that are categorizgoraject staff associates and (ii) employees wwehprior to December 30, 2005, given
notice to, or received notice from, the Companyniaating their employment on a date or time pegfidr December 30, 2005. There was no
financial impact related to this amendment.

The acceleration of these options was uallen to eliminate the future compensation expémstethe Company would otherwise have
recognized in its consolidated statement of opamativith respect to these options once the Stateofiérinancial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004) "Shi-Based Payment", issued by the Financial Accouritamdards Board EAS 123'), became effective for
reporting periods beginning in January 2006. Ther&expense that was eliminated as a result cdi¢beleration of the vesting of these opt
was approximately $0.8 million (none of which isridutable to options held by executive officeis)addition, because the repricing occurred
in lieu of additional option grants in 2006 of apximately 2.5 million shares for certain of the Gmny's employees (the "20@ption Grants
"), the repricing enabled the Company to signifibanffset the dilutive impact of the 2006 Optioma@ts by reducing both the FAS 123
compensation expense for future option grants disasehe dilution to the Company's outstandingstzmount.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company &etbthe provisions of Statement of Financial AcdmgStandards No. 123R ("SFAS 123R"),
"Share-Based Payments," which requires the measuntesmd recognition of compensation expense fatate-based payment awards to
employees and directors based on estimated faiesaSFAS 123R supersedes the Company's previoasrding methodology using the
intrinsic value method under Accounting PrincipBesard Opinion APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stockussl to Employees.” Under the
intrinsic value method, no share-based compensatipanse related to stock option awards grantethfgoyees had been recognized in the
Company's Consolidated Statements of Operatiora| agck option awards granted under the plamisdmeexercise price equal to or greater
than the market value of the common stock on the ofsgrant. The Company has no awards with markperformance conditions.

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using thdfiadgrospective transition method. Under thigigition method, compensation expense
recognized during the years ended December 31, 200@007 included: (a) compensation expense fehate-based awards granted prior to,
but not yet vested, as of December 31, 2005, baise¢le grant date fair value estimated in accoreavith the
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original provisions of SFAS 123, and (b) compersagxpense for all share-based awards grantedqudrseto December 31, 2005, based on
the grant date fair value estimated in accordarittetive provisions of SFAS 123R. In accordance htinmodified prospective transition
method, the Company's consolidated financial statgsifor prior periods have not been restatedfteatehe impact of SFAS 123R.

On December 28, 2006, the Board of Directdrthe Company approved the acceleration of mgsif all unvested options issued prior to
June 30, 2006 to purchase shares of common stdble @ompany that were held by employees and direcThe acceleration was effective
of December 29, 2006, provided that holders ofritige stock options within the meaning of Secti@2 4f the Internal Revenue Code of 1¢
as amended, were given the election to declinatheleration of an option if such acceleration widwdve the effect of changing the status of
such option for federal income tax purposes fronmaantive stock option to a non-qualified stockiop. Options to purchase approximately
2.1 million shares of common stock were subje¢hi® acceleration.

The acceleration of these options was uallen to eliminate the future compensation expémstethe Company would have otherwise
recognized in its consolidated statement of opamativith respect to these options under the Stateaid-inancial Accounting Standards
No. 123R "Shal-Based Payment", issued by the Financial Accouriitagndards Board FAS 123R)). The expense that was incurred in 2006
related to the vesting of these options was $5IHomiin continuing operations and $4.1 milliondiscontinued operations.

On January 10, 2007, the Compensation Ctteendf the Board approved a form of RestrictectiStanit Agreement (the "RSU
Agreement") to govern the issuance of restrictedkstinits ("RSU") to executive officers under then@pany's 2005 Plan. Each RSU repres
the right to receive a share of common stock (at&h on the vesting date. Unless and until the &&st, the Employee will have no right to
receive Shares under such RSUs. Prior to actuaitdison of Shares pursuant to any vested RSUs) 8BUs will represent an unsecured
obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) oflgm the general assets of the Company. The RBatsiay be awarded to executive officers
under the RSU Agreement will vest according to mgsschedules specified in the notice of grant equanying each grant. We recognize
compensation expense on a straight-line basistbeeresting periods based on the market price p§tmek on the grant date. Of the awards
granted in 2007, the vesting periods ranged frormiafiths to 10 years with accelerated vesting oowyiupon a change in control or
termination. Upon exercise of the RSU, the Comgasyes new shares of common stock.

Information under FAS123R for Fiscal 2006 and 2

The Company records compensation expemsariployee stock options based on the estimateddhie of the options on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing maated the weighted average assumptions (annualizeémages) included in the following
table. Awards with
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graded vesting are recognized using the straigktsiethod. Fair value under SFAS No. 123R is deternusing the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following assumptions:

2006 2007
Expected life:(1
Stock options 3.8 year 10.0 year
Purchase pla — —
Risk-free interest rate(Z 4.6% 4.5%
Volatility(3) 61.7% 56.£%
Forfeiture rate(4 23.71% 23.1%

Dividend yield(5) — —

(1) The expected life of stock options granted undemRtans is based upon historical exercise pattenizh the Company believes are
representative of future behavior or the life af tption when the options are 100% vested at gdindbptions granted in 2007 were
100% vested at grant date and had a life of 10syddme expected life of shares under the Purchlaser®presents the amount of time
remaining in the offering period.

2) The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Tmyagelds in effect at the time of grant with arteequal to the expected term of the
options.

(3) The Company estimated the implied volatility ofé@mmon stock at the date of grant based on arllgqueighted average of trailing
volatility and market based implied volatility fire computation in 2006 and in 2007 we estimataaiéd volatility based upon trailin
volatility.

4) Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantdag®n historical information. Forfeitures will bevised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from estimat&seviously, under APB25, the Company recognirefkitures as they were incurred.

(5) The Company has no history or expectation of paglimglends on its common stoc
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Upon option exercise, the Company issugssieares of common stock. A summary of the stattiseoCompany's stock option plan as of
December 31, 2007 and of changes in options outistgrunder the plan for the year ended Decembe2@17 is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Number of Weighted-Average Exercise Remaining Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price per Share Term (in years) Intrinsic Value
(000's) (000's)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 11,14« $ 6.12
Options grante! 15 2.1¢
Options exercise (15) 1.6€
Options forfeited or expire (4,969 5.9¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 6,181 $ 6.2¢ 55 $ 10.t
| I I I
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 6,14t $ 6.31 55 $ 9.8

As of December 31, 2007, there was $26gand of total unrecognized stock compensation esgpeziated to nonvested shares which is
expected to be recognized over a remaining weigatedage vesting period of 1.4 years.

During the years ended December 31, 20862807, the following activity occurred under ogtion plans:

(In thousands except weighted average grant dateifavalue) 2006 2007
Weighted average grant date fair value of optioasigd $ 23z $ 15¢
Total intrinsic value of options exercis $ 17¢ % 10

Additional information about stock optiomststanding at December 31, 2007 with exerciseeptiiess than $2.35 per share, the exercise
price at December 31, 2007 the last trading daheperiod, follows (number of shares in thousands)

Exercisable Unexercisable Total

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Stock Options Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Less than $2.3 10¢ $ 2.02 35 $ 2.0% 144 $ 2.04
Above $2.3¢ 6,03¢ $ 6.3¢ 13 6.3¢ 6,037 $ 6.3¢
Total outstanding 6,14t $ 6.31 36 $ 2.1t 6,181 $ 6.2¢

— — —
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The following table summarizes the Company's Restried Stock Unit activity:

Restricted

Stock Units Weighted-Average Grant-
(Shares in Thousands (000's) Date Fair Value
Nonvested balance at December 31, 20 — —
Grants 2,751 $ 2.2¢
Vested (550) 2.3¢€
Forfeitures (40) 2.3¢
Nonvested balance at December 31, 20 2,15¢ $ 2.2¢

As of December 31, 2007, there was $4.6anibf total unrecognized stock compensation espeaelated to nonvested restricted stock
units which is expected to be recognized over aieimg weighted-average vesting period of 8.8 yeHng fair value of RSU awards that
vested in 2007 was $1.2 million (none in 2005 abd6).

Information under FAS 123 for Periods Prior to Fa$@006

Stock option transactions are summarizéovbéshares in thousands):

Options Outstanding

Exercise Price per Share

Shares Number of
Available Shares Weighted
for Grant Outstanding Range Average
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,192 11,83: $1.3—%132.0¢ $ 9.11
Plan Shares Expire (28) — —
Grantec (20,19¢) 10,19¢ $4.9:—$9.54 $ 6.22
Exercisec — (599 $1.3:—%$6.4 $ 4.31
Cancellec 8,26¢ (8,269 $3.56—$132.0C $ 10.4:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5,237 13,16¢ $1.3—%52.8¢ $ 6.21

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors aqwed the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (theHBse Plan”). A total of 2.9 million
shares of Common Stock have been authorized foams® under the Purchase Plan. The Purchase Riffieguas an employee stock purch
plan within the meaning of Section 423 of the Ing&#¢Revenue Service Code. The Purchase Plan conethém&lovember 1999 upon
completion of the Company's initial public offerif@n November 16, 2005, the Compensation Committélee Board of Directors elected to
suspend all future offerings under the Purchase &fective January 1, 2006.

Unless otherwise determined by the Compers&ommittee of the Board of Directors, all emyses were eligible to participate in the
Purchase Plan so long as they are employed bydhgeény (or a subsidiary designated by the boardtfeeast 20 hours per week and were
customarily employed by the Company (or a subsydi@signated by the board) for at least 5 monthsglendar year.
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Employees who actively participated in Ehechase Plan were eligible to have up to 15%eif #arnings for each purchase period
withheld pursuant to the Purchase Plan. The ambantvas withheld was used at various purchases athin the offering period to purchase
shares of Common Stock. The price paid for CommonkSat each such purchase date was then equiavike of 85% of the fair market val
of the Common Stock at the commencement date bbffexing period or 85% of the fair market valuelte Common Stock on the relevant
purchase date. Employees were also able to endpidueticipation in the offering at any time duritige offering period, and participation ended
automatically upon termination of employment. Fritra Purchase Plan's inception through Decembe2®X7, the cumulative number of
shares of Common Stock that have been issued timel@urchase Plan was 2,005,899.

(d) Shelf Registration

On February 19, 2004 the Company filed imansal shelf Registration statement on Form SeéBamacquisition shelf Registration on
Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commis&&C). The Company has no immediate plans te cpital under the shelf Form S-3
or to utilize the shelf Form S-4 for acquisitioarisactions and the registration statements areunantly usable due to the late filings made in
2007. The universal shelf registration statemerft@m S-3 will permit the Company to sell, in orrenwore public offerings, shares of newly
issued common stock, shares of newly issued pesfatiock, warrants or debt securities, or any coatlin of such securities, for proceeds in
an aggregate amount of up to $200 million. In addijtthe universal shelf will permit certain stookders who purchased the Company's
Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stmckell up to 5.4 million shares of common stodkpawhich are currently included in the
Company's December 31, 2005 weighted average ditktdenmon shares outstanding. The acquisition skgiétration statement on Form S-4
will enable the Company to issue up $200 millioritefcommon stock in one or more acquisition tratieas that the Company may make fr
time to time. These transactions may include tlgpistion of assets, businesses or securities, velndity purchase, merger or any other forr
business.

(e) Stockholder Rights Agreement

On December 16, 2004, the Company entetedai Stockholder Right Agreement (the "Rights Agnent"). Under the terms of the Rig
Agreement, initially, the Rights will attach to akrtificates representing shares of outstandingzmy common stock and no separate Rights
Certificates will be distributed. Subject to th@yisions of the Rights Agreement the Rights wippaeate from the Company common stock and
the "Distribution Date" will occur upon the earligf (i) ten business days following a public anncement (the date of such announcement
being the "Stock Acquisition Date") that persorgooup of affiliated or associated persons has aedwir obtained the right to acquire
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the thenstartding Common Stock (an "Acquiring Person"),iditén business days (or such later
date as may be determined by action of the BoaRirefctors prior to such time as any person beccene&cquiring Person) following the
commencement of a tender offer or exchange offgrwlould result in a person or group becoming aguiting Person. An Acquiring Person
does not include certain persons specified in tight? Agreement.
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On December 16, 2004, the Company's Bobdrectors authorized and declared a dividendr# dght (a "Right") to purchase on one-
hundredth of a share of the Company's Series @iPeef Stock ("Series C Preferred") for each outtapshare of Common Stock, par value
$0.001 ("Common Stock"), to stockholders of recasdf the close of business December 27, 2004'iReeord Date"). Each Right entitles the
registered holder, subject to the terms of the Riglgreement, to purchase from the Company onehoneé+sedth of a share of Series C
Preferred at a purchase price of $54.00, subjeatljisstment (the "Purchase Price").

The Rights are not exercisable until thetlibution Date and will expire at the close of iness on the tenth anniversary of the Rights
Agreement unless earlier redeemed or exchangelieb@ampany.

Note 12. Employee Benefit Plan

In 1996, the Company implemented a 401gk)rgys plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the lmieRevenue Code (the "Code"), covering
substantially all employees. Participants in thenphay contribute a percentage of compensatiomdiuh excess of the maximum allowed
under the Code. The Company may make contribuibtise discretion of its Board of Directors. Then@uany made contributions of
$2.1 million in 2005, $2.5 million in 2006 and $2rillion in 2007.

On November 18, 2004, the Board of Direstmiopted the Wireless Facilities, Inc. Nonqualifieferred Compensation Plan, effective
of January 1, 2005 (the "Plan"). The Plan proviebescutive officers and other eligible highly comgpated employees with the opportunity to
enter into agreements to defer up to eighty per@a%0o) of their cash compensation derived from Isadary, bonus awards and/or
commissions. In addition, the Company may, indie &nd absolute discretion, award any participadter the Plan an additional employer
contribution. Deferrals are adjusted for gain @sldased on the performance of one or more investopdions selected by the participant from
among investment funds chosen by the committeeiaigabto administer the Plan. Participants mayteteat distribution of deferred amounts
be paid in the form of either a lump sum or in adrinstallments if the participant terminates enyptent as a result of his or her retirement.
However, all other distributions under the Plan W made in a single lump sum. Distributions oagown termination of service or upon such
other dates that may be elected by the participaatcordance with the terms of the Plan. The Compia its sole discretion, may suspend or
terminate the Plan or revise of amend it in anpeeswhatsoever; provided, however, that no sutbramay reduce amounts credited to
deferral accounts and such accounts will continugetowed to the participants or beneficiariesaiidccontinue to be a liability of the
Company.
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The following table presents our key custosrfor the years presented and the percentaget ghles made to such customers (in millic

% of Total

Key Customer Revenue Revenue
2005

U.S. Navy $ 33.€ 22%
2006

U.S. Navy $ 34.z 22%
2007

U.S. Army $ 46.7 24%

U.S. Navy $ 38.7 20%

Our top five customers accounted for apjmaxely 38%, 47% and 62% of our total revenue i622®006 and 2007, respectively.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 customers comprised approximately 60% offederal business revenues and our five
largest customers accounted for approximately 8#ifédwral business revenues.

The following table presents net accouatgivable for customers with significant concemrat (in millions):

% of Total accounts

Key Customer Accounts receivable, ne receivable, net
2006

FMS $ 6.4 11%
2007

U.S. Army $ 15.2 20%

U.S. Navy $ 10.4 14%

Note 14. Segment Information

The Company has historically organizeditsiness along service lines to include three tapta segments: Wireless Network Services
(WNS), Enterprise Network Services (ENS) and Gorernt Network Services (GNS). The Wireless Netwagkviges segment was
discontinued in the first quarter of 2007 (see Nhtand we have renamed the ENS segment to thécFRdfkety & Security (PSS) segment and
the GNS segment to the Government Solutions (K@&nent to more accurately describe the underlyurginess operations. Certain income
and charges that are not allocated to segmeniei@dmpany's management reports because theytazensidered in evaluating the segme
operating performance are categorized as recogdtims in the table below. Unallocated chargeseleged to corporate expenses previously
allocated to the discontinued wireless network ises/segment prior to the disposal of those busegshare based compensation charges an
related tax adjustments, impairment and restrurgucharges and expenses related to the stock dptiestigation conducted in 2007. As a
result of the divestiture of the WNS businesses cthrporate expenses allocated to the PSS and E@Bests has increased in 2007, negat
impacting the
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operating income (loss) for these continuing openat Due to the aforementioned discontinued ofmeTst prior period amounts have been
reclassified in order to conform to the curreni@eipresentation and allocation methodology.

Revenues, operating income (loss) and sipsevided by the Company's segments for the yaated December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007
are as follows (in millions):

2005 2006 2007
Revenues
Government Solution $ 85. $ 97.t $ 142t
Public Safety & Securit 67.% 55.€ 51.1
Total revenue $ 152 $ 1531 $  193.¢
Operating income (loss) from continuing operatic
Government Solution $ 74 % 82 $ 3.3
Public Safety & Securit 5.8 (23.9 (6.6)
Corporate activitie (10.0 (15.9 (21.9)
Total operating income (loss) from continuing opiers $ 32 $ (315 $ (24
| | |
2006 2007
Assets:
Government Solution $ 188.C $ 292.¢
Public Safety & Securit 27.¢ 22.F
Discontinued Operatior 104.( 1.7
Corporate activitie 17.¢ 18.7
Total asset $ 3377 $ 335.2

The operating income (loss) of the PubléeB/ & Security segment for 2005, 2006 and 200vimpacted by the following items:

. a benefit to operating income in 2005 as a regudt$2.1 million credit to reduce an excess comirigacquisition accrui

. charges in 2006 of $18.3 million related to the @anment of goodwill and a $1.8 million impairmeritam asset.

The reconciling amounts in 2006 were impacted lbyeiased stock-based compensation expense dueGoithggany's adoption
of SFAS No. 123R in January 2006. Amounts relatecbtporate activities in 2007 were impacted bydbsts of the stock
option investigation and related costs as welhasécovery from the former stock option administraSee Note 2 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 15. Related Party Transactions

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued aneggde of 90,000 shares of Series B Convertibleebext Stock, at an aggregate purchase
price of $45.0 million, in a private placement tdiges
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affiliated with one of the directors of the Compd#®,000 shares), to a brother of the previous iGtei and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (10,000 shares) and to an unrelated tkrgy-mvestor (40,000 shares). The Company recebdddd million of net proceeds. Each
share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stockitally convertible into 100 shares of Common Stéaka conversion price of $5.00 per share,
which was the fair market value of the common staicthe closing, at the option of the holder at timg, subject to certain provisions in the
Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement. ridbecember 31, 2004, 64,517 shares of Series BeCtinle Preferred Stock were
converted into 6,451,700 shares of the Companysrian Stock. On April 5, 2006, 15,483 shares ofe3eB Convertible Preferred Stock
were converted into 1,548,300 shares of the Comp&gmmon Stock.

Through December 31, 2007, the Companyézsved notices from the holders to convert anmeggte number of 80,000 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock into an agape§,000,000 shares of the Company's Common StstRecember 31, 2007, the total
liguidation preference equaled $5.0 million.

On February 17, 2006, the Company entereda definitive agreement to divest all of its @®ns in Mexico for total approximate cash
consideration of $18.0 million subject to adjusthseior the closing net asset calculations, wittb$tiillion payable in cash on signing of the
Equity Purchase Agreement and $16.5 million by reexfra secured promissory note payable in instaitm#nrough December 2006, which
approximates the net book value of the operatidhs.purchaser, Sakoki LLC, is a newly-formed entitntrolled by Massih Tayebi. Although
Massih Tayebi has no current role with the Compaeywvas a co-founder of the Company, having seage@hief Executive Officer from
inception in 1994 through September 2000 and aseatdr from inception through April 2002. In addit, as of July 31, 2007, Massih Tayebi
owns or controls approximately 8.2% of the totdimg power of the Company's capital stock. He $odhe brother of Masood Tayebi, who
was the Company's Chairman of the Board of Direatimitil March 6, 2007. Masood Tayebi had no persfimancial interest in the transaction
and has no role with the entity that has purchésedlexico Operations. The transaction was apprdwetthe disinterested members of the
Company's Board of Directors after considerationtber expressions of interest and an independsduation analysis.

The final closing balance sheet as of Fafyrd7, 2006 resulted in net asset adjustmenteggting to a total approximate $18.9 million
consideration, $1.5 million which was paid on Feloyul7, 2006, with the remaining $17.4 million phlgaby means of the promissory note in
installments through December 31, 2006 with arr@#terate of 7.5% per annum. On June 26, 2006Ctimepany entered into an Addendum
with the buyer to finalize the closing net assdtuations, pursuant to which the parties agreed ttie resulting total purchase price was
$18.9 million. The Addendum also provided for aditional waiver that permits the purchaser to mgdeespayment due on August 17, 2006 by
September 30, 2006, and for the installments dudarember 17, 2006 and December 31, 2006 to be made before December 29, 2006.
Failure to make the payments on such later datesdwtave resulted in a restoration of the origteais of the note. The first scheduled note
payment of $3.3 million was received from the bugemvay 19, 2006, and the second scheduled notagatyof $5.5 million was received in
installments of $5.2 million on September 29, 2@06 $0.3 million on October 10, 2006. The remaimnotg receivable balance of $9.5 mill
which included accrued interest through Decembef@06, was paid in full on December 29, 2006.
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The Company periodically evaluates all pegar threatened contingencies and any commitméreay, that are reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on its operatiorimancial position. The Company assesses the pitityeof an adverse outcome and
determines if it is remote, reasonably possiblprobable as defined in accordance with the prongsiaf SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for
Contingencies." If information available prior teetissuance of the Company's financial statemadtsdtes that it is probable that an asset had
been impaired or a liability had been incurrechatdate of the Company's financial statementsttamdmount of the loss, or the range of
probable loss can be reasonably estimated, thénlsss is accrued and charged to operations. #acoual is made for a loss contingency
because one or both of the conditions pursuanEfSSNo. 5 are not met, but the probability of anexde outcome is at least reasonably
possible, the Company will disclose the naturehefdontingency and provide an estimate of the pleskiss or range of loss, or state that such
an estimate cannot be made.

The Company maintains an accrual for then@any's health and workers compensation parti&irsglirance, which is a component of
total accrued expenses and current liabilitiesigé@htinued operations in the consolidated balaheets. Management determines the
adequacy of these accruals based on a monthlyatiaiwf the Company's historical experience aadds related to both medical and work
compensation claims and payments, information plexito the Company by the Company's insurance hrisldustry experience and the
average lag period in which claims are paid. Ifrstndormation indicates that the Company's accrredgiire adjustment, the Company will,
correspondingly, revise the assumptions utilizethexCompany's methodologies and reduce or prdeidaedditional accruals as deemed
appropriate. As of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2B@7accrual for the Company's partial seffurance programs approximated $2.6 mill
$1.8 million and $1.1 million, respectively. In Z§®006 and 2007 the accrual for these programshahas related to continuing operations
was $1.1 million, $0.2 million, and $0.6 milliorespectively. The Company also carries stop-loggamee that provides coverage limiting the
Company's total exposure related to each medichhamkers compensation claim incurred, as definethié applicable insurance policies. The
medical and workers compensation annual claim $imie $100,000 and $250,000, respectively. For ge@hending 2005 and 2006, the
Company had one claim that exceeded the limitsvfirkers compensation and in 2007 no claims excetiaetimits for workers compensatit
For each year ending 2005 and 2006, the Companyntathim that exceeded the limits for medical nasiwe and in 2007 three claims
exceeded the limits for medical insurance. As ofédeber 31, 2007, the Company had a $700,000 Htmedit outstanding issued from the
Company's insurance carrier to cover a performaooe and liabilities in connection with the Companyorkers' compensation partial self-
insurance.

As of December 31, 2007 the Company has g@llion of standby letters of credit. The lettefscredit related to our worker
compensation program of $0.7 million and $1.7 gpeu for our performance bond on work overseas.
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Contingencies
IPO Securities Litigation

Beginning in June 2001, the Company anthteof its officers and directors were named dsmigants in several parallel class action
shareholder complaints filed in the United Statestrigt Court for the Southern District of New Yonkow consolidated under the captitmye
Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public OfferingeBurities Litigation, Case No. 01-CV-4779. In the amended complaietpthintiffs allege that
the Company, certain of its officers and directarg] the underwriters of the Company's initial pubffering ("IPO") violated section 11 of t
Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of theuiies Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegatibas the Company's registration statement
and prospectus failed to disclose material fagiangding the compensation to be received by, andttek allocation practices of, the IPO
underwriters. The plaintiffs seek unspecified mangtlamages and other relief. Similar complaintseviided in the same court against
hundreds of other public companies ("Issuers") tbaducted IPOs of their common stock in the 1&@05 and 2000 (the "IPO Cases").

In June 2004, the Issuers (including thenBany) executed a settlement agreement with thietifls that would, among other things,
result in the dismissal with prejudice of all claimgainst the Issuers and their officers and dire@nd the assignment of certain potential
Issuer claims to the plaintiffs. On February 15020the court issued a decision certifying a ckt®on for settlement purposes and granting
preliminary approval of the settlement subject tadification of certain bar orders contemplated gy $ettlement. On August 31, 2005, the
court reaffirmed class certification and preliminapproval of the modified settlement in a compretiee Order. On February 24, 2006, the
court dismissed litigation filed against certairdarwriters in connection with certain claims toassigned under the settlement. On April 24,
2006, the court held a Final Fairness Hearing terdgne whether to grant final approval of thelsatent. On December 5, 2006, the Second
Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the lower cougtislier decision certifying as class actions tkkdB{D Cases designated as "focus cases.”
Thereafter, the District Court ordered a stay bpedceedings in all of the IPO Cases pending titeame of plaintiffs' petition to the Second
Circuit for rehearing en banc and resolution ofcleess certification issue. On April 6, 2007, trec@nd Circuit denied plaintiffs' rehearing
petition, but clarified that the plaintiffs may e certify a more limited class in the Districo@t. Accordingly, the stay remains in place and
the plaintiffs and Issuers have stated that theypagpared to discuss how the settlement mighti@nded or renegotiated to comply with the
Second Circuit's decision. Plaintiffs filed amendednplaints in the six focus cases on or about Aug@4, 2007. On September 27, 2007,
Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification the six focus cases. On November 13, 2007, theetdDefendants filed a motion to dismiss the
amended complaints in the six focus cases. On Nbegedy, 2007, the Underwriter Defendants filed diomoto dismiss the amended
complaints in the six focus cases. The court hagetoset a deadline for the plaintiffs to file amded complaints in the other IPO lawsuits. Due
to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, anddese the settlement may not receive final approval the Court, the ultimate outcome of this
matter cannot be predicted. In accordance with FABB5,"Accounting for Contingencied’he Company believes any contingent liability
related to this claim is not probable or estimatd therefore no amounts have been accrued indggathis matter.
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2004 Securities Litigation

In August 2004, following the Company's anncement on August 4, 2004 that it intended ttatests financial statements for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and #@98o0mpany and certain of its current and foraficers and directors were named
defendants ("Defendants”) in several securitiesscétion lawsuits filed in the United States Dist€ourt for the Southern District of
California. These actions were filed on behalfrafge who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the @oypcommon stock between April 26,
2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generaligalithat, during that time period, Defendants nfalde and misleading statements to the
investing public about the Company's business srath€ial results, causing its stock to trade aficiglly inflated levels. Based on these
allegations, the lawsuits allege that Defendaratatéd the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anglhiatiffs seek unspecified damages. These
actions have been consolidated into a single aetitmre Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigai, Master File No. 04CV1589-JAH.
Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Consolidated Clagsion Complaint on April 1, 2005. Defendants dilheir motion to dismiss this first
amended complaint on April 14, 2005. The plaintiffen requested leave to amend their first amendetplaint. The plaintiffs filed their
Second Amended Complaint on June 9, 2005, this dimieehalf of those who purchased, or otherwiseiaed, the Company's common stock
between May 5, 2003 and August 4, 2004. Defenddetstheir motion to dismiss this Second Amendexnplaint on July 14, 2005. The
motion to dismiss was taken under submission oolgert20, 2005 and on March 8, 2006, the Court grhtite Defendants' motion. However,
plaintiffs were granted the right to amend theimpdaint within 45 days and subsequently filed tfigiird Amended Consolidated Class Action
Complaint on April 24, 2006. Defendants filed a imotto dismiss this complaint on June 8, 2006. CayM, 2007, the Court denied the
Defendants' motion to dismiss. Defendants' filedrthnswer to the plaintiffs' complaint on July 2807. In February 2008, following a
voluntary mediation of the matter, the parties hegca tentative agreement to settle the classmadfioder the tentative settlement, plaintiffs
and the class will dismiss all claims, with prepaiin exchange for a cash payment in the totaluamaf $12 million. The Company's directc
and officers' liability insurers will pay the setthent amount in accordance with the Company'samser policies, less any applicable retention
or co-insurance obligations that are expected todie directly by the Company. The Company estisitiat the amount of its payment toward
the settlement will be approximately $2.4 millidthe Company has accrued approximately $2.4 midi®of December 31, 2007 related to
matter. The parties currently are in the procestoctimenting their agreement and then will see&tarchination by the Court that the propo
settlement is fair, reasonable and adequate. Thep@oy makes no assurances at this time that the @dlapprove the proposed settlement
terms or that the matter ultimately will be settlBeéspite the tentative settlement reached inatii®n, the Company believes that the
allegations lack merit.

In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filledthe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of California against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directeeslicini v. Wireless Facilities, IndCase No. 04CV1663; ariRoth v. Wireless
Facilities, Inc.,Case No. 04CV1810. These actions were consolidate single action iin re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigati,
Lead Case No 04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contaitufil allegations that are substantially simifearse made in the class action lawsuits,
but the plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claforsbreach of fiduciary duty, gross mismanagemehbtise of control, waste of corporate assets,
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violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304, ungraichment and insider trading. The plaintiffghiese lawsuits seek unspecified damages
and equitable and/or injunctive relief. The leaalipiff filed a consolidated complaint on March 2D05. On May 3, 2005, the defendants filed
motions to dismiss this action, to stay this acpending the resolution of the consolidated nonvdérve securities case pending in the
Southern District of California, and to dismiss ttemplaint against certain non-California residgefiendants. Pursuant to a request by the
Court, Defendants' motions were withdrawn withogjydice pending a decision on defendants' motiatigmiss the complaint against the
non-California resident defendants. On March 2@72@he Court ruled that it lacked personal jugtdin over five of the six non-California
defendants and dismissed them from the federalatére complaint. On March 27, 2007, plaintiffefil an amended derivative complaint
setting forth all of the same allegations from dhigiinal complaint and adding allegations regardimg Company's stock option granting
practices. Basically, plaintiffs allege that then@any "backdated" or "springloaded" employee stuution grants so that the options were
granted at less than fair market value. The amendetplaint names all of the original defendantsl(iding those dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction) as well as nine new defendants. g 2u2007, the nc-California resident defendants moved to dismisscitbmplaint for lack of
personal jurisdiction. On October 17, 2007, the €tok the motion under submission without orgluanent. On February 26, 2008, the C«
again ruled that it lacked personal jurisdictioreofive of the six non-California defendants anshdissed them from the amended federal
derivative complaint. The parties have conferred discussed the Court's order and have stipulatadtiefing schedule for any remaining
motions to dismiss that the Company, along withitidévidual defendants subject to the court's flidson, may bring in an effort to dismiss
the complaint as to them. Pursuant to the padigsilation, such motions must be brought on oofeefune 5, 2008. The Company believes
that the allegations lack merit and intends to ragsly defend all claims asserted. It is imposs#ilthis time to assess whether or not the
outcome of these proceedings will or will not havmaterial adverse effect on the Company.

In April 2007, another derivative complaivas filed in the United States District Court foe Southern District of Californidjameed v.
Tayebi, Case No. 07-CV-0680 BTM(RBB) (theHameedAction"), against several of the Company's cureert former officers and directors.
The allegations in this new derivative complaintnani the amended allegations in the 2004 fedenaValiéve action. Pursuant to the Court's
order and agreement of the parties, the defendastzonses to the complaint in tHameedAction were stayed until the Court ruled on the
motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdictionthe 2004 derivative litigation. As noted abowa,February 26, 2008, the Court ruled that it
lacked personal jurisdiction over five of the nGalifornia defendants named in the 2004 derivadistion, including three that were also nar
in theHameedAction. The parties have conferred and discussedtiurt's order and are in the process of stimgat a briefing schedule for
any remaining motions to dismiss that the Compafong with the individual defendants subject toc¢bart's jurisdiction, may bring in an
effort to dismiss thélameedAction as to them. At this time, the parties haweset a date by which such motions must be broddie
Company believes that the allegations lack medtiatends to vigorously defend all claims asserted.

In August and September 2004, two virtuadintical derivative lawsuits were filed in Califida Superior Court for San Diego County
against certain of the Company's current and fowiffezers and directors. These actions containu@cillegations similar to those of the
federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these caggsert claims for violations of California’s insidrading laws, breaches of
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fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanag#maaste of corporate assets and unjust enrichri@etplaintiffs in these actions seek
unspecified damages, equitable and/or injunctiliefrand disgorgement of all profits, benefits anttler compensation obtained by defendants.
These lawsuits have been consolidated into onereetin re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigati, California Superior Court, San
Diego County, Lead Case No. GIC 834253. The pl#énfiled a Consolidated Shareholder Derivative @taimt on October 14, 2004. This
action has been stayed pending a decision in fedeust on a motion to dismiss the federal deriwatawsuits. In October 2007, the parties
notified the Court of the status of the federalactnd requested the court continue its stayiefabtion. The Company anticipates that the
court will continue to stay this matter and that tourt will request the parties file an updatedust report in April 2008. The Company
believes that the allegations lack merit and ingetedvigorously defend all claims asserted. Itnpdssible at this time to assess whether or not
the outcome of these proceedings will or will navé a material adverse effect on the Company.

The Company has recorded an accrual fonéingent liability associated with the legal prediangs related to the derivative actions of
$0.8 million based on the Company's estimate optitential amount it would have to pay in relatiorthese lawsuits.

2007 Securities Litigation

In March and April 2007, there were threddral class actions filed in the United StatedrdtsCourt for the Southern District of
California against the Company and several ofttsent and former officers and directors. Thesesckction lawsuits followed the Company's
March 12, 2007 public announcement that it was gotidg a voluntary internal review of its stock ioptgranting processes. These actions
have been consolidated into a single actiome Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litigai Il , Master File No. 07-CV-0482-BTM-NLS. The
consolidated class action complaint was filed onédber 19, 2007. In March 2008, following a volugtemediation of the matter, the parties
reached a tentative agreement to settle the atdismaUnder the settlement proposal, plaintiffd #me class will dismiss all claims, with
prejudice, in exchange for a cash payment in theusanof $4.5 million. The Company's directors' afficers’ liability insurers will pay the
settlement amount, less any applicable retentiaroansurance obligations and contributions thatexpected to be paid directly by the
Company. The Company estimates that the total atraflits payment toward the settlement will be apmately $1.7 million. The Company
has accrued approximately $1.7 million as of Decan®i, 2007 related to this matter. The partieseculy are in the process of documenting
their agreement, and then will seek a determindiiothe Court that the proposed settlement is faasonable and adequate. The Company
makes no assurances at this time that the Codrapgkove the proposed settlement terms or thatnidwger ultimately will be settled. Despite
the tentative settlement reached in this actiom Gbmpany believes that the allegations lack merit.

Other Litigation and Government Investigations

In January 2005, a former independent eatdr of the Company filed a lawsuit in Brazil agaithe Company's subsidiary, WFI de
Brazil, to which he had been assigned for a pesfditme. He sought to be designated an employé&&kifde Brazil and entitled to severance
and related compensation pursuant to Brazilianrl&we. The individual sought back wages, vacatiay, [stock
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Note 17. Legal Matters (Continued)

option compensation and related benefits in exa£$6.5 million. This matter was argued before apgropriate labor court in July 2005 anc
July, 2006, the labor court awarded the individhal Brazilian currency equivalent of approximat®®/6 million for his back wages, vacation
pay and certain other benefits. The Company filedpeal in the matter on July 20, 2006 and isehging the basis for the award on several
theories. The Company has accrued approximate/rhdlion as of December 31, 2007 related to thater. On August 22, 2007, the appeals
court partially upheld the Company's appeal, algfoit upheld the individual's designation as an legge. The court is reviewing possible
damage calculations before publishing a final decisThe Company's counsel is preparing a motiorciarification of the judgment due to
omissions in the decision.

On March 28, 2007, three plaintiffs, on &i¢lof a purported class of similarly situated eaygles and contractors, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the Superior Court of the Statealif@nia, Alameda County. The suit alleges varigigdations of the California Labor Code
and seeks payments for allegedly unpaid straigi# ind overtime, meal period pay and associatealtie=n The Company and the plaintiffs
have agreed to venue for the suit in San Diego Godithough the Company believes that the allegatilack merit, it has agreed in principle
with the plaintiffs to settle their claims for aggregate amount in the range of $0.3 million tcg$aillion, to include individual and incentive
awards, attorneys' fees and administrative cogbgest to court approval. The actual amount paidhieyCompany will depend upon the nun
of responses received from members of the purpettess of plaintiffs. The Company has recordedamual for a contingent liability
associated with this legal proceeding in the amo@i$0.3 million.

In addition to the foregoing matters, frime to time, the Company may become involved inous claims, lawsuits and legal
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course sfrtmss. However, litigation is subject to inheremtertainties, and an adverse result in the:
other matters may arise from time to time that fmaym the Company's business. The Company is cilymeott aware of any such legal
proceedings or claims that it believes will havelividually or in the aggregate, a material advef§ect on our business, financial condition or
operating results.
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Note 18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflectll normal and recurring adjustments that aréhénopinion of management, necessary for a
fair statement of the results of the interim pesidBummarized quarterly data for the years endegiber 31, 2006 and 2007, is as follows (in

millions, except per share data):

Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal year 200¢
Revenue! $ 33.C % 341 $ 36.¢ $ 49.1
Gross profil $ 6.2 $ 71 $ 78 $ 7.8
Operating loss from continuing operatic $ 17 $ 11 $ 0.8 $ (27.9
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $ 0.8) $ 0.3 $ 01 $ 14.¢
Net loss $ 09 % 0.5 % 0.9 $ (55.7)
Net loss per common sha
Basic $ (0.0) $ (0.0) $ (0.0) $ (0.7¢)
Diluted $ (0.0)) $ (0.01 $ (0.0)) $ (0.7¢)
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal year 200"
Revenue! $ 49.C $ 476 % 475 % 49.2
Gross profil $ 72 $ 75 $ 82 $ 8.€
Operating loss from continuing operatic $ 33 % 83 % 8.4 $ (4.€)
Provision for income taxe $ 02 $ 03 $ 04 $ 0.4
Net income (loss $ (20.7)) $ 42 $ (13.4) $ (11.5)
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ 0.2¢) $ 0.0¢ $ 0.19) $ (0.16)
Diluted $ (0.2¢) $ 0.0e $ (0.1¢) $ (0.1¢)

Quarterly Results in 2006

The Company's revenues in the fourth quarége higher than the first three quarters becabtitee MRC acquisition, which occurred
early in the fourth quarter. The Company's foularter losses were significantly greater than its¢ three quarters due to the impairment of
goodwill of $18.3 million in our PSS business, acealerated vesting of stock options which resuilted total charge of $9.5 million, a writef
of assets related to discontinued operations & 8bllion and restructuring and other asset impaimticharges of $3.5 million. In addition, the
Company increased its valuation allowance by apprately $12.4 million on its deferred tax assetthim fourth quarter of 2006 to address the

risks and uncertainties related to the Companytgduability to realize and utilize its deferred &ssets.
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Quarterly Results in 2007

The Company's results by quarter were ingabby the divestitures of our wireless network/ges segment. In the first quarter of 2007
the loss was primarily due to impairment of asseteted to the Wireless Deployment business of4a8llion and an impairment of goodwill
related to this business of $7.2 million partiaf§set by a gain of $3.3 million on the sale of HEA business. The second quarter income
was impacted by a gain of $14.8 million on the sdilthe Wireless Engineering Services businessatipais. The third quarter was impactec
a $1.9 million loss from the disposal of our deplmnt business and a $2.1 million excess faciligraa. The fourth quarter was impacted k
gain of $3.4 million related to the recovery ofetssunder the settlement with the Company's fostaak option administrator as well as an
expense of $4.9 million related to our estimatest of the settlement of our 2004 and 2007 Secaritiggation. See Note 16 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. Stock optioestigation and related costs of $1.5 million, $Bilion, $6.2 million, and $1.1 million
impacted the results for the first, second, third gourth quarters of 2007, respectively.

Note 19. Subsequent Events

In February 2008, the Company enteredantiefinitive merger agreement with San Diego-b&®8k$R and net-centric warfare solutions
provider SYS Technologies (AMEX:SYS) in a stock-&tock transaction. Under the terms of the agreen$fS will merge with a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Kratos, and all of SYS's outdiag common shares will be converted into Kramsimon shares. Upon closing, Kratos
will issue approximately 25 million shares of itsnemon stock. Approximately 79 million shares of tisacommon stock are currently
outstanding. The transaction is subject to custgrolmsing conditions, including approval of therisaction by SYS's shareholders and the
approval of Kratos stockholders for Kratos' isswaotshares. The transaction is expected to ctoffeei second quarter of 2008.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

List of Subsidiaries

Jurisdiction of
Subsidiary Name Organization Type of Entity

Bejing Wanfeng United Wireless Technology Consglt@p. (dba WF

China) China Corporation
Defense Systems, Incorpora Virginia Corporation
DTI Associates, Inc. Viriginia Corporation
EyeVelocity, Inc. Washingtor Corporation
Haverstick Consulting, Inc Indiana Corporation
Haverstick Government Solutions, In Ohio Corporation
HGS Holdings, Inc. Indiana Corporation
JMA Associates, Inc (dba TLA Associatt Delaware Corporation
Kratos Commercial Solutions, In Delaware Corporation
Kratos Government Solutions, In Delaware Corporation
Kratos Mic-Atlantic, Inc. Delaware Corporation
Kratos Souteast, Inc Georgia Corporation
Kratos Southwest L.P Texas Limited Partnershi|
Kratos Texas, Inc Texas Corporation
Madison Research Corporati Alabama Corporation
Posinet, Inc. Delaware Corporation
Rocket Support Services, LL Indiana Limited Liabilitity Company
WFI India Private Limitec India Corporation
WFI NMC Corp. Delaware Corporation
WFI Uruguay S.A. Uruguay Corporation
Wireless Facilities International Hong Kong Limit Hong Kong Corporation
Wireless Facilities International Singapore PTE L1 Singapore Corporation
Wireless Facilities International, Spain S. Spain Corporation
Wireless Facilities, Inc./Ent Delaware Corporation
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated Marcl2@@8, accompanying the consolidated financial statés and management's assessment
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the Annual Report of Kratos Brefe and Security Solutions Inc. and
subsidiaries on Form 10-K for the year ended Deegrth, 2007. We hereby consent to the incorpordtjoreference of said reports in the
Registration Statements of Kratos Defense and 8g@&wnlutions Inc. on Forms S-3 (No. 333-53014, B®3-71618, No. 333-74108, and
No. 33:-112956), on Form S-4 (No. 333-112957) and on Fd®r8s(No. 33-90455, No. 333-54818, No. 333-71702,383-91852, No. 333-
116903, No. 333-124957, and No. 333-127060).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Irvine, California
March 27, 2008
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric M. DeMarco, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutiolms,.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsinot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controlsodedures, or caused such disclosure controlparédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafficial reporting, or caused such internal cordgxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggateant's disclosure controls and procedures a@skpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regyig's fourth quarter in the case of an annualntguat has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The registrant's other certifyinfadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theétaxmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@anspersons performing equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and madweaknesses in the design or operation of iatezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiaiatinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2008

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. De Marco
Chief Executive Officer and Preside
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Deanna H. Lund, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutiohms,.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsinot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmjisletding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§jadr(s) and | are responsible for establishing emaihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-(f))for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controlsodedures, or caused such disclosure controlparédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafficial reporting, or caused such internal cordgxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures a@skpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the tgant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyinfadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mastnteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theétaxmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@nspersons performing similar functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and madweaknesses in the design or operation of iatezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiaiatinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2008

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Deanna H. Lund
Chief Financial Offel
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of K Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Compaon Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Secaréiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Rbpdrt™), I, Eric M. DeMarco, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanii8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugdettion 906 of the Sarban@sdey Act of
2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with theguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the S&earExchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained ie Report fairly presents, in all material respettts,financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2008

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC

/sl ERIC M. DEMARCO

Chief Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of K Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Compaon Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Secsariiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Rapdrt"), I, Deanna H. Lund, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugsettion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with theguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the S&earExchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained ie Report fairly presents, in all material respettts,financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2008

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Chief Financial Officel
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